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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM ("GEM") OF THE
STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be
a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any l0ss howsoever arising from
or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this
report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Director(s)”) of Royal
Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively
and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given
in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose
of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors,
having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of
their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report
is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading
or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which
would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Set out below is the corporate information of Royal Century
Resources Holdings Limited as at the date of this report (i.e. 24 June
2022):

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen (Chairman)

Mr. Wang Jun

Mr. Zhang Weijie

Non-executive Director
Mr. Tsang Kei Cheong

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex

Mr. Wu Zhao

Mr. Lam Cheok Va

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Pang Pui Hung Paton

COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen

BOARD COMMITTEE
Audit committee

Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex (Chairman)
Mr. Wu Zhao

Mr. Lam Cheok Va

Nomination committee
Mr. Wu Zhao (Chairman)

Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex

Mr. Lam Cheok Va

Remuneration committee
Mr. Lam Cheok Va (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex

Mr. Wu Zhao

Compliance committee

Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex (Chairman)
Mr. Wu Zhao

Mr. Lam Cheok Va
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
R

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of
Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | present
the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the "Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2022.

OVERVIEW

Hong Kong has been influenced by the COVID-19 pandemic for more
than two years since the outbreak of the COVID-19 in early 2020.
The Group's operations for the year ended 31 March 2022 has been
affected as from the delay and postponement of certain projects
in progress and the impact on the consumption by the customers
due to the measures in response to the COVID-19 pandemic and the
increasingly keen competition in industry. Accordingly, the operating
results of the Group for the year has been affected due to the
unfavourable business environment surrounding the operation of the
Group.

The Group recorded a turnover of approximately HK$57.7 million
for the year ended 31 March 2022, representing approximately
13.6% decrease as compared with last corresponding year, and with
a loss of approximately HK$21.1 million, of which approximately
HKS$6.2million was derived from allowances for expected credit 10ss
on loan and trade receivables, impairment of intangible assets and
change in fair value of investment property which are non-cash items.

The Group has successfully bidded for new projects and explored
for new customers during the year. The Group continued to work
for a contractor for the term contracts in relation to the provision of
the public housing refurbishment and maintenance subcontracting
services. The aggregate turnover from the design, fitting out and
engineering services was decreased from approximately HK$36.8
million for the previous year to approximately HK$33.8 million for the
current year. The revenue from design, fitting out and engineering
services for the current year was affected by the sentiment of the
end customers in planning of design and fitting out activities resulting
from the erratic development of the COVID-19 pandemic.

The income from leasing of construction equipment amounted to
approximately HK$13.3 million for the current year, representing an
increase of approximately 54.7% when compared with approximately
HK$8.6 million for last year. The Group expects the leasing of
construction equipment will be a sustainable income stream to
the Group provided that the COVID-19 pandemic is stablised.
Nevertheless, as certain projects have been completed or near
to be completed in the fourth quarter and there was delay and
postponement of commencement of certain new projects due to the
impact of COVID-19 and the slowdown of the economy, a drop of the
rental income is expected in the coming quarter.
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ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
R

The turnover attributed from the sourcing and merchandising of fine
and rare wines business amounting to approximately HK$10.0 million
for the year, representing a decrease of approximately 51.5% when
compared with last year's turnover of approximately HK$20.6 million.
Such decrease was mainly due to fewer orders from the existing
customers during the year as a result of the continuous measures
in response to the COVID-19 pandemic such as restriction of social
gathering and the operations of food and beverage facilities that
affects the consumption by the end customers. The reallocation of
the Group's resources which focuses on the design, fitting out and
engineering services and the leasing of construction equipment
businesses also attributes to such decrease.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

The Group is optimistic towards the recovery of the economic
condition in Hong Kong from the COVID-19 pandemic in the years to
come. The Group will continue to strive for the contracts of both the
design, fitting out and engineering services business and the leasing
of construction equipment business for the year ahead. The Group
has successfully negotiated with the current contractor to renew for a
3-year term contract in respect of the public housing sub-contracting
works and has been awarded works for one more public housing
estate.

As the Group has secured term contracts with the contractor for the
refurbishment, maintenance and improvement services in relation
to the public housing, the Group expects such term contracts will
attribute steady and recurring income to the Group. The Group is in
the process of further negotiation with the contractor for new term
contracts and also seek for new contractors of both private sector
and public sector projects. With the exploration of the term contracts,
the Group believes there will be opportunity to provide further
services in the public sector works.

Besides the design, fitting out and engineering services business,
the Group has also secured contracts for both existing and new
customers in relation to the leasing of construction equipment.
The Group believes once the economic condition in Hong Kong has
been recovered from the COVID-19 pandemic, the demand for the
scaffolding equipment will be increased and more contracts/orders
Will be expected to secure and conclude in the near future.

The Group has continued to focus on the development of its core
business and utilise its available resources to further engagement in
its existing business sector. The Group, at the same time, will continue
to explore other investment opportunities and development in order
to broaden its revenue base and further develop into a conglomerate.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
R

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my gratitude towards
the support and advice of our shareholders and business partners,
for their recognition of the Company's direction and strategies of
development, as well as the devotion and enthusiasm of our staff in
all scopes of tasks. They all helped us to drive the Company towards
perfection. We, the Board and all the Company's staff, will continue
to dedicate ourselves to refine our services to maximise the returns
from shareholders.

Chan Chi Yuen
Chairman
Hong Kong, 24 June 2022
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ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o PR o B o3 e

Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are principally engaged in (i)
provision of design, fitting out and engineering services comprising
design, fitting out, engineering and procurement of furnishings and
related products services, (i) leasing of construction equipment
and provision of related installation services, (i) sourcing and
merchandising of fine and rare wines and (iv) provision of financial
services.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue
Breakdown of revenue by types of segments is as follows:

CRERERERAR ([A2E ) RENBER
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For the year
ended 31 March
BE=ZA=+—HLEFE

2022 2021

—E-CF —E-—4F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FEx FHET

Design, fitting out and engineering services BEH RIERIER®E 33,785 36,823

Leasing of construction equipment THEREERE 13,341 8,634
Sourcing and merchandising of fine and EHEH

rare wines 9,977 20,552

Financial services & B AR 7% 557 798

57,660 66,807

Breakdown of revenue by geographical locations is as follows:

Wk i @ WA D 8

For the year
ended 31 March
BE=RA=+—HLEFE

2022 2021

—E-= —E-—%F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHT

Hong Kong B 56,333 63,775
The PRC R 1,327 3,032
57,660 66,807

The total revenue for the year ended 31 March 2022 of the Group
was approximately HK$57.7 million (2021: HK$66.8 million) which
represents approximately HK$9.1 million or 13.6% decrease as
compared with last corresponding year.

Annual Report 2021/2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o PR o B o3 e

The decrease of the Group's total revenue was mainly due to a
drop in the sales of fine and rare wines from approximately HK$20.6
million for the year ended 31 March 2021 to approximately HK$10.0
million for the year ended 31 March 2022. The decrease was mainly
due to fewer orders from the existing customers during the year as
a result of the continuous measures in response to the COVID-19
pandemic such as restriction of social gathering and the operations of
food and beverage facilities that affects the consumption by the end
customers. The reallocation of the Group's resources which focuses
on the design, fitting out and engineering services and the leasing of
construction equipment businesses also attributes to such decrease.

The revenue generated from the design, fitting out and engineering
services business for the year ended 31 March 2022 amounted to
approximately HK$33.8 million, representing a drop of approximately
HK$3.0 million when compared with the revenue for the year ended
31 March 2021 of approximately HK$36.8 million.

The revenue arising from the leasing of construction equipment
business was increased from approximately HK$8.6 million for
the year ended 31 March 2021 to approximately HK$13.3 million
for the year ended 31 March 2022, representing an increment of
approximately HK$4.7 million or 54.7%. Such increment was mainly
due to the expansion of the business and the increase in the lease
out quantity of scaffolding equipment following the additional
investment to cater for the growth and development of this segment
during the third and fourth quarters of last year.

The revenue from the provision of financial services was slightly
decreased by $0.2 million as compared with the last year, which was
mainly due to the decrease in loan interest income at lower interest rate.

Gross profit for the year

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group recorded a gross profit
of approximately HK$9.9 million (2021: approximately HK$11.7 million),
representing a decrease of approximately 15.4%. Gross profit by types
of segments is as follows:
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Gross profit for
the year ended 31 March
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FEx FHEIT

Design, fitting out and engineering services &t EE R IRRRS 5,093 6,877

Leasing of construction equipment HERERE 3,864 3,294
Sourcing and merchandising of Eil—i

fine and rare wines 388 689

Financial services © ml R 557 798

9,902 11,658
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ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o PR o B o3 e

The decrease in the Group's gross profit of approximately HK$1.8
million was mainly attributed to a drop in the gross profit from the
design, fitting out and engineering services business when compared
with that of the last year. Although the Group managed to maintain
an overall gross profit margin at the similar level of approximately
17.2% and 17.5% respectively for the current year and the last year,
there was a decrease in gross profit generated due to the fierce
competition in the industry and the depressed situation of the local
economy resulting from the erratic development of the COVID-19
pandemic, which in turn, led to a contraction of design and fitting out
activities.

Loss for the year

During the year ended 31 March 2022, although the Group has a
gross profit of approximately HK$9.9 million (2021: HK$11.7 million),
the Group recorded a loss before tax of approximately HK$20.9million
(2021: HK$20.9 million), which is at the similar level of last year.
Loss for the year was approximately HK$21.1 million (2021: HK$19.4
million). The increase in loss for the year of approximately HK$1.7
million was mainly attributable to the recognition of a deferred tax
expense of approximately HK$0.1 million for the year while there was
a deferred tax credit of approximately HK$1.5 million for the last year.

Included in the loss for the year was allowance for ECL on trade
receivables for the year amounting to approximately HK$4.4million,
which mainly represents an impairment loss provided for the
receivable from one of the leasing equipment customer which was in
the process of liquidation.

Apart from the allowance for ECL on trade receivables of
approximately HK$4.4 million, there are other losses of approximately
HK$1.9 million in aggregate in relation to the decrease in fair value of
investment property, impairment of intangible assets and allowance
for ECL of loan and interest receivables and contract assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o PR o B o3 e

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

Design, fitting out and engineering services business
During the year ended 31 March 2022, included in the Group's
revenue for the design, fitting out and engineering services was
revenue from the provision of public housing maintenance,
improvement and vacant flat refurbishment works and services
amounted to approximately HK$15.8 million, representing
approximately 46.6% of the segment revenue for the current year. The
public housing estates works was commenced since October 2020
which attributed approximately HK$6.7 million to the Group's revenue
for the year ended 31 March 2021. The said HK$15.8 million revenue
for the current year represents a growth of approximately 135.8%
when compared with the corresponding revenue for the last year.
The Group expects the revenue from the provision of public housing
maintenance, improvement and vacant flat refurbishment works and
services to have a steady growth and maintains a sustainable stream
of income to the Group in the long run. The Group has been actively
coordinating and negotiating with the current contractor as well as
other contractors for the new term contracts in order to enlarge the
Group's operations therefrom. The Group has successfully negotiated
with the current contractor to renew the term contract and been
awarded for one more public housing estate in respect of vacant flat
refurbishment works and services. The Group is optimistic to secure
further public housing estates works and services.

Besides, the Group continues to establish and maintain business
relationship with existing customers for the provision of design,
fitting out and engineering services. The Group has been invited
by contractors/customers to submit tenders and has proactively
negotiated with the customers for fitting out and engineering service
projects. However, due to the fierce industry competition and the
depressed situation of the local economy resulting from the erratic
development of the COVID-19 pandemic which affects the sentiment
of the end customers in planning of design and fitting out activities,
the contracts/projects awarded during the year were with lower
contract sum when compared with last year. This accounted for
a drop in the revenue for the design, fitting out and engineering
services business during the year.

The Group will continue to seek for the potential contractors (both
private sector works and public housing projects) and to coordinate/
negotiate with the existing contractors for further contracts as well as
developing the business network with the existing contractors in the
aim of building up the Group's brand and goodwill. The Group expects
such exploration and strategy will further broaden and strengthen the
income stream and the sustainable development of the design, fitting
out and engineering services business with maximization of return of
the shareholders and the value of the Group.
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Leasing of construction equipment business

The Group has continued to build and pursuit business relationship
with its existing customers and is able to explore new customers and
conclusion of projects.

During the current year, the Group concluded with a contractor of
a public tunnel infrastructure project initially for about 21 months
whereby the Group provided the scaffolding equipment for the
provision of installation services. However, due to certain material
revisions and amendments on the design and construction works, the
Group was unable to reach agreement with the contractor and the
contract was terminated in January 2022.

Apart from the termination of the project as mentioned above,
due to the erratic development of the COVID-19 pandemic and the
uncertainty of the local economic situation, progress of certain
construction projects have been delayed, resulting with the decrease
in lease out rate of the Group’s scaffolding equipment during the last
quarter of the year. The management has been proactively negotiating
with the customers for new projects aiming to maintain the lease out
rate of the scaffolding equipment. The Group is in negotiation with
certain contractors to provide scaffolding equipments and expects
the orders will be concluded in the near future. The scaffolding
equipment will be expected to deliver to the working sites by phases
starting from the early second quarter of the coming year.

Looking forward, with the branding recognition of the Group's
leasing of construction equipment business and the enlargement
of its operation scale, the management expects the rental income
therefrom would have steady growth once the COVID-19 pandemic
is stablised. The management is confident that the leasing of
construction equipment will be a major business segment attributable
to the success of the Group in the coming years.

Sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare wines

The Group has developed and maintained a stable business
relationship with the customers and the suppliers. The Group has
been negotiating with the existing customers for recurring orders
from the customers. The Group is also exploring for new suppliers
and sources of wines. The Group is proactively negotiating with the
existing customers and seeking for new customers for new orders.

Annual Report 2021/2022.
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Financial services business

The Group continues to adopt a prudent management approach
to carry out the financial services business in order to minimize its
credit risk exposure while proactively exploring and seeking for high
creditworthiness customers to ensure a healthy development in its
money lending, securities advisory services, securities dealing and
brokerage services and assets management services business.

The Group’s money lending business maintains a loan portfolio
with principal amount of approximately the same level throughout
the years. The Group has provided expected credit loss on the loan
portfolio based on the historical information about counterparty
default rate, latest status of these loans and the latest available
information about the borrowers.

Certain commission income was also recognised from the introducing
brokerage services during the year.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
During the year, the Group financed its operations through equity fund
raising and by its internal resources.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had net current assets of
approximately HK$14.0 million (2021: HK$25.0 million), including cash
and bank balances of approximately HK$6.2 million (2021: HK$16.7
million).

The current ratio, being the ratio of current assets to current liabilities,
was approximately 1.7 times as at 31 March 2022 (2021: 2.4 times).
The decrease in the current ratio during the year ended 31 March
2022 was mainly attributable to the decrease in cash and bank
balances for financing the Group’s operation during the year.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND GEARING

The capital structure of the Company comprised ordinary shares only.
There was no movement in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 March 2022. Total equity attributable to owners of
the Company amounted to approximately HK$72.4 million as at 31
March 2022 (31 March 2021: HK$93.5 million).

As at 31 March 2022, the Group's only borrowings comprised of lease
liabilities of approximately HK$15.4 million (2021: HK$13.6 million).
The Group's gearing ratio, calculated by dividing total borrowings by
total equity, was approximately 21.3% (2021: 14.5%). The increase in
the gearing ratio during the year ended 31 March 2022 was mainly
attributable to (i) the recognition of new lease liabilities as the
Company entered into a sub-deed of lease in respect of the sub-
leasing arrangement of the office premises and (i) there was a drop of
the shareholder’s equity during the year.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM RIGHTS ISSUE
Reference is made to the announcements of the Company dated
28 August 2020, 3 September 2020, 22 October 2020, 16 November
2020, 17 November 2020, 18 December 2020 and 28 December
2020, circular dated 24 October 2020 and listing document dated 30
November 2020 in relation to the rights issue.

On 28 August 2020, the Company proposed (i) to implement a share
consolidation (the “Share Consolidation”) on the basis that every
ten issued existing shares of the Company be consolidated into
one consolidated share (the “Consolidated Share”) and (i) to raise
approximately HK$31.4 million before expenses by way of a rights
issue (the “Rights Issue”) of 104,520,000 rights shares (the “Rights
Shares”) at a subscription price of HK$0.30 per Rights Share on the
basis of two Rights Shares for every one Consolidated Share held by
the qualifying shareholders on the record date.

On 28 August 2020, the Company further entered into a placing
agreement, pursuant to which, the placing agent conditionally agreed
to procure placee(s) (the “Rights Issue Placing”) to subscribe for the
unsubscribed Rights Shares and the non-qualifying shareholders
unsold Rights Shares at a placing price of not less than the
subscription price of HK$0.30 per Rights Share. The closing price per
share of the Company on that date was HK$0.04 per share (equivalent
to HK$0.40 per Consolidated Share).

The Rights Issue and the Rights Issue Placing were approved by the
shareholders at an extraordinary general meeting on 16 November
2020 and were completed on 29 December 2020. The net proceeds
of the Rights Issue and the Rights Issue Placing was estimated at
approximately HK$29.4 million (equivalent to approximately HK$0.29
per Rights Share). The Company intended to use all the net proceeds
for purchase of construction equipment and for the Group's
operating, administrative and general expenses.

Annual Report 2021/2022,
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Planned use of
proceeds as
described in
the
announcement
dated
28 August 2020
and Actual use of Actual use of
circular dated ~ proceedsup to  proceeds up to
24 October 2020 31 March 2021 31 March 2022
RZB-EE
NB=Z+NRAZ
AER
R-B-EF Bz BZ
tAZTmAZ —E--F —E-CF
BRAMRRZ ZA=t+-H =A=+-H
FERE FreRE FrERE
FERR ERAZ ERRR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL FHT TR
Net proceeds from the Rights Issue R EEREEMEHFE
and the Rights Issue Placing
— Purchase of construction equipment -BERERE (BRERESES
(including the repayment of short term B pastiET )
financing for purchase of construction
equipment) 15,000-20,000 16,100 16,900
—Working capital -hBES
- Design, fitting out and engineering Fi RERIRRBES
services business upto~% 129,000 6,400 7,100
- Leasing of construction equipment -HERERHBEES
business upto”~% 12,000 1,600 2,000
- Other operating expenses —HipEERY Upto~% 143,400 3,400 3,400
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29,400 27,500 29,400
—&F S ZEZ FEHRE



16

ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o PR o B o3 e

DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2022.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The operations of the Group are mainly conducted in Hong Kong
dollar ("HK$") and Renminbi (“"RMB") and its revenue, expenses,
assets, liabilities and borrowings are principally denominated in HK$
and RMB.

The Group does not enter into any instruments on the foreign
exchange exposure. The Group will closely monitor exchange rate
movement and will take appropriate activities to reduce the exchange
risk.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP'S ASSETS
As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group did not pledge any of its
assets.

SIGNIFICANT ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

Save for the recognition of a right-of-use asset of approximately
HK$6 million in respect of the sub-leasing arrangement of the office
premises, there has been no significant acquisition and disposal of
assets or subsidiaries of the Group during the year ended 31 March
2022.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2022, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.

COMMITMENTS
Details of the commitments of the Group as at 31 March 2022 are set
out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES
As at 31 March 2022, the Group employed 37 (2021: 43) employees.
The Group continues to maintain and upgrade the capabilities of its
workforce by providing them with adequate and regular training.
The Group remunerates its Directors and employees mainly based
on industry practices and individual’'s performance and experience.
On top of regular remuneration, discretionary bonus and share
options may be granted to eligible staff by reference to the Group’s
performance as well as individual’s performance.

Total remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2022 (including
emoluments and salaries to staff and Directors and MPF
contributions) was approximately HK$12.5 million (2021: HK$12.6
million). There was no material fluctuation in the remuneration during
the current year.

Annual Report 2021/2022.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's financial condition, results of operations, businesses and
prospects would be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties
including business risks, operational risks and financial management
risks.

The key business and operations risk exposure by the Group are
summarized as follows:

The COVID-19 pandemic

The COVID-19 pandemic may bring adverse impact on our
construction sites and construction works. We have implemented the
following hygiene and safety related measures:

o requesting staff and workers to wear surgical masks both at
office and works sites;

o requesting staff and workers to present negative COVID-19 test
results conducted within the past 7 to 14 days when entering
the works site;

o monitoring the stock of personal protective equipment
(including but not limited to surgical masks and hand sanitizer)
for our employees;

o conducting mandatory body temperature check before entering
works sites and random body temperature check at works sites
during the day;

J requesting staff and workers to maintain personal hygiene and
those who have respiratory symptoms shall be refrained from
working and be asked to seek medical advice promptly;

. requesting staff and workers not to travel to those areas
severely affected by COVID-19 unless necessary, and those who
return from the affected areas shall be quarantined for 7 to 14
days and be asked to fill in the health check form;

. placing health educational materials on COVID-19 at prominent
areas of our office and works sites;

. if any staff or workers are requested by the Department of
Health to be quarantined or have been confirmed to have
contracted COVID-19, their respective department or project
management team will be informed and requested to keep on
record. The affected staff or worker (the “Affected Personnel”)
will be refrained from working immediately and any other staff
or workers who has close contact with the Affected Personnel
shall also be quarantined for 7 to 14 days; and

o encouraging staff and workers to participate the COVID-19
Vaccination Programme implemented by the Government of
the HKSAR.

FTRRRETHRERER
AREZHHRR BT KB RARES
BRBRETHEREYE EEHAR 48
R RS BERRR -

AEEMEHNERXRGREERBRBEIIWNT

COVID-19 KA1

COVID- 197bmﬁ7 e R MR BE K B
TRRFRIMEE -BMELER T A TEEMN

72 B

o EXREIMIAEHRLNEMIIESFTME
HAEIOE

e EXREBEIRIAEEATFESHAELHTRB
KT7E1ARREFTHICOVID-198I 5 By R 1 45
2.

e ERREMNEANERE(REETRR
MBI AEMEFR) WEFIER

o TEEATESMAETREIERARE
WHBRETEGMETRERERRE

o  ERBTMTARFHEAZL BB
ARERE R TIE WERREHE:

k

«  BRIEABNTABIEME.
A= COVID-19E B ERH[E -
3 10 A BB IR 714K - 3
BREX:

H oo
o

= I
XH
o
A mE e

\Fi\!\
o
W

e HEBRAZEMIEHLFHEBEBEMLENE
COVID-19M R B & #t

e WMAEBIRTIABEHEEZRKBHIES
REACOVID-19 - HFTBFIskIER B2 E
BeE@m - WERMMESAR  XHE
WMEBINTA([ZEEALT])EZAELE
T BSREEATARYEBNEMET
FTANEHEBEHIZI1LAR &

s HBEBIMTAZEFBERITRERT
HETTEYCOVID- 19 i FE st & -

SE - E - FERE

17



18

ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o PR o B o3 e

The financial risk management policies and practices of the Group are
shown in note 6(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

There may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to those
mentioned above which are not known to the Group or which may
not be material now but could turn out to be material in the future.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group has observed the sense of environmental conservation.
Various practices have been implemented to encourage compliance
with environmental legislation and promote awareness towards
environmental protection to the employees. Further discussion
of environmental policy and performance can be found in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report set out on pages 37 to
78 of this annual report.

The Group will review its environmental practices periodically and will

consider implementing further eco-friendly measures and practices in
the operation of the Group's businesses.

Annual Report 2021/2022.
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The biographical details of Directors and senior management as at 24
June 2022, being the date of this annual report, are set out below:

DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen (“Mr. Chan"), aged 55, is an executive Director
and the chairman of the Company. He joined the Group since October
2015. Mr. Chan holds a bachelor degree with honours in Business
Administration and a master of science degree with distinction in
Corporate Governance and Directorship. He is a fellow of The Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales. He is a practising certified public
accountant and has extensive experience in financial management,
corporate development, corporate finance and corporate governance.

Mr. Chan is currently an executive director and the chief executive
officer of Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited (Stock code: 2322).
He was an independent non-executive director of China Baoli
Technologies Holdings Limited (Stock code: 164) from April 2006 to
September 2019, Media Asia Group Holdings Limited (Stock code:
8075) from September 2009 to March 2020 , New Times Energy
Corporation Limited (Stock code: 166) from May 2012 to March
2020, Asia Energy Logistics Group Limited (Stock code: 351) from
September 2004 to July 2020 and Leyou Technologies Holdings
Limited (Stock code: 1089), which shares were delisted from the Stock
Exchange on 24 December 2020, from July 2015 to December 2020,
and an executive director of Great Wall Belt & Road Holdings Limited
(now known as Great Wall Terroir Holdings Limited).(Stock code: 524)
from June 2015 to October 2019.

Mr. Wang Jun (“Mr. Wang"), aged 52, is an executive Director.
He joined the Group since February 2017. Mr. Wang completed a
certificate programme in General Education from &R & & XD
g2 (iterally, Guangdong Suixi Education College), the PRC in
1988. Mr. Wang completed a professional programme in Business
Administration from /& B BR 48 7 H iy i (£ 2B (Shanghai Institute
of International Economic and Technical Education) in the PRC
and was awarded a bachelor degree in management in 2010. He
also holds a qualification as qualified funds practitioner from the
Asset Management Association of China. Mr. Wang has extensive
experience in real estate, corporate Strategic management, project
management, investment business, and funds management.
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Mr. ZHANG Weijie (“Mr. Zzhang"), aged 36, is an executive
Director. He joined the Group since May 2018. Mr. Zhang completed
a course in Tsinghua Business Administration and Innovation
Executive Leadership programme from The Research Institute of
Tsinghua University in Shenzhen, the PRC in 2013. He has extensive
management experience in financial leasing and investment business
and in securities investment in the PRC and Hong Kong.

Mr. Tsang Kei Cheong (“Mr. Tsang"), aged 44, was appointed as a
Director on 20 January 2014 and became an executive Director on 30
June 2014. Mr. Tsang was re-designated as a non-executive Director
on 22 December 2016. Mr. Tsang joined our Group in 2004 and has
extensive experience in the interior design and consultancy industry.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Tsang worked at S.W. Law & Associates
Architects & Development Consultants Ltd, an architectural company
from July 1998 to July 2004 as project coordinator responsible for
assisting project architects to deal with clients, contractors and
consultants. Mr. Tsang was awarded a Diploma in Electronics and
Ccommunications Engineering by Kwun Tong Technical Institute in July
1997. Mr. Tsang graduated from a Master of Engineering Management
course offered by the University of Technology, Sydney in conjunction
with the Hong Kong Management Association in 2014.

Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex (“Mr. A Chan”), aged 56, is an
independent non-executive Director since September 2015. Mr. A
Chan is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a fellow member of The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales, and The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute (formerly, The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries)
and The Chartered Governance Institute. Mr. A Chan obtained a
Bachelor of Business Administration degree (major in Finance) from
Hong Kong Baptist University and professional diplomas in Hong
Kong tax and China tax from the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He has served in senior financial and company
secretarial positions in a number of public companies listed in Hong
Kong and Singapore for years.

Mr. A Chan is currently an independent non-executive director of

Kingkey Intelligence Culture Holdings Limited (formerly, KK Culture
Holdings Limited) (Stock code: 550).
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Mr. Wu Zhao (“Mr. Wu"), aged 44, is an independent non-executive
Director since November 2015. Mr. Wu obtained a bachelor degree in
Engineering (Chemical) from the University of Queensland, Australia.
He also obtained a master of commerce in applied finance and a
master of information technology from the University of Queensland,
Australia. He has extensive experience in finance, information
technology, investment and funds management.

Mr. Wu is currently an independent non-executive director of Silk Road
Logistics Holdings Limited (Stock code: 988).

Mr. Lam Cheok Va (“Mr. Lam"”), aged 63, is an independent
non-executive Director since April 2016. Mr. Lam is a member of
Election Committee of the Macau Special Administrative Region.
Mr. Lam was a member of the Standing Committee of Yunnan
Province Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (9th, 10th and 11th). He is also the President of Macau
Yunnan Chamber of Commerce, the Director General of Macau
Small and Medium Enterprises Chamber of Commerce, a director
of China Federation of Overseas Entrepreneurs, a director of Macau
Chamber of Commerce, an executive director of Macau Region China
Council for the Promotion of Peaceful National Reunification, and a
member of Advisory Board of School of Language and Translation
of Macau Polytechnic Institute. Mr. Lam has extensive experience in
business including entertainment, food and beverage, retail, tourism
and consulting. Mr. Lam is currently President of Macau Innovation
Development Research Association, focusing in studies and research
of government policies and strategies.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Pang Pui Hung Paton (“Mr. Pang”), aged 53, is the financial
controller and the company secretary of the Company. He currently
holds directorship in certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Pang has
extensive experience in the field of accounting, auditing, business
advisory services and financial management. He has been engaged
in the senior financial and company secretarial position in listed
companies in Hong Kong since 2014. Mr. Pang holds a Master of
Professional Accounting degree from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. He is a fellow member of the Association of International
Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.

Mr. Chiu Kam Sang (“Mr. Chiu”), aged 57, is the director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Chiu joined the Group in 2018 and
has extensive experience in waterproofing works and maintenance
industries.

Mr. Li Sze Yan (“Mr. Li"”), aged 42, is the project controller of a
subsidiary of the Group. Mr. Li join the Group in December 2017 and
has extensive experience in fitting out and engineering industries.
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of Royal
Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is pleased to present this corporate
governance report of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board considers that incorporating the elements of good
corporate governance in the management structures and internal
control procedures of the Group could balance the interests of
the shareholders, customers and employees of the Company. The
Board has adopted the principles and the code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix
15 of the Rules (the “GEM Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) to ensure that business activities and decision
making processes are regulated in a proper and prudent manner.
In accordance with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company has established an audit committee, a remuneration
committee, a nomination committee and a compliance committee
with specific written terms of reference. During the year ended 31
March 2022, the Company has complied with the CG Code as set out
in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company has put in place internal policies to ensure the
compliance and has adopted and complied with the code provisions
set out in the CG Code during the year except for the following
deviation from the Code provisions:

o Code provision A.2.1 stipulated that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. The post of chief executive
of the Company has remained vacant since 21 February 2020
and as at the date of this report. The duties of chief executive
have been performed by other executive Directors. As there is a
clear division of responsibilities of each Director, the vacancy of
the post of chief executive did not have any material impact on
the operations of the Group. Nevertheless, the Board will review
the current structure from time to time and if a candidate with
suitable knowledge, skill and experience is identified, the Board
will make an appointment to fill the post of chief executive as
appropriate.

Annual Report 2021/2022,
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DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct for dealing in securities
of the Company by the Directors in accordance with Rules 5.48 to
5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.

No Director has dealt in the shares of the Company during the year.

Following specific enquiry by the Company, all Directors confirmed
that they have complied with such code of conduct throughout the
year ended 31 March 2022.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Ccomposition of the Board of Directors

Up to the date of this annual report, the Board currently comprises
three executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three
independent non-executive Directors. The composition of the
Directors in office during the year and up to the date of this annual
report are set out in the “Report of the Directors” in this annual report
on pages 79 to 87.

Functions of the Board

The principal function of the Board is to consider and approve
the overall business plans and strategies of the Group, develop
and implement the corporate governance function, monitor the
implementation of these policies and strategies and the management
of the Company. The Group has a professional management team,
which is led by a team of senior management with substantial
experience and expertise in the Group’s business and the Board
delegates the authority and responsibility for implementing the
Group's policies and strategies. During the year, the management
provided all members of the Board with updates in accordance with
the code provision C.1.2 of the CG Code.

Board Meetings and Board Practices

The Directors can attend meetings in person or through other means
of electronic communication in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association. All minutes of the Board meetings were
recorded in sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board and
the decisions reached.
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During the year, the Board held 6 Board meetings and 1 general
meeting. Details of the attendance of Directors are as follows:

RAFR EFGCLETOREFTTIHRIIR
RAEG -ZESFNHFEFHBOT:

Attendance/
Number of Attendance/
General Number of
Meeting Board Meeting
entitled to entitled to
attend attend
HERE HERE
BREERN BREERN
BEXE EEgE32
B|ITRE BITRE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen (Chairman) PREEEE (£/F) 11 6/6
Mr. Wang Jun FERAE 1/1 6/6
Mr. Zhang Weijie RIENTE 1/1 6/6
Non-executive Director FHITES
Mr. Tsang Kei Cheong B EXE 1/1 6/6
Independent non-executive Directors BIYkHITES
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex PR &I SE 1/1 6/6
Mr. Wu Zhao RIS E 11 6/6
Mr. Lam Cheok Va Lam Cheok Vast 4 1/1 6/6

Directors’ Appointment, Re-election and Removal

Under the code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, each of the executive
Directors, the non-executive Director and independent non-executive
Directors has entered into a service contract or letter of appointment
with the Company for an initial term of two or three years and such
term shall be governed by the articles of association and/or other
relevant regulatory requirements unless terminated by either party
giving at least three months’ notice in writing.

In compliance with the code provision A.4.2 of the CG Code, all
directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy should be subject
to election by shareholders at the first general meeting after
appointment. By virtue of article 113 of the articles of association of
the Company, the Board may appoint any person as an additional
Director or to fill a casual vacancy, provided that any person so
appointed shall hold office only until the conclusion of the next
following general meeting of the Company (in the case of filling a
casual vacancy) or until the next following annual general meeting of
the Company (in the case of an addition to the Board), and shall then
be eligible for re-election.

Annual Report 2021/2022,
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In addition, every director should be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years. Furthermore, pursuant to article 141
of the articles of association of the Company, at each annual general
meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being
shall retire from office by rotation but shall be eligible for re-election.
Where the number of Directors is not three or a number divisible by
three, the number of Directors to retire will be the number which is
nearest to but not less than one-third of the total number of Directors.
If there are less than three Directors, they shall all retire. The Directors
to retire by rotation will be those Directors who have been Directors
longest in office since they were last elected, or appointed by the
Members (as the case may be). Every retiring Director shall be eligible
for re-election.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has three independent non-executive Directors to
comply with Rule 5.05 of the GEM Listing Rules. Furthermore, among
the three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Chan Chiu Hung
Alex has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise as required by Rule 5.05(2) of
the GEM Listing Rules. In accordance to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules, the Company has received from each of its independent non-
executive Directors the written confirmation of his independence. The
Company, based on such confirmation, considers Mr. Chan Chiu Hung
Alex, Mr. Wu Zhao and Mr. Lam Cheok Va to be independent.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

According to the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
the chairman and the chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. The post of chief
executive of the Company has remained vacant since 21 February
2020 and as at the date of this report. The duties of chief executive
have been performed by other executive Directors. As there is a clear
division of responsibilities of each Director, the vacancy of the post of
chief executive did not have any material impact on the operations of
the Group. Nevertheless, the Board will review the current structure
from time to time and if a candidate with suitable knowledge, skill and
experience is identified, the Board will make an appointment to fill the
post of chief executive as appropriate.
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Delegation of Powers

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group to executive
Directors and management of the Company with department heads
responsible for different aspects of the business/functions, while
reserving certain key matters in making strategic decision for its
approval. When the Board delegates aspects of its management and
administration functions to management, it gives clear directions
as to the powers of management, in particular, with respect to the
circumstances where management need to report back and obtain
prior approval from the Board before making decisions or entering
into any commitments on behalf of the Company.

Continuing Professional Development

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors
shall participate in continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure their contribution
to the Board remains informed and relevant. The Company would
arrange and/or introduce some Director’s training courses for the
Directors to develop and explore their knowledge and skills.

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment, so as
to ensure that he has appropriate understanding of the business
and operations of the Company and that he is fully aware of his
responsibilities and obligations under the GEM Listing Rules and
relevant regulatory requirements. The Directors are continually
updated on the legal and regulatory developments, as well as
business and market changes, to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities.

All Directors during the reporting period have participated in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills through suitable trainings. The participation
in such trainings is to ensure that their contributions to the Board
remains informed and relevant.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance covering the
liabilities in respect of legal action against the Directors that may arise
out in the corporate activities which has been complied with the CG
Code. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

Annual Report 2021/2022.

EhER
EEEREARANTEEREREREAEH
MEREE FHEENaERESBENEY
BeE METERBBARNTIEEEEFGE
EEHAE - EEEHHEERITBBER TER
B EplERENEDBELBWET FiR
BB RANR B L ERDRE S RT SLAEfAA R
RIAREEFERMERERMENBR -

FREEXRERR
RIEEEERTAZTRANEXEALSE 258
ZE2EBBEEURIMNGER TN RENANE
KR HMRRSEENEESELANEREH
MER - ARBRREELR HHEBETE
ERTIERIE - A HE I B R AN T O RO Ko BB o

BERFEZEEEREREZERSRII2E  E
A REHFTHOIES URRBEERRBEL K
HERBEENER AN T2 AEERIEGEM
EHRARAHEERENEEREB -EEH
FBEESERERNERBERAREB R TS E
S ER NEREBITERE -

MEBEENREHHC2EFEEXER UE
BEZHIEINLER BN EMB R 2%
SR RERKEREANESSELANBERIBHE
BB R

EENEABECEAEER
ARRIEEREEREATANAEREERES
ML HEENERRRELNEZRZRE B
BRELZHAERR ARREFRHRBRHRE
#E -



CEERERER LA

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

e SRR g

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
established by the Board on 30 June 2014 with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 and 5.29 of the GEM Listing
Rules and code provision C.3.3 of the CG Code. The Audit Committee
currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors and
is chaired by Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex. The other members are Mr.
Wu Zhao and Mr. Lam Cheok Va. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee include the review of the Group’s financial reporting
process and the internal control systems as well as risk management
of the Group.

The Audit Committee had reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed financial matters, including a review of the audited
consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022.

5 Audit Committee meetings were held during the year. Details of
the attendance of members of the Audit Committee meeting are as
follows:
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Attendance
Members RE R
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex (Chairman) BREIELE (F/E) 5/5
Mr. Wu Zhao RIRFEE 5/5
Mr. Lam Cheok Va Lam Cheok Va%t 4 5/5
A summary of work performed by the Audit Committee during the M TABEZRZEERAFRMEIT 2 TERE:

year is set out below:

(@  reviewed the audited consolidated results of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2021;

(b)  reviewed the unaudited financial statements for three months
ended 30 June 2021, six months ended 30 September 2021 and
nine months ended 31 December 2021;

() reviewed the effectiveness of the Group's financial controls,
internal control and risk management systems,

(d) reviewed the Group's accounting principles and practices, and
financial reporting matters;
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(e)  approved the remuneration and the appointment and the terms
of engagement of the external auditor; and

f) reviewed the external auditor’s independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of audit process in accordance with
applicable standards.

In the meeting of the Audit Committee in June 2022, the Audit
Ccommittee reviewed the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, the financial statements and other reports
for the year ended 31 March 2022 and discuss any significant
audit matters with the Company’s external auditor and the
senior management before recommending them to the Board for
consideration and approval. The Audit Committee recommended the
Board in relation to the re-appointment of Mazars CPA Limited as the
Company'’s external auditor for the financial year ending 31 March
2023 at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) was established by the Board on 30 June 2014 with
written terms of reference in compliance with code provision E.1.2 of
the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three
independent non-executive Directors and is chaired by Mr. Lam Cheok
Va. The other members are Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex and Mr. Wu Zhao.
The primary duties of the remuneration committee are to review and
recommend the terms of remuneration packages, bonuses and other
compensation payable to the Directors and the senior management
personnel of the Group, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment.

2 Remuneration Committee meetings were held during the year to
review the remuneration packages of all Directors. Details of the
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attendance of the members of the Remuneration Committee meeting 20T :
are as follows:

Attendance
Members I24=1 R
Mr. Lam Cheok Va (Chairman) Lam Cheok Vast & (F/&) 2/2
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex BREIHE 2/2
Mr. Wu Zhao RIKF & 2/2

Annual Report 2021/2022,
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Remuneration Policy for Directors and Senior
Management

The remuneration payable to the employees includes salaries and
allowances. The Group’s remuneration policies are formulated based
on the performance of individual employees and are reviewed
regularly. Subject to the Group's profitability, the Group may also
provide a discretionary bonus to employees as an incentive for their
contribution to the Group. The primary goal of the remuneration policy
with regard to the remuneration package of the executive Directors
is to enable the Group to retain and motivate the executive Directors
by linking their compensation with performance as measured against
corporate objectives achieved. The executive Directors are entitled to
the remuneration packages including basic salaries and discretionary
bonuses.

The share option scheme of the Company (the “Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted by sole Shareholder by way of written
resolution on 30 June 2014. The terms of the Share Option Scheme
are in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 23 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide
(i) employees of the Group (whether full-time or part-time); (ii)
directors (including executive directors, non-executive directors and
independent non-executive directors (where applicable)) of the Group;
(i) substantial shareholders of each member of the Group and (iv)
associates of directors or substantial shareholders of the Group of
which includes any of the abovementioned persons (together, the
“Participants” and each, a “Participant”) with an opportunity to obtain
an equity interest in the Company, thus linking their interest with the
interests of the Group and thereby providing them with an incentive
to work better for the interests of the Group.

The Company believes that by offering the Participants a shareholding
stake in the Company, the interests of the Participants and the
Company become aligning and thereby the Participants have
additional incentives to improve the Company's performance.

Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, details of the annual
remuneration of the members of the senior management by band for
the year ended 31 March 2022 are as follows:
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Nomination Committee

The Board is empowered under the Company's articles of association
to appoint any person as a director either to fill a casual vacancy on
or, as an additional member of the Board. Qualified candidates will be
proposed to the Board for consideration and the selection criteria are
mainly based on the assessment of their professional qualifications
and experience. The Board selects and recommends candidates for
directorship to the shareholders having regards to the balance of
skills and experience appropriate to the Group’s business.

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) was established by the Board on 30 June 2014 with
written terms of reference in compliance with code provision B.3.1
of the CG Code. The Nomination Committee currently comprises
three independent non-executive Directors and is chaired by Mr. Wu
Zhao. The other members are Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex and Mr. Lam
Cheok Va. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to
make recommendations to the Board regarding the candidates for
directorship, either to fill vacancies on or appoint additional Directors,
and succession planning for Directors, in particular, the chairman and
the chief executive of the Company.

1 Nomination Committee meeting was held during the year to review
the appointment of all Directors. Details of the attendance of the

REZEES

EEgTRBEARRASERRARME TERIZ
TENALTHEESTNAMBRE R SMAE
FERFHUB - AERKRENBEIEZEETIIN
HEE MEFSIERBERBAZEXZERR
RERERTREN EFSLERBREAFEEAN
SEEBORERERER  BHE RABRERHER
HEEES-

ARARRZE—NENA=Z+AKIIRREES
([R2ZEg]) WERBRMGESATIZTAIE
NEBI VG EEBEEE - RREESHIFMA
=R IENITE R AR EETEER

H e B ARR S 55 4 & Lam Cheok Vast 4 - 12
ZLEENTEREAMREES ABUERT
RREAHIBESURESET (LERERRARA]
FERFETHRAE)MEFEREEE -

RAFA REZBERMAGENEHN 2R
EEVZF-REZEEREHFESAZHBN

members of the Nomination Committee meeting are as follows: N

Attendance
Members 29=1 HEIRE
Mr. Wu Zhao (Chairman) Rk E (£E) 1/1
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex BREIHE S £ 11
Mr. Lam Cheok Va Lam Cheok Va7t 4 1/1
Board Diversity Policy EEEglEZ TbEE

The Board had adopted and established a set of board diversity policy
(the "Board Diversity Policy”) setting out the approach to achieve
diversity on the Board with the aims of enhancing Board effectiveness
and corporate governance as well as achieving the Group's business
objectives and sustainable development. The Company recognises
and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the
quality of its performance. In designing the Board’s composition, the
Nomination Committee will consider a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The ultimate decision
will be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates
will bring to the Board.
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The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy,
as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the Board Diversity
Policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may
be required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.

The Nomination Committee also monitors the implementation of the
Board Diversity Policy and reports to the Board on the achievement
of the measurable objectives for achieving diversity under the Board
Diversity Policy.

Compliance Committee

The compliance committee of the Company (the “Compliance
Committee”) was established by the Board on 30 June 2014 with
written terms of reference. The Compliance Committee currently
comprises three independent non-executive Directors and is chaired
by Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex. The other members are Mr. Wu Zhao and
Mr. Lam Cheok Va.

The primary duties of the Compliance Committee are to review
matters relating to the historical conduct of the operations of the
Group with a view to () understand the relevant legal compliance
obligations; (ii) recommend procedures and protocols for
implementation and/or inclusion into the policies of the Group for
regulation of our recent or future operations to ensure compliance
with all applicable laws, rules and regulations, and to review such
policies from time to time to consider whether any amendments
or updates are necessary and to make recommendations to
the Board for amendment and adoption as appropriate, and (iii)
review the effectiveness of and compliance by the Group with the
policies implemented by the Group and to recommend remedial
actions to be taken (if any) in the event any non-compliance is
discovered. Any incident of non-compliance will be reported to our
compliance committee. Meetings will be held on a monthly basis
or as and when necessary to perform the functions set out above.
For effective monitoring, external independent professionals will
be engaged to conduct reviews of our internal control system and
its implementation and effectiveness on an annual basis, and if
considered necessary by compliance committee, at frequency as it
considered appropriate.
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1 Compliance Committee meeting was held during the year. Details
of the attendance of the members of the Compliance Committee
meeting are as follows:

RAFR GREZEBERTIREZ-
KEHFEEH

aM%Z8eg

HEmT

Attendance
Members RE R B
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex (Chairman) BREAESE (F)E) il
Mr. Wu Zhao RIRFEE 1/1
Mr. Lam Cheok Va Lam Cheok Vast 4 1/1

Corporate Governance Functions

According to code provision D.3 of the CG Code, the Board is
responsible for performing the corporate governance duties
of the Company. The Board shall have the following duties and
responsibilities for performing the corporate governance duties of the  {F:
Ccompany:

1. to develop and review the policies and practices on corporate 1.
governance of the Group and make recommendations;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional 2.
development of Directors and senior management;

3. to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on 3.
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and 4.
compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and
employees; and

5. to review the Company’'s compliance with the CG Code as set 5.

out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules and disclosure in
the corporate governance report of the Company.

Annual Report 2021/2022.
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Accountability and Audit

Directors’ and Auditor's Responsibilities for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

All Directors acknowledges their responsibility to prepare the Group's
consolidated financial statements for each financial period to give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results
and cash flows for that period. In preparing the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2022, the Board has selected
suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently, made
judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and
prepared the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis. The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and
necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent
and detect fraud and other irregularities. The statement of auditor
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report. The
Directors continue to adopt the going concern approach in preparing
the consolidated financial statements and are not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company'’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

Auditors’ Remuneration

During the year, the remuneration paid or payable to the Company’s
auditors, Mazars CPA Limited, in respect of their audit and non-audit
services was as follows:

BERZH
ESRRBARGEHBRRNER

PREFHBRFSEETREASES M HE
MiFA I BHRE NEERA T RBAEERR
ZHENEBRIREERE SRS - RREE
EE-_—FZA=Z+AULFENRETH
HhxRE EECCRERERERABENEITR
FOAEHBE A FRAEOHE KGR L&
BECEEERVUGANBRE -EFNTEER
B—14 8 RNANEIERERNEBNEERE
IERBEHFREAMERITE - A RBZEANE R
AU EHRERA RS ETHRBARNE LI AR
Lo EBRBERNFECEREENRRSEANE
Hz BWTAEETMEARTHBAERERS LA
AR RMEARBKEEBELEARBNSE
ek

B BUET B &

HEAEE RERREBERBEN LB A
ARERERERR (B8 B EHHER
PO ES

HK$'000

FHET

Audit service B IZ R 630
Non-audit services IEEZRIGE =
Total Bt 630

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board, recognising its overall responsibility in ensuring the risk
management and internal control systems of the Company and for
reviewing its effectiveness, is committed to implement an effective
and sound risk management and internal control systems to
safeguard the interests of shareholders and the assets of the Group.

R B B R AR B
EEGAMTHRERAD R R E IR K AR
RGN EAREZ2HBE  RAONTH
B 2 BB E IR & A AR IE 6 R4t AMRIE AR
RESRAEBEE-
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The Board is responsible for establishing the Group's internal
control framework, covering all material controls including financial,
operational and compliance controls, as well as risk management
functions of different systems. Review has been carried out in a
systematic approach based on the risk assessments of the operations
and controls. The Board considers that the key areas of the Group's
internal control systems are reasonably implemented.

During the year under review, the Board, through the Audit
Committee, has conducted a review, via an appointed professional
firm to perform internal audit function, on the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group, covering
financial, operational and risk management aspects. The systems
were considered effective and adequate.

The Group adopts a complete process style of risk management
in a functional bottom up manner, including risk identification,
assessment, evaluation and treatment. The functional areas across
the Group provide input of risks with treatments, which are appraised
and maintained. The risk management system, as well as the internal
control system, are continuous, proactive and systematic processes.

With the implementation of internal audit function, the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems is reviewed by
conducting internal audit assignments. Recommendations for major
observations of control weaknesses from the audits will be provided,
S0 as to resolve material internal control defects.

Dividend Policy

The Board has adopted and established a set of dividend policy (the
“Dividend Policy”). The Company currently does not have a pre-
determined dividend payout ratio. Any declaration, payment and
amount of dividend in the future are subject to the Board's discretion
having regard to the Group's future financial performance and
earnings, capital requirement and surplus, general financial conditions
and other factors as the Board may consider relevant.

INVESTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS
The Company values communication with the shareholders and
investors. The Company uses two-way communication channels to
account to shareholders and investors for the performance of the
Company. Enquiries and suggestions from shareholders or investors
are welcomed, and enquiries from shareholders may be put to the
Board through the following channels to the executive Director:

1. By mail to the Company’s principal place of business at Suite
2201, 22/F., China Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong;

2. By email to info@royalcentury.hk.
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The Company uses a number of formal communications channel
to account to shareholders and investors for the performance of
the Company. These include (i) the publication of quarterly, interim
and annual reports; (i) the annual general meeting or extraordinary
general meeting providing a forum for shareholders to raise
comments and exchanging views with the Board; (i) updated key
information of the Group available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company; (iv) the Company’'s website offering
communication channel between the Company and its shareholders
and investors; and (v) the Company’s share registrars in Hong Kong
serving the shareholders in respect of all share registration matters.

The Company aims to provide its shareholders and investors with
high standards of disclosure and financial transparency. The Board
is committed to provide clear, detailed, timely manner and on a
regular basis information of the Group to shareholders through the
publication of quarterly, interim and annual reports and/or dispatching
circulars, notices, and other announcements.

The Company strives to take into consideration its shareholders’
views and inputs, and address shareholders’ concerns. Shareholders
are encouraged to attend the annual general meeting for which at
least 20 clear business days’ notice shall be given. The chairman
of the Board as well as chairmen of the Audit Committee, the
Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Compliance Committee, or in their absence, the Directors are
available to answer shareholders’ questions on the Group’'s
businesses at the meeting. To comply with code provision E.1.2 of the
CG Code, the management will ensure the external auditor to attend
the annual general meeting to answer questions about the conduct
of the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and auditor independence.

All shareholders have statutory rights to call for extraordinary
general meetings and put forward agenda items for consideration by
shareholders. According to section 566 of the Companies Ordinance,
The directors are required to call a general meeting if the company
has received requests to do so from members of the company
representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all the members
having a right to vote at general meetings. A request (a) must state the
general nature of the business to be dealt with at the meeting; and (b)
may include the text of a resolution that may properly be moved and
is intended to be moved at the meeting.
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A shareholder may propose a person other than a retiring director or
recommended by the board of directors for election as a director by
validly lodging the following documents within the period hereinafter
mentioned at the registered office of the Company at Suite 2201,
22/F, China Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong:

1. a notice in writing of the intention to propose the appointment
or reappointment of such person to the office of director, which
must state the full name of such person, include the person’s
biographical details as required by rule 17.50(2) of the GEM
Listing Rules and be signed by the proposing shareholder; and

2. a notice in writing signed by such person of his willingness to
be appointed or re-appointed as a director together with his
written consent to the publication of his/her personal data.

Such documents shall be lodged at the registered office of the
Company within the period of seven (7) days after the dispatch of
the notice of the general meeting. Upon receipt of such documents,
the Company shall verify the documents and, if the proposal is found
to be in order, publish an announcement or issue a supplementary
circular in respect of the proposal in accordance with rule 17.468 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

In the event of any general meeting called by at least ten (10) clear
business days’ (as defined by the GEM Listing Rules) or fourteen (14)
days’ (whichever is the longer) notice in writing, such documents
lodged within the aforesaid period may be received less than ten
(10) business days prior to the general meeting, in which case the
Company will consider the adjournment of the general meeting
in order to give shareholders at least ten (10) business days to
consider the relevant information disclosed in the announcement or
supplementary circular.

In order to promote effective communication, the Company also
maintains website (http://www.royalcentury.hk) which includes the
latest information relating to the Group and its businesses.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Pang Pui Hung Paton is the company secretary of the Company.
During the year, Mr. Pang has duly complied with relevant professional
training requirements in accordance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During the year, the Company has not made any changes to its
articles of association.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Purpose of this Report

Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively known as the “Group” or “we") are
pleased to present our annual Environmental, Social and Governance
("ESG") Report (the “Report”). This Report discloses the Group's
management approach, strategies, policies and performance on
various sustainability issues in a transparent manner. We recognise
the importance of ESG values and are dedicated to creating long-
term shared values for the environment, employees, customers and
community by paying attention to our stakeholders’ needs.

Reporting Scope and Period

Unless otherwise specified, the scope of this Report is consistent
with the reporting scope of the Group’s annual report. Information
disclosed in this Report covers our core business segments, including
(i) provision of design, fitting-out and engineering, procurement
of furnishings and related products services (“design, fitting-out
and engineering services”); (i) leasing of construction equipment
(“construction equipment leasing”); (iii) sourcing and merchandising of
fine and rare wines (“wine merchandising”) and (iv) financial services
business comprising securities advisory services, securities dealing
and brokerage services and asset management services and money
lending (“financial services business”) for the period from 1 April 2021
to 31 March 2022 (the “Reporting Period").

Reporting Standard

This Report has been prepared in accordance with the latest
disclosure requirements of Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in Appendix 20
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
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Reporting Principles B R R Al

This Report has been prepared based on the reporting principles of AR AR 452 2| H M50 & FrE8 L HIESG
materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency outlined in the ESG % @ A4 B B FRESGHR & 5 31 AT 71| 87 19 [& =R
Reporting Guide to ensure that this Report clearly presents the ESG  [RA: BB S FHE M —BIEHER -

issues concerned by our stakeholders.

Reporting Principles Our Application

BE R S A EMHER

This Report is structured based on the materiality of respective sustainability issues as assessed
and identified through regular stakeholder engagement activities and materiality assessment. The
issues that are most significant to the Group and key stakeholders in terms of the environmental
and social impacts are considered material and will be further discussed in this Report. For details of

Materiality our stakeholder engagement and materiality assessment processes, please refer to the sections of

BEEM “Stakeholder Engagement “and “Materiality Assessment”.

AHEFEBETRFNEL2ENEE LS WEEAMFERREBOEE M ED M KA
RHEN ERENMEFENEHAREN I ERNESEZNZEEHERREAZE I
BERRETRE—Fiiwm - AARMNFNESENEEUTHOFARE F2H8 [FhHE2
8] [EZ2 TG E6e

The Group has provided an unbiased picture of our ESG performance by impartially disclosing
relevant ESG performance, challenges and opportunities of the Group during the Reporting Period in

Balance :
. this Report.
AEEBBERRE D FH R BNRE HHEMOERBESCRIR  hBAKE  TRIGHERASE
B MESGKRIR

Access to the Report R EEE

As part of the annual report of the Group, the Report has been (FRAREFERER — 2 H  AHME AT R
prepared in both English and Chinese, and is available on our X #@ % - 3 2 &K F A1 H) 22 7148 Bhhttp://www.
corporate website at http://www.royalcentury.hk. In case of royalcentury.hk o fRA I « #E AR hRAN &% -

discrepancy, the English version shall prevail.

Your Feedback AT HRER

The Group endeavours to connect with our stakeholders through this ~ ASEEE NBBARE BEFIOFHEHE - K
Report. We would like to invite you to share your valuable opinions, I8 E M THZEEER E8EHRME
which would help us further refine our sustainability approach and ~— & KM AFHEERET S RER - MAT

a2

performance. If you have any enquiries or suggestions, please contact 1A 5¢ i sk &% - & @ i#linfo@royalcentury.hk 82 £

us at info@royalcentury.hk. il -
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ABOUT THE GROUP ARAEE
The Group is principally engaged in four business segments, including: ASBEEXEHEZER - 235

o

. provision of design, fitting-out and engineering, procurement of RERE - BERIR REBEREMNBREE

furnishings and related products services; om AR 75
. leasing of construction equipment; . THEEERE:
. sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare wines; and . HEMEEEENHERN: UK

. financial services business comprising of securities advisory e SRR EEREBLFREERRG #FF5

services, securities dealing and brokerage services and R RELERE &
e asset management services and money lending. . BEEERS KM -

Our Operations

e lpliE S

Design, fitting-out, Construction

and enginerring - i i i
services equipment merglr\:;nn%isin F;gs\zggsl
st . BER leasing renandising i
R = GRS et SRR

TERHB

—E i T AR

O o
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OUR APPROACH TO SUSTAINABILITY KNS ERRER

ESG Management Approach and Strategy ESGE I 5 ¢t & K &

The Group is committed to operating in an environmentally, socially ~AEBBAUHERR HEMLEEEN T AL
and economically responsible manner across all segments of our =ZHKMEIAEEB - REF BT TP MTEHK
business. In pursuit of a sustainable future for the environment, NESRKAFEERMOKRK  ESESHEESCGIESR -
employees, customers and community, the Board approves the ESG ~ BIiEMAE2FHE - AR FEHHE M B ZFME
Framework including 4 priority areas, as well as the sustainability % 20 Al

goals and targets for each of the 4 priority areas as set out below.

Goal
B

To enhance customer
experience with quality
products and services for the
benefit of customers
NEEMNERMRBERARTE
B FEPYE

Goal
B

To pursue green and sustainable
operations by reducing our impact

Creating Value for to the environment in response to
our Environment -

BRANREASEE climate change =~ .
RBRDBRMERENZEURE
RUIRE L - BSREEEMAFEN & E

$18W03SN) ANO
10} anjep Supeald

s
®
3
=
%
L
=
53
]
[

(Please refer to the section of
“Climate Change” for more details of
our green targets)

(BRI [RIREL] —8 - THELF
ARE G E Z HED

Goal

B

To build an inclusive and joyful work
environment for our employees
ABEMHBIEY —EaB ke
0 TERIE

Goal

ZE:

To shoulder corporate social
responsibility and give back
to our communities
AECEHEEE
Epak-

anjep Suinjeald

¥
‘5\\#-‘
=O
=5
0
H
»3
5
JmE
&
w
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ESG Governance and Board’s Oversight

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) has overall responsibility for the
Group’s ESG strategy and reporting. The Board provides oversight
of our ESG issues and sets the overall direction for the Group's ESG
management approach and strategy. Delegated by the Board, the
ESG Working Group is responsible for overseeing the Group’s ESG
management approach, driving the planning and implementation
of the Group's ESG-related matters, and advising the Board on the
matters including but not limited to the below on a regular basis:

o developing and reviewing the ESG management approach,
vision, goals and targets, and strategies of the Group;

o identifying, reviewing and managing the material ESG-related
risks (including but not limited to climate-related risks and
environmental and social risks along the supply chain) and
formulate anticipatory and mitigation plans;

o formulating and overseeing the implementation of ESG-related
policies and initiatives;

o reviewing material interests of the Group’s key stakeholders
and report their opinions on material issues to the Group to
ensure the long-term ESG strategic direction,

o reviewing and monitoring the implementation of the Group's
ESG performance and progress made against the ESG-related
targets and goals;

o embedding the sustainability strategy in each department of
the Group;

° reviewing and monitoring employees’ training and development
of the Group;

. coordinating with other staff for delivering ESG-related matters
in daily operations; and

. preparing an annual ESG report on its activities for the Board's
approval.

ESGEARREEZSGWEE

EEg ([EFg)])H A% B/ ESGH IS FIfE 3R
EeREF EFSHRMNESCETEITEE
W AREBRIESCE IR i MRS HI T A M -
ESGIL{E/NEEESERE aREEAEEN
ESGEIE H it HEALEBEESCHEEERREIF
B WEHRBRETERNATEERAZEES
RHER:

o HIERBAAEENESGER T R
B 1% R IR A e 3RS

o EA-fF REIZHEESGHBNEXNAR
(BFRE PR 70 B2 SR 1 A B8 A0 R B A % (A
BRIRE LA R - I I E RRIAM A&
S

o HENEEHESGHEBNBERMERNE
ik

. BEAEBFERFHENEAFZ  WAA
EEREMPUEAZENER  UEY
ESGH) R HARBE /5 [

. BEREEREBHESGRILHITIEN -
LA BESGHE M B IZ RIEIZMERE

. 1S A5 3 R SRS A A R 2 B ey =R 2B P

. B REBALEBEE THEIIREE:

. BEME T £REEETEEHRESG
MENEE: UK

e HMEEAHRHUFEESCHE HEFSR
#t o
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ESG Governance Structure

ESGEAZRE

The Board
EEe

ESG Working Group
ESGTI{E/\ 4

Finance and Administrative
Division

B 75 e AT AR P ANEIRERF

ESG Risk Management

The Group considers ESG risk management as an integral part of
sustainable operations and sound corporate governance. Being
accountable for the sustainable growth of the Group, the Board
retains the ultimate responsibility for the oversight of the Group's
ESG-related risk management activities. The ESG Working Group is
responsible for identifying, evaluating, prioritising and managing the
ESG-related risks including but not limited to climate-related risks
and also environmental and social risks along supply chain. Relevant
control measures are formulated and implemented to mitigate
material ESG-related risks at corresponding business levels. The Board
reviews the effectiveness of the control measures and makes relevant
suggestions, when necessary, on a regular basis. For more details of
our corporate governance and risk management approach, please
refer to the section of “Corporate Governance Report” in this annual
report.

Annual Report 2021/202.

Human Resource Division

Sales and Administrative
Division
$HE RITEEBPT

ESGREMERE

AEERRESCRRERZAIFELEME2 D
XERNERANY EFSHAKENARF
BRRAR FAESEASEESGHERARRE R
EBEREE T ESCITIE/NEB EER - 57
BEBEDI R E IR EESGHRBME R - B E R
7A B2 SRR 4 B O LB LA B B 8 B (EER B D R 3R
it & E e - BB RO IR O A E R E
OB R R X E M e ERESCHHBR B - E
S E MR SR A A M - WE L BEFR
HEEZ ARERMERELARRAREETHDN
B FLERNFERETH [LRERR

& —&e
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT BFnE&ESH

Maintaining on-going communication with stakeholders allows us —HEFFHERIFHEN BB BARAEEE 4530 T 77
to better understand their expectations regarding our sustainability — #5&E ¥R MAFEERRIROEHE - W M9
performance and respond to their needs appropriately. We ®FZEKIELEEMNRIE BFMRASESBERE
communicate with internal and external key stakeholders through a  EERESMINEI I E ERHEETER BT E
variety of communication channels to identify material sustainability A AFEEEZE - BRI ERME— TS
issues. This would guide us in further refining our future sustainability — E IR KA AT FE R SRS - WA ETIR S
approach and strategy and continuously improving our corporate B EELEE(F-

social responsibilities.

We have summarised the key stakeholder groups and communication  HFIE NRFEE T E 2/ HEMER LA EEE
channels in the following table: :

Tk

Key Stakeholders Communication Channels
FERHE BERE
Customers o Customer meetings
EF EEE#
. Meeting with sales representatives
HERKER
. Customer hotline
BRER
Shareholders and Investors . Shareholders’ and investors’ meetings
BRRRREE RERRIEEESH

. Company website
NGIF R

o Email
BF M4
Employees . Departmental meetings
&8 EEE

. Staff appraisal meetings
BTIMEEH

. Seminars, workshops and trainings
e - TES kg

o Intranet
A B 4
° Email
B4
J Internal memo
Suppliers and Business Partners o Physical and phone meetings
HEBREESERH ERBLEESH
. On-site briefing and trainings
5 MR R
. Collaboration between project managers
THEKR ZHANEE
. Co-ordination with purchase managers
TR 4538 2 PR ) 165 38

SE R FRHE

@ -
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Key Stakeholders

TERHE

Government and Regulatory .
Authorities
BN REEHE .

Communication Channels

Seminars, reports and circulars on regulations
RO AR ST g - HE Kl ek

Company website

NGIE N

Email

B

Fax

BH

Enquiry hotline

BEREE

Financial Institutions 3
SEIE

Physical and phone meetings
BRELEESE

Financial report

BB mE

Corporate announcement

RRDE

Media °
=g

Media meetings after shareholders’ meetings
BEARGENERSE

Company website

NGIF R

Email

BT

Enquiry hotline

ERELR

Community and Non-governmental .
organisations (“NGOs")
HERFBFEE o

Participation in community activities
S B [R5 E

community news

L& 37
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Materiality Assessment

The Group identifies the materiality of ESG-related issues to both of
the Group and its stakeholders based on stakeholder engagement
activities on an annual basis. Facilitated by an independent
sustainability consultant, we have engaged both internal and external
key stakeholder groups through online questionnaires. The following
steps describe our materiality assessment processes:

Identification

E=%:])

EEMFM
AEESFHEREFNENSEEE) - #EESG
HEZEEAKRENSNENERE B LA
FEZREMNBAT RfABRLLHERE
HABRIMBERFNHEARNER - AT TR
AT P EZERE B

o We have engaged an independent sustainability consultant to identify a list of 25 ESG issues
relevant to the Group by referencing to the The Stock Exchange ESG Reporitng Guide,
industry characteristics, business operations and stakeholder feedback.
BOEBETEYARESEBN MRS EH B IMESGREIES]  ITEF  EKE
BUARFMENRE  H5 72518 B L B AESGH RS & o

. We have invited internal and external key stakeholders to complete an
online questionnaire and rate the importance of the ESG issues.
BPBBABRINBOEERFNETKELMSEHAE  WHESGEBMNE

B ITHS ©

o We have evaluated and analysed the results of questionnaire rating to
identify the prioritised material ESG issues, and compiled a materiality

matrix.

HMEEEHENERET TRHEMDHT - HEE B 55 E BRI EKRESGH
B2 WG T EE AR

. The prioritised list of material ESG issues has been
presented to the ESG Working Group for discussion and

Validation L
. validation.
1548 BB o HE M) E RESGRE B S RIR24RESGT /N4
DAt i R AR -

—E i T AR

o
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Materiality Matrix

- EEMERE
B0y
r
e 21 ® 15
® 13
® 18
wn
> ® 10 ® 19 ® 22
o
24 ° 17 ® 24 °7
T
S W ®9
(e
o
‘;d*jg ® 14 ® 12 ® 16
g ® 23 ® 20
= M
= .6
w
e 3 ® 25
e 4
® 3 e 2
®5 ® 1
Ew
—
Low High
1® Significance to the Group =
HASENEZMN
List of ESG Issues ESGERE I &
1. Alr emissions 10.  Clean technology 18.  Product assurance and quality
BESR PR IR IRBLA;MT EmREFEESE
2. Waste 11.  Green finance 19.  Customer service
BEEY) ZEor BEERY
3. Energy consumption 12, Staff welfare 20. Intellectual property rights
8L IR B FE EERA management
4. Greenhouse gas emissions 13.  Equal-opportunity, diversity, MBEEEE
= R EEBE anti-discrimination 21.  Marketing and advertising
5. Water consumption FE#KE - Zb RIER MZHEERES
KER 14.  Occupational health and safety | 22.  Anti-corruption
6. Packaging material consumption BEERELS R&F
B EHE A 15.  Staff development and training | 23.  Community investment
7. Climate change risk 8 TE R EE HERE
RIFZ (LR R 16.  Employment compliance 24.  Product design and innovation
8. Green procurement and EEAHM = b iR ET B AT
sourcing 17.  Ethically responsible sourcing 25.  Data protection and cyber
FERE BRERE security
9. Environmental risk in supply HFIERERMK LS

chain
e SR A IR IR R R

Annual Report 2021/2022.

The 6 ESG issues at the top right quadrant of the above materiality
matrix indicate the most material sustainability issues identified and
will be further discussed in this Report.

M BB b £ B HOBESCHE R A
BEREANTHERREE  FEARE T —
il
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Material ESG Issues Sections
B KESGE & =6
7. Climate change risk Climate Change
RizZ (L rE RixE 1L
9. Environmental risk in supply chain Supply Chain Management
e 8 P /Y 3R 35 A B HIEEE IR
15.  Staff development and training Development and Training
B TR EE R BT
18.  Product assurance and quality Product and Service Quality
EmRERES EmkRiEs
22.  Anti-corruption Anti-Corruption,
RES RES:
Anti-Money Laundering
%R
24.  Product design and innovation Product and Service Quality
E AR At EL R EmkRisEe

/\ /_*f_\ﬁ/_g::fﬁ@%ﬁg 47
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CREATING VALUE FOR OUR EMPLOYEES

AEMNETIAEEE

Our Goal:
RMWBEZ:

REMNETEY —EEBMREN TIFRE

Material Topic(s) Covered:

FIRENE KEE:
. Staff development and training
BT #REET

. To build an inclusive and joyful work environment for our employees

The Group values its employees as they are of utmost importance to
the Group's long-term development and success. We strive to create
a safe, inclusive and joyful work environment to our staff where
they feel rewarded, encouraged and accommodated. We ensure
strict compliance with applicable laws and regulations in relation to
employment practices in Hong Kong and in the PRC, including but not
limited to:

AEEEREMNBT AP ARENREE
RMADEREZ BHMABNOREIBEZ AL
2 ARRUEMREN TIERE HMMEMREF
m ESEBMEeR HAEKREKETEEE
e B R EEMEBOERZERRN BEE
AR :

During the Reporting Period, we were not aware of any material non-
compliance with the laws and regulations in relation to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.

RIREHRE - RAOAL T ABERBH R R
BRE THERE RY FEHE 2l
F A5 A B At 155 38 K 4B A AR BADA 2 R AR B 5
m BEFAERTERNBER -
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Employee Distribution ETIDMH
As of 31 March 2022, the Group had a total of 37 full-time employees #HE—Z-—#=A=+—H A£EHXHF3I7H
(2020/21: 43). The employee distribution by gender, age group, 28 T(2020/21:43) - Z1ERI - FE4ER - EE

employment category and geographical region is as follows: FAKMRESHEISMHIT :
By Gender By Age Group
% RE D Hii@ 4B 7IE 5
32
6
5
Male Female ) Below 31 31-40 41-50 51-60 ) Above 60
] i SIERAT  31-408% 415058  51-608%  60RRIAL
By Employment Category By Geographical Region
ZEEEAE D ZihE gl o
32
24
10
3 5
Senior Middle General And
Management Management  Technical Staff Horg%ong Th; E@?C
EREEE RREERE —MERMET !
Employee Turnover ETR%k
During the Reporting Period, the overall employee turnover rate was Fi&iﬁﬁﬁ RPN ETEERAERI6% - TE
16%. The employee turnover by gender, age group and geographical — /R T IR - FE AR MR H 8 TRk
region is shown in the following graphs. 243 ®
Employee Turnover Rate Employee Turnover Rate Employee Turnover Rate
(By Gender) (By Age Group) (By Geographical Region)
BIRAE (RMRES) BT RARIZ (Fi/ERES) BIRAE (RtEEl5)
33%
19%
40%
13% 8% <
[ 0
Male Female Below31  31-40 41-50 51-60  Above 60 Hong Kong The PRC
El 7k 31T 31-405%  41-505% 51-605% 60RRMA £ BE RE
Notes: &
1) All employee-related data covered the Group, including employees in the 1) FMEETHBSEBEREAERE BEANMHE TE
PRC. Ao
2) We started to disclose more social KPIs during the Reporting Period to  2) BMEREHHEFRAHEE S SBEREIEE
provide a better picture of the Group's social performance. NE2EMmREAERNTSRIE -
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Employee Rights and Welfare

We aim to enhance the wellbeing of our employees and protect
their rights. We uphold the principle of equal opportunities and
adopt zero-tolerance towards any kind of discrimination related to
race, nationality, ethnic origin, religion, sex, or marital status. In this
regard, our policies related to equal opportunity, diversity and anti-
discrimination are clearly stated in our Staff Handbook. During our
recruitment process, we provide equal opportunity to and consider
the right candidates based on their appropriate experiences, skills,
competencies and qualifications for a particular position. We provide
equal opportunity of access to appropriate training and development
based on identified business and individual needs.

To safeguard the rights of our staff and foster employee welfare,
we have in place fair and comprehensive human resources policies
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
development and training, working hours, rest periods, benefits and
welfare, and which are set out in our Staff Handbook.

ETHER

BB AIREDE TERULILIRE M PIRER - 3K
PRF\BIERSRA HEMERER BE K
7R MR SE RO E R R RIER
BRETE - Bt - BN B T F M AR RE D B3 # 4P £
FERE ZUURRERBBENEE - EHR
B@iEd HPIAkBERKTISERE YRR
il PIFE A E AL LB E B BB BEN A
% ZEEENREE - ROAREDBAIH XS
MEAFTE REEEEILBEROFERE-

REREBETIREREEETRMN RMEFH R
BE ARERE BRES TERE-R
W FBLEANETEGET A FREEMAL
BRBE WAHINREMOE TFME -

Employees’ Benefits
BET#HEA
Paid Leaves Caring Benefits
BHRE BIEREF

e Annual leaves o Staff birthday parties e Discretionary bonus

F& 8 T4 Bk BB EAL
e Maternity leaves e Festival celebrations

ER B HER

Apart from employees’ work performance, we are also concerned
about their wellbeing and encourage work-life balance. To foster
joyful and positive work atmosphere, we organise various employee
activities each year. During the Reporting Period, a series of lunch
gatherings were held at offices where we celebrated Mid-autumn
Festival, Christmas and Chinese New Year with our employees.

Annual Report 2021/2022.

i R

BRTEBITHERE RMAGREOHMENL I
BB TERAEN T - REEREBBHNTIE
AE BHMEFHeAESBE T RS KBS
HE BPERIERRT —RINFERS
BB T —RENPKE  ERAOMBEHNE -



CEERERER LA

Clg

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIALAND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BB~ AL KBRS

Attracting and Retaining Talents

Talent acquisition is crucial to the Group’s long-term success and
competitiveness. To attract and retain employees with loyalty, passion
and desired skillsets, we provide competitive remuneration package
and benefits to our staff. We continuously monitor market practices
and receive feedback from our staff on salary compensation to
ensure that the salary package provided is in line with the market
standards. Staff appraisal is conducted annually to provide our
staff with sufficient opportunities for advancement and help them
to improve and grow. The staff appraisal result forms the basis for
determining employees’ salary, discretionary bonus and promotion
opportunities.

Occupational Health and Safety

The Group regards safety as the first priority in our business as we
have the responsibility to safeguard the health and safety of our
people, subcontractors and the public, where appropriate, in the daily
operations. As such, various occupational health and safety measures
and relevant procedures are implemented for our staff in offices and
construction sites. The Group also strictly complies with applicable
laws and regulations in relation to health and safety in Hong Kong and
in the PRC, including but not limited to:

Hong Kong
B

Ws| Mk B AA

AT BREREBENRERNMBEZLHEE -
AT WREIMBERM  BOMBEEMFRENE
T BEMABTIRHEERF IOHMEMER -
BPEERTHIEN  WEERE THRHF M
R ARERATIRENFMIRTAEMGIELE-
HMEFeETE NG RETIRHITRAIE
B¥e HEMFESMKE B TR EERTY
PREE B TH MISTEA RSB RS HER -

BEREEZ2
AEERZ2/EMETHNEE R BRMA
BEFAEHEEETREETL DEBARAR (1A
ERMREMZZ -Ft B ABRAERZ
ETHHNETERSERERERL2HEAR
HEREF AEETERETEERTEREHRE
BERZEZ2RERERIER  BREENRER:

e Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance ( <Bk % %2 R BB IEF) )

. Factories and Industrial Undertakings Ordinance ( { T/ & T %

The PRC
3

. Labour Law of the PRC ( {fF ZE AR EMBE L &)%) )

During the Reporting Period, there were no recorded cases of serious
work-related injuries. The total lost days due to work injury were 0
days. No work-related fatality has been recorded for the past three
years including the Reporting Period.

Construction Health and Safety

To promote health and safety at construction sites, safety policies,
working procedures, plans and measures are set out in the safety
manual for our design, fitting-out and engineering services business.
The safety manual is distributed to all workers and the person-in-
charge of the subcontractors to ensure that they understand all
safety standards. Workers are required to follow all safety rules and
regulations set out in the safety manual, such as wearing safety helmet
at all times and preventing unauthorised use of lifting construction
equipment. To reduce risks of safety hazards, workers are required to
acquire permits for specialised work of high safety risks.

AR )

RIWEMRE  AEEY BERTHBEROERC
B ATBBERTIERBRIR RNEE=F8%
WEHRE T ARE EAE I TR ERRDE -

BEETRRERRZE
REFRZETHMREERZ 2 RMANRKR K
ERTERBEBENLZE2FMHAALE2BER T
tEiEF e kAR - RAEAMBEIRSE
BB ENRERZEFM AREFRMCPMH T #RAE
ZEBE -BTHUAETRETFMPITLNME
Z 2R RNMNBRTE - PIAFEAE RS R A B 2 2 SR 2%
AEHIEERERETEREERERE /R
Bz2REE BHMEREIRGRESLTEER
BEETERFARE -

ZE - —E - —FERE
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To ensure proper implementation of safety measures, safety
inspections are conducted on a regular basis at our construction
sites with follow-up actions, when appropriate. We have in place an
emergency plan to allow workers to respond quickly and properly in
the event of safety incidents.

We raise awareness of workers on occupational health and safety
through various safety promotion programmes and activities. We also
evaluate the safety performance of sub-contractors to ensure that
they are in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations and
safety standards.

Office Health and Safety

To provide a safe and healthy working environment to our employees,
smoking is prohibited in our office operations. We also arranged our
staff from office operations to take part in fire safety training to raise
awareness and strengthen capabilities in coping with emergency
situations during the Reporting Period.

Response to the COVID-19

To prevent outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, we have set up
the COVID-19 emergency response unit to monitor the pandemic
situations and ensure strict compliance with government guidelines
and policies. During the Reporting Period, we implemented various
pandemic prevention measures in offices and work sites, including
but not limited to:

o Requiring all staff and visitors to check their body temperature
before entering the office;

. Providing hand sanitizers at the reception counter for hand
hygiene;

o Providing face masks for all staff and requiring them to wear in
the office and at worksites,

. Promoting regular and thorough hand washing habit to our
staff;

. Encouraging social distancing practices,

. Avoiding face-to-face meetings and using web-based or phone
conference meeting instead; and

o Avoiding unnecessary travel to affected regions. Upon returning

from the affected regions, staff are required to self-isolate for
14 days.

Annual Report 2021/2022,
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Development and Training

Employees’ growth and development is beneficial to the Group's
long-term development and sustainability. To help our staff grow
together with the Group, we provide them with various vocational and
job-related trainings to help them equip with the skills and knowledge
required for their positions. To support our employees in acquiring
professional qualifications and skills beneficial to their work, we
sponsor our staff to take professional courses, seminars, workshops
and conferences. During the Reporting Period, training programmes
were arranged covering topics on regulatory compliance updates,
anti-corruption, anti-money laundering, sustainability, COVID-19 and
fire safety, etc.

The percentage of employee trained and average training hours
completed per employee by gender and employment category during
the Reporting Period are as follows:

BREEIEI
BIXNEMEREFNNALEENRENITFESE
B-hABYBEIHEREERRKE RMAM
IR (& TR B 3 DA & 2 T {EFRRE V1S 31 - DA B
fib P9 242 EL B FT 55 RO R BE R AN 5l - B S35 AP
NWETESHETEFEE NI EERMELLE
BRMEHE T2 MEERRE Hdg IIEHM
o oNMESHE RMZHETREAREN K
B)5 ROEREE  AIREERE - COVID-19A KB

ZEETENZIIRE -

RIS HRE - R KRB BB DN EIER
D

E] LA&#%ﬂEEmﬁXxEJHE‘FFi’:]Hv%@DT-

Percentage Average
of Employee Training
Trained Hours
(%) (Hour)
BEEERTAK
TIEE ZTINFEHEIRE
B2t (%) (/)
By Gender R RI & o
Male S 75% 3.0
Female egi 25% 17
By Employment Category REBERNE S
Senior Management BRERE 21% 22
Middle Management PREIEE 29% 8.7
General And Technical Staff —MREREMET 50% 24
Notes: R
1) The calculation of the percentage of employee trained and average training 1) REHE ZIEEASLAREREE KX

hours completed per employee during the Reporting Period included the
relevant training data on those who left the Group during the Reporting
Period, to present an accurate reflection of the training resources invested by
the Group.

2) We started to disclose more social KPIs during the Reporting Period to
provide a better picture of the Group's social performance.

AN FHEBNFERE T HEREBERA 8148
RALT I BNIE - DA R AR SR IR A\ R 35RO

2) BAXRHRENRAEGREES L S RRERER
NE i 2R ARBEOMLERE
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Labour Standards

The Group upholds high labour standards, and prohibits child
or forced labour as it violates human rights and the protocol of
international labour conventions. We ensure strict compliance with
the applicable laws and regulations including but not limited to the
Employment Ordinance in Hong Kong, and the Labour Law and
Labour Contract Law in the PRC.

To prevent the occurrence of child or forced labour of any kind, we
conduct checking on the applicant’s identity documents to prevent
underaged hires. We would strictly follow the employment contracts
and would not prejudice the employment relationship in any way
between the employees and the Group, such as detaining a deposit,
forcing to work against their will under any kind of threat. Our staff
has the right to terminate the employment contract as long as it is in
compliance with the relevant laws and the Group policies. Once child
or forced labour is identified, we will report to the authorities, and the
employment would be terminated. During the Reporting Period, we
were not aware of any material non-compliance with the laws and
regulations relating to child and forced labour.

Annual Report 2021/2022.
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CREATING VALUE FOR OUR CUSTOMERS AERMANEFAEEE

Our Goal:
BMHBE:
. To enhance customer experience with quality products and services for the benefit of customers
NEENERNRBREAZTPER FXPXE

Material Topic(s) Covered:

FrRENE KEE:
. Anti-corruption
REF
. Product assurance and quality
EmREREE

° Product design and innovation
o % 5t B AT

The Group recognises that delivering products and services with high ~ ANEBEHEIA S E S1ZERHE DM REE R
quality standards is crucial to our long-term business success, and IR EHEKKNEBEE TR R TE IR
is dedicated to continuously enhancing our customers’ experience &5 R BEER M B JE o T4 FIRE (R BTG 8 < B R {f
and satisfaction. We ensure strict compliance with applicable laws — E SR FREE BAEREERMER  SFEETR
and regulations relating to the delivery of our products and services, A :

including but not limited to:

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material ~ 7E3R & #if - AL B W N ABEEBATIREE R
non-compliance of laws and regulations relating to health and safety, MR EEMEL 2  EE  ZHAESLEENE
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and  BEERMBHI S E BEAEATEBHBIR -
services provided.
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Product and Service Quality

To assure the quality of our fitting-out projects, we have in place
a well-established quality management system. In each project, a
project controller is assigned to monitor the progress and ensure
the quality of the project. We also monitor the production progress
of furnishings and fittings used in our projects to ensure satisfaction.
Inspections are carried out to ensure that safety and design
specifications are followed and implemented during the production
process.

At the execution phase of our project works, we constantly check our
designs against the constraints to ensure the feasibility of the works.
During the working process, we continuously monitor the progress
to ensure that the expectations and requirements of our customers
are met. At the completion stage, we conduct final checking with our
customers to ensure all works are completed in accordance with
the design specifications and the customers’ requirements. Warranty
period from one month to one year is offered to our customers to
ensure completion and satisfaction.

For our construction equipment leasing business, we conduct third-
party testing on the safety of our equipment by qualified test centres.
We also perform regular and proper maintenance on our construction
equipment to ensure its quality and safety. After testing, test reports
are provided to customers to assure the quality of our products. We
also provide guidance to our customers on the proper and safe use of
our construction equipment upon their request.

To ensure quality for our wine products, we conduct regular
inspection of products we received against quality standards. Once
non-conformity is identified, we report it to the wine vendors to
further discuss the arrangement for product recall or other remedial
actions. In addition, we will provide training and clear instructions to
our employees and ensure that the receiver is of age when receiving
the alcohol package. If the receiver’s age cannot be ascertained and
there is doubt about his age, no delivery would be made.

For our financial services business, we ensure that we provide high-
quality agency and money lending services. As a licensed money
lender and a securities broker, we are operating under the Money
Lenders Ordinance (“MLO") and the Securities and Futures Ordinance
("SFO"). To protect the interest of our customers, we require our
employees to abide by all forms, procedures and requirements in our
standard procedures as prescribed under the provisions of the MLO
and SFO when providing financial services. We ensure that all product
features, terms and conditions and any associated risks are clearly
communicated to our customers, allowing them to be well-informed
about all necessary information before making decisions.

Annual Report 2021/2022,
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As a responsible money lender, we provide memorandums to clients
to remind borrowers of the repayment details and ensure that debt
collection is conducted in a lawful manner.

Customer Feedback

We value opinions and feedback from our customers, as they help
us improve our product and service quality. Customer feedback is
collected through various channels, including email, post and fax
etc.. All customer complaints received will be reported to responsible
staff for follow-up actions and rectification. To enhance customer
satisfaction, guidelines are provided to staff on handling customer
feedback and enquiries in a professional manner.

During the Reporting Period, we did not receive any material
complaints related to products and services. There were no products
sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.

Data Protection and Intellectual Property Rights

As our operations involve collection of customer information, we take
the responsibility for safeguarding data privacy of our customers. Our
financial services business strictly follows regulations and practices
related to data privacy as set out by the regulatory authorities, such
as the The Stock Exchange, the Hong Kong Monetary Authority and
the Securities and Futures Commission. When handling clients’ data,
we strictly follow applicable laws and regulations and provide internal
guidelines on the proper collection, use, management and protection
of data and information. Security measures are adopted to protect
customer data against unauthorised or accidental access, processing
or erasure.

Rules regarding protection of intellectual property rights are
clearly set out in the Staff Handbook. All staff are required to pay
close attention to the Group's proprietary information, customer’s
information as well as individual's personal data. Any document or
written material provided by the Group must not be removed, passed
on, copied or disclosed to third parties without approval by the Group.

Advertising and Labelling
We ensure that our advertising material are absence of misleading or
false information.

As a responsible wine merchandiser, we ensure that intoxicating
liguor must not be sold or supplied to a minor in the course of
business as stipulated by local laws and display a sign containing the
related prescribed notice in both Chinese and English on our online
stores in a reasonably legible manner.
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Supply Chain Management

We attach great importance to the quality and performance of
our suppliers including subcontractors. To ensure high-quality
suppliers are selected and engaged, we choose our suppliers and
subcontractors based on a set of selection criteria, including product
quality, safety, productivity, ability to comply with the relevant laws
and regulations, services quality, and cost effectiveness, etc. For our
wine merchandising business, we select wine merchants with good
reputation, high ratings, reliable supplies and good trading histories.
We also take into the consideration the socially and environmentally
responsible performance of our subcontractors and suppliers. To
promote environmentally preferable products and services when
selecting suppliers, we give priority to local suppliers and contractors
to reduce carbon footprint in the transportation process. We also
prioritise use of energy-efficient equipment such as LED and
encourage them to opt for products with fewer packaging materials
to reduce unnecessary waste. During the Reporting Period, we had
a total of 96 suppliers including subcontractors. 91 of them are
located in Hong Kong, 3 in the PRC, 1 in Taiwan and 1 in Singapore. All
suppliers including subcontractors were implemented the practices
relating to engaging suppliers during the Reporting Period.

To ensure that suppliers and subcontractors uphold high standards,
we conduct supplier assessment on a regular basis. Suppliers
and subcontractors who fail to meet our expectations related to
labour practices, health and safety standards and integrity will face
termination of business relationships. An ESG-related risk assessment
has been conducted to identify environmental and social risks along
the supply chain. The supply chain risks and control measures are
carefully monitored, evaluated and managed by the Board and ESG
Working Group on a regular basis.

Anti-Corruption

The Group requires its staff to uphold high standards of business
ethics and integrity at all times. All of our directors and staff in Hong
Kong are required to comply with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
(Hong Kong) (the “POB Ordinance”), and our staff in Mainland China
are required to abide by relevant laws and regulations including but
not limited to the Criminal Law of the PRC. During the Reporting
Period, we were not aware of any material non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering. There were no concluded legal cases regarding
corrupt practices brought against the Group or its employees during
the Reporting Period.
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We prohibit transfer of benefits between our employees and other
related parties. Guided by our internal policies and procedures, all
directors and staff shall not provide or obtain any gifts or benefits
from clients, suppliers or any person with business dealings with
the Group. Our Staff Handbook and Code of Conduct also clearly
outline that employee shall not accept advantages and gifts from our
business partners.

To raise awareness on anti-corruption, anti-corruption training has
been provided to directors and employees with an access to relevant
anti-corruption training materials from the Independent Commission
Against Corruption (“ICAC").

Whistleblowing Policy

To encourage employees to report any suspected misconduct, we
have established various whistle-blowing channels. If employees are
aware of any suspicious acts and malpractices, they are encouraged
to report to the senior management of the Group through email.
All whistle-blowers’ identities and reported cases are treated in
confidence and reported cases would be appropriately handled in a
fair manner.

Anti-Money Laundering

The Group is aware of risk of money laundering practices in its
financial services business. To prevent such practices, we strictly
comply with all applicable anti-money laundering laws and regulations
including but not limited to the Anti-Money Laundering ("AML") and
Counter-Terrorist Financing (“CTF") Ordinance and the Guideline
on Compliance of Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist
Financing Requirements for Licensed Money Lenders.

To mitigate the risk of money laundering and terrorist financing, we
have established a series of internal policies and procedures. We
adopt a risk-based approach and conduct comprehensive customer
due diligence, risk assessment, regular review of customers’
information, record keeping, identifying suspicious money laundering
behaviours and reporting of suspicions transactions. To ensure
effective implementation of the AML and CTF system, AML training is
provided to all new employees. We also organise regular training to
existing staff to allow them to keep abreast of the latest regulatory
requirements and guidelines.
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CREATING VALUE FOR OUR ENVIRONMENT AERMNBRRAIEEE

Our Goal:
BMHBE:
. To pursue green and sustainable operations by reducing our impact to the environment in response to climate
change
BRROBRMERRNTZEAREREE - BRGEENMAFENZE

Material Topic(s) Covered:

HENMEERE:
. Climate change risk
RIRE (LR RER
o Environmental risk in supply chain
e 5 ) IRIE R R

We endeavour to operate in an environmentally conscious manner  HME HURENHRNELEL UWBTRES
to promote environmental responsibility and address climate change T EL TIRE LR - BMIHIE T HRRMER
issues. Policies and procedures are formulated to guide employees  #5E 8 TN E R A WFI A 22 R HE R
on enhancing efficient use of resources, proper handling of emissions %7 £ TESFTESREEE -

and cultivating green habits in workplaces.

The Group strictly abides by the applicable environmental laws and — AN&EBE B & ETEBHREEZEZMNER  B8IFE
regulations including but not limited to: RR

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any  fERE IR - AE BN MEBAEB BIREEE LA
material non-compliance with the relevant environmental laws and  #R A E  BEAMEARTABHIBE MR
regulations.
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Climate Change

Currently, climate change is one of the most pressing environmental
concerns in the world. Various extreme weather events, such as
heatwaves, flooding, and droughts, may have an impact on our
business operations. An ESG-related risk assessment has been
conducted to identify potential climate-related risks and the impacts
on the operations. The climate-related risks and control measures are
carefully monitored, evaluated and managed by the Board and ESG
Working Group on a regular basis.

To mitigate climate-related risks, relevant control measures are
formulated and implemented in our business operations. Our
employees are guided by the staff handbook which has clearly
outlined the flexible work arrangements under typhoon and
rainstorm signals. We maintain close communication with the building
management company of our office, pay close attention to weather
warnings and implement necessary response measures to cope with
adverse weather conditions such as typhoons or rainstorms.

Workers with outdoor job duties at construction sites might suffer
from illness such as heat stroke under extreme hot days, while
tropical cyclones and heavy rainstorms could potentially lead to
disruptions at construction sites. To respond, we have formulated
guidelines and provided necessary precautionary measures for
workers to effectively cope with adverse weather conditions. Work
schedule would also be properly adjusted to ensure workers have
sufficient rest and ensure their wellbeing.

Further, we remain vigilant concerning upcoming regulatory changes
and potential risks posed by climate change and will endeavor to
identify opportunities for increasing efficiency and reducing carbon
emissions.
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In an effort to combat climate change, the Group has set the below
green targets:

BT ERERIRE  AEEBIET U THREER:

Emissions To reduce air and greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions through implementing
BBy environmentally responsible measures.
BBEBYREARANEE RO ERAERENTER-

Waste To minimise waste by promoting recycling and the use of recycled materials.
BEY MREERWARERBERYH SE2RSEEY-
o
Energy To optimise energy use efficiency and advocate for energy-saving practices.
RETR BLaeIRE K - B -

(40

Water To promote water efficiency and water saving by implementing water conservation
K measures.
MIBE MEET KA HE - R 3 KUK DA R B4 A oK o

Energy, Air and Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Major sources of our energy, air and GHG emissions are purchased
electricity consumed for daily office operations and fuel consumption
of company vehicles, including unleaded petrol and diesel. To raise
employees’ awareness on environmental protection, we have
formulated energy saving policies and procedures in our staff
handbook and continuously encourage our employees to conserve
energy. In our office operation, we have adopted various green
practices to help reduce energy usage and greenhouse gas emissions.
Examples of such practices are:

. Setting air-conditioners at certain designated temperature to
optimise energy use efficiency;

. Switching off unnecessary use of computers, lighting, air
conditioners and other equipment after office hour or when not
in use; and

. Combining offices of the fitting-out and engineering operations

with our headquarter office to further reduce energy
consumption.

Annual Report 2021/2022.

R BRNBEERBHEN

HPIEEIR - BEE R AR = R A FF A X 2R
B E W RPTEFER NG E AR R B E @A RE
HFE BREETANEH - RTIRSEINER
RERZ BHMEETFMHASE T EHERRME
FREsBE THOER - ERMANBIAZTSE
B HPIRET BB EREE AFBIR A6
RERABERBBYN - ELEENDTA

o BERRBEHRTHRE  AELERER

K

o  HETNIRITERRMEE BATLENE
fig - BRER - =R EAM R AR

o KR RERIERBEEBHOMAZTER
FIAaE M REA G - NE— TR BRI
#o



CEERERER LA

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIALAND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BRE - | g R

With regard to our design, fitting-out and engineering services, dust
and volatile organic compound (“VOC") are usually produced as
one of the air emissions during the construction and demolition
processes. Our employees and subcontractors are required to
manage air emissions properly and minimise dust emission during
our construction work. A series of measures are implemented to
control air emissions and improve air quality:

o Adopting low-dust techniques and equipment to collect
construction dust; and

o Ensuring VOC-containing materials are kept in air-tight
containers to prevent air pollution.

We also put considerable efforts in reducing excessive amount of air
emissions and GHG emissions from our vehicles and forklift trucks,
including but not limited to:

. Conducting proper maintenance and services to improve
combustion efficiency of fuel; and

o Constantly monitoring fuel consumption and mileage usage of
vehicles to further improve our environmental performance.

Waste Management

Due to our business nature, our waste generations are mainly waste
paper and other office general waste from office operations and
also construction waste from our design, fitting-out and engineering
services business. We do not generate a significant amount of
hazardous waste in our operation.

A series of measures and procedures are in place to ensure the
construction waste from our fitting-out projects is managed in an
environmentally responsible manner. We collect, sort, and arrange
for either licensed waste collecting service providers or our
subcontractors to transport the construction waste to government
waste disposal facilities to handle and dispose appropriately and
legally of construction waste. We also recycle construction waste as
much as possible, and re-use the useful residual materials in other
projects before disposing of the construction waste.
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Whereas for office general waste, the waste is collected, handled
and disposed of by a professional cleaning company appointed by
the building property management company of our office operations.
Meanwhile, we continue to implement different waste reduction
measures in office operations, including but not limited to:

. Promoting online communication to avoid using papers;

o Encouraging employees to adopt double-sided printing to
reduce paper consumption;

o Placing recycling boxes next to printers and fax machines in
offices to collect and reuse paper for printing draft documents;
and

o Arranging printing suppliers to collect used printer toner
cartridges for recycling to reduce waste.

Water Conservation

Our source of domestic water comes from local water suppliers,
and we did not encounter any issue in sourcing water that was fit
for purpose during the Reporting Period. We consume insignificant
amount of water for purposes of drinking, toilet flushing and office
cleaning in our daily operations; however, we are still mindful of
reducing water use and improving water efficiency. We constantly
raise awareness on water conservation and encourage our
employees to develop habit of water saving, such as posting water
conservation notices at the prominent places to remind employees of
proper water usage.

Minimising Environmental Impacts

The Group is dedicated to preserving natural resources and reducing
the impact of our business activities on the environment. Although
timber is often one of the natural resources used in our design, fitting-
out and engineering services business, we actively recommend
our customers to opt for eco-friendly alternatives to reduce the
consumption of timber and save natural resources.

Responsible Use of Packaging Materials

In our wine merchandising business, we do not consume a
significant amount of packaging materials as we mainly use the
original incoming packaging provided by the wineries and deliver our
wines directly from our wine storage warehouse to our customers.
This would conserve use of resources and avoid excessive and
unnecessary use of packaging materials.

Annual Report 2021/2022.

MERMAEN—REEY BEBEMPHAESE
BENMEBTREATIEENEREEZRAFRKE
RIBMEE R KMEECHAEEEPE

MR D BEEEE - R ETRR:

e  REMLEBER EREMAK:

o  FEBTRAEEITH WRDHFHER:

J WA E R ITENHE AN {E B 55 32 IR E B L
AR EMERFERITHERSUHFHE
R A K

o THTEMERKRERBMIT RN R
TR AR AR E -

XK EIR
ﬁﬁﬁ'}iéﬁ?ﬁk?ﬁ@ﬁ"“‘iﬁﬁﬁﬁq JER - AR
B - B SKEE A KR 5 DS A B BT A R
Bo-BMEEBEEPRRKA RIS R
NEMFEKEWLAER AT - FKAAII ARG ER
DRKEMESAKAE - BMTEHIRSEKE
HOBEEIBENEKNEE  FIINERERAM
TTORBLETKB AN tRBE B TIEREA K-

RERVHBRENEE
REEB DR ERAE R DB ERE
PHIRBNLE - HAARMBERRME &
BERIERBEEBEPERNBAERZ — BEK
MEREREZPEERROERSG B ARM
REFE B RAEIR

BEEHERASERME
ERMNZBEHEETT  RIVLEHEREAEN
BEME - AARMEIEEAERRERNRGE
HEE ITHXEERRBMANZERFRER
BREMNEF - ERANERER B#RBE
AR IE R BEM L



CrERERERAA]

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE L E KB RACE

Noise Management REEE

In respect of noise control in our worksites, construction operations B T T &9 R S 6 i TE % 2 1L BRI
are carried out according to the permitted work hours as specified SEEMER R EN A TIERSEETN - EiET
in relevant laws and regulations. During the construction process, B2/ @ T IE A FPIERE  UERBRZ T
we use specialised equipment to ensure the noise does not exceed @R THREURFEFEIRE -

specified thresholds and affect the surrounding environment.

Environmental Performance Data'? RIEXRBEHE

2021/22 2020/21 Unit

B

Air Emissions

Nitrogen oxides (NO,) RAELPINOY 25.7 239 keTw
Sulphur oxides (SOy) TRE1E¥1(S0y) 0.1 01 kgF=x
Particulate matters (PM) FERLYI(PM) 2.4 22 kg TR
GHG Emissions3+5 B % R BE RS
Total GHG emissions BEREBREE 56.5 58.9  Tonnes of CO.e
(Scopes 1 and 2) (&E1%2) AE—ELIREE
Direct emissions (Scope 1) B (FE) 24.9 36.6  Tonnes of CO.e
AP ELIREE
Indirect emissions (Scope 2) FEZ R (EE2) 31.6 223 Tonnes of COe
AB—ELIREE
Intensity of total GHG emissions 488 = 788 (& &1 & 1.5 1.4 Tonnes of COe/employee
(Scopes 1 and 2) NEE AMB—ELIRESE B8

7 The environmental performance data covered our Wan Chai office and Yuen Long warehouse.
RERBREBRERMNEFANERENTHRE

2 The intensity unit for total GHG emissions, total energy consumption and office general waste has been adjusted to the total number of
employees at the end of the Reporting Period; therefore, the relevant environmental intensity data of 2020/21 have been restated.
AEREFREE EREFREEN—BIAZEEYNEREEVNCARAREHETARNE TAS - ALt 2020/215F HIEEIRE
HEBBEWERNTE -

8 In accordance with The Greenhouse Gas Protocol — A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard (Revised Edition) published by World
Business Council for Sustainable Development and World Resources Institute, Scope 1 direct emissions are resulted from operations that are
owned or controlled by the Group, while Scope 2 indirect emissions are resulted from the generation of purchased or acquired electricity,
heating, cooling and steam consumed within the Group.

BEEACEKEZRZEGNERERARMAEMN CAERBRERTE XS EBEER (BFTR) ) - BENSEEFRT
BASEHRGRENNERSEEES MBE2NEENABAEBEANIERE (BARIREN)WEN - 2 82 RAF AR E
Ho

4 The total GHG emissions have been adjusted and included direct emissions (Scope 1) and indirect emissions (Scope 2). Hence, the data for total
GHG emissions and its intensity of 2020/21 have been revised accordingly.

BERBHREE CREFEHM (BE) MEZEHN (BE2) ) EARE - Eilt - 202021FMAERBHENES R A EENEIEE &
FERE SR -

5 Total GHG emissions cannot be directly compared due to the change in data coverage of scope 1 emissions in 2021/22 to better reflect the
actual energy consumption of the Group.

BR2021/22F BENBEM B S BB A ER - AR F R AEE N ERERERE BIAERBHNAEEEEELR-

—E i T AR
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2021/22

2020/21

188.0 MWh JKE RS
450 MWh JK B
143.0 MWh JkEL RS

4.4  MWh/Employee
KEKEE

57.1  Tonnes ‘AMA
1.2 Tonnes A
55.9  Tonnes ‘AM&

27.9  kg/Employee
Fr/ B8

55.9  Tonnes/Project
AW THE

Total energy consumption REREFERE 153.3
Purchased electricity INEEE N 66.5
Vehicle fuel AERE 86.8

Intensity of total energy MR EREEE 4.1
consumption

Total non-hazardous waste BEEEVRS 441.4
Office general waste —MHNEREED 1.2
Construction waste BERED 400.2

Intensity of office general waste — & AEEEY 31.5

Intensity of construction waste B W E 220.1

6 Vehicle fuel included unleaded petrol and diesel consumed by company-owned vehicles.

BB IE R R W AT H AR A0 8 Um A Sk o

Reporting Period.

BEBRVNBEEMIRENHTARR RERTRERBEEBENIEE AR

The intensity unit for construction waste is the total number of projects in design, fitting-out and engineering services business at the end of the

B The increase in construction waste amount and intensity in 2021/22 was mainly due to the expansion of project size.

2021/ 22 ZEBEMHENTEMENEBMRBRRERELR

Annual Report 2021/202.
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CREATING VALUE FOR OUR COMMUNITY

AEANLEREEER

Our Goal:
KM E=ZE:

AECEMERM QELE

o To shoulder corporate social responsibility and give back to our communities

Continuous support from the community is crucial to the Group’s
development. To give back to the community and shoulder our
corporate social responsibility, our employees are encouraged to
engage in volunteering activities to give a helping hand to the people
in need in our communities.

During the Reporting Period, our community investment focused on
improving children’s wellbeing, in which our employees participated
in a volunteering activity initiated by a local non-profit organisation
aiming at bringing young people happy school lives under the
pandemic. In the activity, our employees have devoted a total of
2 hours in creating snack schoolbags which would be distributed
to children in the International Children’s Day. The activity has
successfully given away more than 1,000 snack schoolbags to spread
love and bring smiles on school children.

HENFEXRHHASENERERER - /BT
EIEEH EARAERMNEELEEE R
BET2HRERRELE AtRFHNERTE
TRHEET-

EREHE HANHRREEINNEREN
B P B T 27T — (@i &3 IF 5 F A4
BHEMNTEREEE EEERBTRNERRK
RENREEE - EBHEHT  HANE TR
ATERABENRREEZRER TEERK
REMHMEARERRE - ZEADCERIN AT
THEIL0EZRER UEEHEEYREER

—E i S~ —EFIRE
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BB~ AL KBRS

THE STOCK EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING
GUIDE CONTENT INDEX

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs
TEHRE -EH —REERESENIER

A. Environmental
A RE

Aspect A1: Emissions

Bt X FTESG#R & 15 5l

Chapter/Disclosure
EE WE

of production volume, per facility).
FMEAEEEEYHEE (UMEFE) R (1
HA)EE (MAESES B FER BT
H) e

produce a significant
amount hazardous
waste.

HREBIEE KR
EEERENBREE
) 0

BEA1: HHY
General Disclosure Creating Value for Our 60
— Environment
REMNRRRIEEE
Information on:
(@  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water
and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
EBEERMAERBHN KR IHHEES BEREEEEY
WELESH:
@@ HBE:R
() BTFHEHBETABERTEMNHEBERLRD
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective | Environmental 65
RARAE I IZA1.1 | emissions data. Performance Data

PE e A I AR B HE P B - RIRKRBEE
KPIA1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope | Environmental 65
RASAERIEIZA1.2 | 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, | Performance Data

where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of | BRBRBHE

production volume, per facility).

HiE (B8E)REREE (SE2)BEE=RE

P2 (B E) R (MER)EE (2054

BESHEMN BHERETHE) -
KPIA1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) | Due to the business N/A
FA$2 45 F51ZA1.3 | and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit | nature, we do not Ti#EA

Annual Report 2021/202.
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

Chapter/Disclosure

TEHRE -EH —REERERENIER B8 HE
KPIA1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in | Environmental 65
BB MIEIZA1.4 | tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. | Performance Data
per unit of production volume, per facility). IRIBRIAEIE
FMEEAEZSEEMEE (UBFE) & (W
HR)BEE (MU EES B FIEK M
")
KPI A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and | Climate Change, 61
RSB WISIZA1.5 | steps taken to achieve them. RixE L
W FE] BN EE R AENELEEZ
PR EUA 25 5% © Energy, Air and 62
Greenhouse Gas
Emission
R BERIAZERE
E7.355
KPIA1.6 Description of how hazardous and non- | Climate Change; 61
RAS4E IE1ZA1.6 | hazardous wastes are handled, and a | RIEE L
description of reduction target(s) set and
steps taken to achieve them. Waste Management 63
HEEEERBREEZEYN A REN | EEDER
FrET SRR S B 1R R R E B)5E L B IR AT ERER
Aspect A2: Use of Resources
BEA2 - EREMA
General Disclosure Creating Value for Qur 60
— MR Environment
REMHIRRRIEEE
Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and
other raw materials.
BRERAER (BIEER KREMEME) BBUER -
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption | Environmental 65
AR 4E B TEA2.1 by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total | Performance Data
(kwh in ‘000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of | B % I8 HiE
production volume, per facility).
RERAESHERER SBEER(NE-
R0l BEE (UTETERGE) REE
(WMABESBEM BERETH) °

@

—FE— =

-

F—E - CFEFRE
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

Chapter/Disclosure

TEHRE -EH —REERERENIER B8 HE
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. Water supply was N/A
RMBENIEIEA22 | BFEKEBREE (MASESER  F1ERZ | controlled by the TiEA
MeEtE) o building management
in our Wan Chai
office and Yuen Long
warehouse while water
in our worksites was
supplied by the main
contractors or our
customers and hence
water consumption
data is not available
and not disclosed.
B EF B R
TLEAE E R K FE E
YEEIRARPI S -
B ITiayRKBIBRE
EABEREMOETS
HpE - FKERE L
MARTHEE-
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) | Climate Change, 61
B g SE@A2.3 | setand steps taken to achieve them. KEEL
W PTEI LM RE AR AR R REDE
L B2 AT ERER ) 25 BB o Energy, Air and 62
Greenhouse Gas
Emission
LR EERARZE R
HEnR
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in | Climate Change, 61
RIS 45 IS IEA2.4 | sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water | $g{E& (L
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them. Water Conservation 64
HMKBGER KR LRI B EAEE AR | 849K ER
I M RKE B IR R R ERE L B R
BB A5 o
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

Chapter/Disclosure

TEHRE -EH —REERERENIER B8 HE
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished | We mainly use the N/A
RS siEA2.5 | products, and if applicable, with reference to | original incoming TiE A
per unit produced. packaging provided
SR BAFABEMARNEE (AMETE) K | by the wineries, so
(BB EEEBR(ES- we do not consume a
significant amount of
packaging materials.
Packaging material is
not applicable to the
other businesses due to
the business nature.
ﬁ%fﬁi%ﬁﬁﬁf@ﬁi%f
R EE B FTA
ﬁdﬁ/iﬁ/ﬁﬁj(iﬁ/‘]ﬁ
MR -mREBNE
#) R A - B R R
FAR B 2575 o
Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
EBEA3 RERXAER
General Disclosure Minimising 64
— MR EE Environmental Impacts
EERIOERBENTZE
Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the
environment and natural resources.
WIRBEITAHRBERAAERENERZERBUR
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of | Minimising 64
RASEAE NIRIZA3.1 | activities on the environment and natural | Environmental Impacts
resources and the actions taken to manage | RER D URIBNF L
them.
HEBESHHIRIBERRAERNERNTE
RERDREEE@EZEMNITE-
Aspect A4: Climate Change
EBEAL : RIEEL
General Disclosure Climate Change 61

—MRIKEE

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the
issuer.
Al R ELHE LR
BYSR ©

AREEHETAELYENEARREBER

RARE AL

@

_%_7¢/_

/\g__ﬁfc&#ﬁfg
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure

TEHER EE —REBERBAFERESR EH RE

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related | Climate Change 61
RS2 45 FETZA4.1 | issues which have impacted, and those | &R &1L
which may impact, the issuer, and the actions
taken to manage them.

BRI g WEITAEETENERXR
RIZEREE  REHTH-

B. Social
B. #t&

Employment and Labour Practices
EREREIER

Aspect B1: Employment

BEB1 : {EE
General Disclosure Creating Value for Our 48
— B Employees

BEMHEITAIEER

Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,

working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-

discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

EHTFMNREE BEMER TESE R FS#e 2T

b~ RS DA R E Ath #5388 R A8 Ay

(@ HBE: R

() EBTFHBETAGEAFENRBEERAOHER -

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type | Employee Distribution 49
RS A5 FE1ZB1.1 | (for example, full-or part-time), age group | B T4
and geographical region.

RIS EEED (2R FR)  Fiesd
Al R EE 5 KB B 428 -

KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age | Employee Turnover 49
RAdE & WFE1EB1.2 | group and geographical region. BTk

IR FHcE R Rt RE D rEB R

$ o
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

Chapter/Disclosure

TEHRE -EH —REERERENIER B8 HE
Aspect B2: Health and Safety
BEB2 - REHEZZE
General Disclosure Occupational Health 51
— MR and Safety
BiEERELS
Information on:
(@  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer.
relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.
BRARHRZE2TERRELREREREREBEMLTEN:
(@ B &
() BFHBETABEAFEMNRABEERAMHER -
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities | Occupational Health 51
B4R & IE1ZB2.1 | occurred in each of the past three years | and Safety
including the reporting year. BExEEmEes
BE-F(PEERFE)SFAITKRM
ANE R
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Occupational Health 51
4 1A IR 1E2B2.2 TR TERS- and Safety
BEREEL S
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and | Occupational Health 51
FASEAE N IE12B2.3 | safety measures adopted, how they are | and Safety
implemented and monitored. BERERELE
R FTER AN B S IR FR R L 2 48 e - DA 4R
AT RERF A
Aspect B3: Development and Training
BEB3 : #&E R
General Disclosure Development and 53
— R Training
ZREEEI
Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.
BRI E S BT TEB R A A R R AE AR - g IIES)
Note:Training refers to vocational training. It may include internal
and external courses paid by the employer.
i EIIEBE SN P B EHEENBHRINBRIE

rd S

—Z =

P

—4F = FE = —EERL 73
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

Chapter/Disclosure

TEHRE -EH —REERERENIER B8 HE
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by | Development and 53
R4 IE1ZB3.1 | gender and employee category (e.g. senior | Training
management, middle management). Z R EIEI
EHRIREEER (e RERE -PRE
BE)H-HNZIEEB DL
KPIB3.2 The average training hours completed | Development and 53
BB WIE1ZB3.2 | per employee by gender and employee | Training
category. Eedaicsehll
BRI REEENED  BREETAZI
FORESlisa
Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[EEB4 : % T %8|
General Disclosure Labour Standards 54
—R = T XA
Information on:
(@  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
B IEE T okoaHl4 TH:
(@ B &
() BFHBETAGBEAFENRABMEERAMHER -
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment | Labour Standards 54
RA$245 F51ZB4.1 | practices to avoid child and forced labour. TR
Fia 3 A8 5 FR BB 01 ) 5 B AR S EE T % 54 1
BTo
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such | Labour Standards 54

FAS2AEFE1ZB4.2 | practices when discovered.
T A 3530 2 AR B U R JEBR B BB 1B L P EREX

K2R -

B TR
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs
TEHRE -EH —REERERENIER

Operating Practices
EEEA

Chapter/Disclosure
BE BB

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EEB5 : ftEEEE
General Disclosure Supply Chain 58
—ME R Management
HpEsEER
Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply
chain.
EIRMHEEAIRIE R S RBEBUER
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. | Supply Chain 58
RABRAEIRIZER5.1 | MW EBEEA SN HEEEEE - Management
e E R

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging | Supply Chain 58
RAS4EWIE1EB5.2 | suppliers, number of suppliers where the | Management

practices are being implemented, how they | f#ftfE#EE 12

are implemented and monitored.

i ERERHERMIED  MERITEH

BOIRHEREE - ARMEERITRERT

o
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify | Supply Chain 58
RASRAEWI51EB5.3 | environmental and social risks along | Management

the supply chain, and how they are | &2

implemented and monitored.

il A R R S IR IR Rt g

[BL B BB 1 - LA R AR BEER T R BB 50K -
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote | Supply Chain 58
RA$2 45 F51ZB5.4 | environmentally preferable products and | Management

services when selecting suppliers, and how | f & 5 & 12

they are implemented and monitored.

FH8 3L TR 2 4 R P R (5 25 R IR AR o I AR

TBEE R - LA RABRABIT REER 7%

o

—FE— =

F—E - CFEFRE
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure

TEHER EE —REBERBAFERESR EH RE

Aspect Bé6: Product Responsibility
[BEB6 - EmEE

General Disclosure Creating Value for Our 55
—M B Customers

REMOEPAEER

Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy

matters relating to products and services provided and methods of

redress.

EEFREERINRENEREETE BE ZEAILBEEUR
R ER -

(@ HEE: X

b) BETHETABEARZENRBEIRZRROINEF -

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped | Customer Feedback 57
FAdR EMFE1EB6.1 | subject to recalls for safety and health | &P K&

reasons.

EEXEEXERAHP AL HERIER

AR E DL e
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related | Customer Feedback 57
FA4R EMIE1EB6.2 | complaints received and how they are dealt | &P K&

with.

BREEREDRRBHIRFEE U RERT

e
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing | Data Protection and 57
R4 EWI51ZB6.3 | and protecting intellectual property rights. Intellectual Property

ol B ERRENBERBANED Rights
SR IR o B SR

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process | Product and Service 56
RAdR B WI51ZB6.4 | and recall procedures. Quality
HilE 2R TEBENREMmBBIRRF EmkRBER
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and | Data Protection and 57
RASE4E HE1ZB6.5 | privacy policies, how they are implemented | Intellectual Property
and monitored. Rights
HlE & E ERHRE R FALBER A NIERE | SURREEMSERE
HITRERTE-
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure

TEHER EE —REBERBAFERESR EH RE

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

BHEB7 - RES

General Disclosure Anti-Corruption; 58
—M B REF

Information on: Anti-Money Laundering 59
(@ the policies; and kR

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.

R IEHERE R BFRAERERN:

(@ BER: R

() BFHEHETABEAZENHEEERRROINER -

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding | Anti-Corruption 58
RASE4EMFE1ZB7.1 | corrupt practices brought against the issuer | R &35
or its employees during the reporting period
and the outcomes of the cases.
REERANE FHITAREEERLWEFLE
MESHARTNEE RFRER-

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and | Anti-Corruption 58
RAdR & WFE1EB7.2 | whistle-blowing procedures, how they are | X &’5
implemented and monitored.

By & b R BB T - ARABEEIT R

BT Ko
KPIB7.3 Description of anti-corruption training | Anti-Corruption; 58
RA$2 45 F51ZB7.3 | provided to directors and staff RES
HlREZERE TRHEMARESHEI -
Anti-Money Laundering 59
Rk B
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure
TEHRE -EH —REERERENIER BH WE

community
#HE

Aspect B8: Community Investment
[EEBS : t ER &

General Disclosure Creating Value for Our 67
—ME R community
REMNTREIEEE
Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities
take into consideration the communities’ interests.
BREUTERS2ERTHEEEMCHREZSENHEREERK TS E

JEAT IR N 2 B RS o
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution. Creating Value for Our 67
RASRAEMIEIER8.1 | B EMEE (MHE BWEFE AL ITH | Community
ko fiERE b BBAE) ° AEMANTRAEEE
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area. Creating Value for Our 67
FRERIEEBS2 | METHIEBMHAEIR (WS EFE) - community
BERMANTREIEEE
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EREEHRE

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of Royal
Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is pleased to present this annual report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in (i) provision of design, fitting
out and engineering, and procurement of furnishings and related
products services, (i) leasing of construction equipment and provision
of related installation services, (iii) sourcing and merchandising of fine
and rare wines and (iv) provision of financial services.

Particulars of the Company'’s principal subsidiaries are set out in note
38 to the consolidated financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance, including a review of the
Group's business during the year under review and a discussion
on the Group's future business development, possible risks and
uncertainties that the Group may be facing and important events
affecting the Company which occurred during the year ended
31 March 2022 are provided in the section headed “Chairman’s
Statement”, the section headed “"Management Discussion and
Analysis” of this annual report and note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements which forms part of this directors’ report.

Discussions on the Group's environmental policies and performance,
relationships with key stakeholders, and compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations are contained in the"Environmental, Social and
Governance Report“on pages 37 to 78 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2022
and the state of affairs of the Group as at that day are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 98 to 202.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2022.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As at 31 March 2022, there was no reserves available for distribution
to the shareholders of the Company.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in note 18 to
the consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Details of movements in the investment property of the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BORROWINGS
Particulars of borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2022 are set
out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group's top five customers
accounted for approximately 59.8% of the revenue. The top five
suppliers accounted for approximately 43.5% of the total purchases
for the year. In addition, the Group’s largest customer accounted for
approximately 27.3% of the revenue and the Group's largest supplier
accounted for approximately 20.2% of the total purchases for the
year.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, none of the Directors, their
associates or any shareholders (which to the knowledge of the
Directors own more than 5% of the Company'’s issued share capital)
had any interest in these major customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS
During the year ended 31 March 2022 and up to the date of this
annual report, the Directors were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen

Mr. Wang Jun

Mr. Zhang Weijie

Non-executive Director
Mr. Tsang Kei Cheong

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex

Mr. Wu Zhao

Mr. Lam Cheok Va
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All the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation in accordance
with the articles of association (the “Articles”).

In accordance with article 141 of the Articles, Mr. Wang Jun, Mr.
Tsang Kei Cheong and Mr. Wu Zhao will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company.

DIRECTORS' BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 19 to 21 of
this annual report.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES
A list of the names of the directors of the Company’s subsidiaries
during the year and up to the date of this report can be found in the
company'’s website at www.royalcentury.hk.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

During the year under review, each Director has a service contract or
letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of two to
three years and is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the Articles of Association. Save as disclosed above,
none of the Directors has a service contract or letter of appointment
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS AND
COMPETING INTERESTS

During the year under review and up to the date of this report,
Directors’ interest in any business apart from the Group’s business,
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the Group's business that need to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
11.04 of the GEM Listing Rules were as follows:

Director Name of company
B= PEIEE

Nature of business
EKME
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REZRRAA ([FiR])  BEFANARFERE
BEAFAE LWMESER-

BIESEE 4G TFEEE GLERERRK
FEBRERERFBFERNG LREXTAERE
BB

EENERE
EENEEFBHNAFREIVEEZFE21H -

MEBARES
RAFERARBEARSBAZARAKBER
AzZEFEZBNINRETIERARAH L
www.royalcentury.hk o

EENRBEN

REEFA EEZCHARARZRBEE K
ZEE NSERAR_E=F WARREIEN
REWMERERER R EXRBEN BEES
B R R R AR B R BRI LA AR SR B 7 —
F AT BT TR E R E R ERR N IR T
BHREEE-

EERNEHNNEERBREER &S

REBFARBEEARAREAS EFREREEH
EG AR R RERRF R BT 2R
E (BRAEBERIN) hHEARBEGEM LT R
AIZE1.04AGA T I ENESNT

Nature of interests
e

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen Hong Kong ChaoShang Group
Limited (“HK ChaoShang”) and its
subsidiaries
BEEHEEEARAA
(BB REK B A

REELE

As the Board is independent to the boards of directors of the
abovementioned companies, the Group is capable of carrying on its
business independently to, and at arm’s length, from the business of
those companies.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors was interested in any
business (apart from the Group's business) which competed or was
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group during the year.

Money lending business
and securities and asset

Executive director and
chief executive officer of

management business HK ChaoShang
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INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS IN
CONTRACTS AND COMPETING INTERESTS

There was no contract of significance between the Company or any of
its subsidiaries and a shareholder (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)
or any of its subsidiaries, at any time during the year under review.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 March 2022.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees and senior management of
the Group is set up by the remuneration committee of the Company.
Further details of emolument policy are set out in Management
Discussion and Analysis on page 16 of this annual report.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
Details of the emoluments of the directors and five individuals
with highest emoluments are set out in note 14 and note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group strictly complies with the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) in
making mandatory provident fund contributions for its Hong Kong
employees.

Information on the Group’s retirement benefits schemes is set out in
note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF THE
COMPANY IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OF ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2022, none of the Directors and chief executive of the
Company (the “Chief Executive”) had any interests or short positions
in the shares of the Company (the “Shares”), underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO") as recorded in the register required to be kept under section
352 of SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by directors
of listed issuer as referred to in rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules (the
“Required Standard of Dealings”).
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DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

At no time during the year ended 31 March 2022 was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in
the Company or any other body corporate.

At no time during the year ended 31 March 2022 had the Directors
and the Chief Executive (including their spouses and children under
18 years of age) any interest in, or been granted, or exercised any
rights to subscribe for the shares (or warrants or debentures, is
applicable) of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of the SFO).

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 March 2022, so far as is known to the Directors and the Chief
Executive and based on the public records filed on the website of
the Stock Exchange and records kept by the Company, the interest
and short positions of the persons or corporations (other than the
Directors and the Chief Executive) in the Shares or underlying Shares
as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of
the SFO were as follows:
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Long position in ordinary shares of the Company REATRNEBRZHFE
Approximate
percentage
Capacity/Nature of Number of of the issued
Name of shareholder interests in capital Shares held Shares
HERTRGOZ
RREE B3/ ERERME FEROHE BRABEIL
Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited Beneficial owner 43,221,600 27.57%

ERNBEEBRAR ExBEAA
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, there was no person
or corporation (other than the Directors and the Chief Executive) who
had any interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares
as recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

During the year ended 31 March 2022, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s securities.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group or
existed during the year ended 31 March 2022.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme enables the Company to grant options to
any full time or part time employee of the Company or any member
of the Group (the “Eligible Participant(s)”) as incentives or rewards for
their contributions to the Group. The Company conditionally adopted
a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on 30 June 2014 whereby the
Board are authorised, at their absolute discretion and subject to the
terms of the Scheme, to grant options to subscribe for the shares (the
“Shares”) of the Company to the Eligible Participant. The Scheme will
be valid and effective for a period of ten years commencing from the
date of adoption of the Scheme.

Upon acceptance of an option to subscribe for Shares granted
pursuant to the Scheme (the “Option”), the Eligible Participant shall
pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way of consideration for the grant.
The Option will be offered for acceptance for a period of 21 days from
the date on which the Option is granted. The subscription price for the
Shares subject to Options will be a price determined by the Board and
notified to each participant and shall not be less than the highest of: (i)
the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
guotations sheet on the date of grant of the Options, which must be a
day on which trading of the Shares take place on the Stock Exchange
(the “Trading Day"); and (ii) the average closing price of the Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5
Trading Days immediately preceding the date of grant of the Options.

The Company shall be entitled to issue options, provided that the
total number of Shares which may issue upon exercise of all options
to be granted under the Scheme does not exceed 10% of the Shares
in issue on the Listing Date. The Company may at any time refresh
such limit, subject to the shareholders’ approval and the issue of
a circular in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules, provided that
the total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under all
the share option schemes of the Company does not exceed 30%
of the Shares in issued at the time. An option may be exercised in
accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any time during a period
as the Board may determine which shall not exceed ten years from
the date of grant subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.

As at 31 March 2022, the total number of the Shares available for
issue under the Scheme is 3,000,000 Shares (as adjusted for the
Share Consolidation on 18 November 2021), representing 1.91% of the
issued Shares (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”) of the aggregate number
of Shares in issue immediately upon completion of the listing of the
Shares on 18 July 2014 (as adjusted for the Share Consolidation on 18
November 2021) and representing 1.91% of the issued Shares as at 31
March 2022.

Annual Report 2021/2022,

BT S

BRI AR B R AR B RAEBERMNK
BERBRZEMEBEFRES ([AER2EE])
RHBEE FAEMYRKEMEER 2 EE
g EI e ARFR - E—NFERNA=+ BB KN
MR E R B ([T 8] Bt E=aR
Rz @B R ERER KIEZE 2%
RAEER2EERBABEARRBMBA ([
1) 2 ERAE - %At B R R R E B AR
FHR-—BERERRLER-

A AR BB 5% AT &I AT IR R AR B0 2 B A
(TBEEDR AER2EZARNARAZN
1008 7T ERERBARE 2 RE - BIE X
MERELEREE ARA21E S Bk
BOHRBENHEFSET YANSS2HE
BERIABERTHNEREZ&ESE - IR HBER
BER (WEARBORBIMERE AT ([X5
B 1))B 2 e A SRERATE 2 AU E K (i)
REEFHBREZ BN RER S BB MTH
WERMEZ Bt FHUHIE-

AN AVERE T RER AT IO - AR IR RLAT B
TR Z A BBEETTER A T 38T 2 R4
B NMSHBE LT BT BTN 210% ° fFFAER
HEE RARRGEM L i1 AR A1) 3% @ s & AR E) A
BE by AT EIR - MERRIBEA R R 2 BRI AR AT
BRI MAERFITRZERITEBRAEEITE
BATHRTZERODEE THEREERFEEITR
19230% ° BT IR ZAT IR A N ES S ETE
Z BB AR 1T s HIE S 8 R B A
BHIREA+F AR PRI IEAARR -

RZZEZ—F=A=+—8 BREZTE I
17 2 W7 48 853,000,0000% (A —ZT = —F+—
A+ N\BROEHIELAR) R 2T —WFL
A+ N\BRDEmEREZEZETRG (=T
——F+—ATN\BRDAMELARE) 21.91%
(B8 RERZE]) URER_E-_—_F=A
=+—HBEBETRMDZ1.91% -



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EREEHRE

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the Options granted and to be granted pursuant to the Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Group to each Eligible
Participant (including both exercised and outstanding options) in any
12-month period up to and including the date of grant of the options
shall not exceed 1% of the total number of Shares in issue and
representing 1,567,800 Shares as at 31 March 2022.

Since the adoption of the Scheme, no share option has been granted
by the Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

From information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, during the year ended 31 March 2022, the
Company has maintained the public float required by the GEM Listing
Rules.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group has not made any charitable donations during the year
(2021: nil).

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors a confirmation of independence pursuant to
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all the independent
non-executive Directors were independent during the period from
their respective appointments and up to 31 March 2022.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions as set out in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements constituted connected transactions
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

As far as the transactions set out in note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements are concerned, the remuneration of the
Directors as determined pursuant to the service contracts/letters of
appointment entered into between the Directors and the Group were
connected transactions which were exempt from any disclosure and
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

The Directors have confirmed that the Company has complied with
the disclosure requirement in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company's articles of association provide that the Directors
are entitled to be indemnified out of the assets and profits of the
Company against all action, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which they may incur or sustain in the execution of the duties of their
office.

During the year, the Company has put in place as appropriate
insurance cover in respect of Directors” liabilities.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company maintains a high standard of corporate governance
practices. Details of the corporate governance practices adopted
by the Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report
on pages 22 to 36. The Directors believe the long term financial
performance as opposed to short term rewards is a corporate
governance objective. The Board would not take undue risks to make
short term gains at the expense of the long term objectives.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group is committed to observe the relevant laws and regulations.
The Group has appointed a compliance officer and an external
compliance adviser to oversee compliance with all relevant
regulations.

The Group has complied with all relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group throughout the year.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
is set out in the five years financial summary on page 204 of this
annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed with the
management and the Company’s external auditor the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group, and discussed the
auditing, internal control and financial reporting process including the
review of financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31 March
2020, 2021 and 2022 have been audited by Mazars CPA Limited
("Mazars”) who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of Mazars as the
auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

By Order of the Board
Chan Chi Yuen
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 June 2022
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mazars

To the shareholders of
Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Royal
Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 98 to 202, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2022,
and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Annual Report 2021/2022.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

BRETEE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional ZBEZzEZEHE AREZFEAUES
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated ZAHMZFGEMEREAMEEAREE L FE -
financial statements for the current period. These matters were HEEEEZELEGAVBERELDAERED
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial EEZERH EET@HZSEEIZTERE
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do cEEZEEBH TMEIEREABNEEHNETR
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We have determined ‘& /EBMERETS1H

the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be

communicated in our auditor’s report.

Key Audit Matters
BRENEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
REFPEERRENSTEZLSZE

Revenue recognition for provision of fitting
out and engineering services and design and
procurement of furnishings and related products
services

Refer to notes 4 and 7 to the consolidated financial
statements

The Group recorded revenue from contracts with
customers in relation to the provision of fitting out and
engineering services and design and procurement
of furnishings and related products services totaling
HK$33,785,000 for the year ended 31 March 2022.
REBEEZZT-__F=A=+—HLFE BEEERH
A R T2 AR DA R a% 5t R ER B 5 (R I AR B 7 o AR 745 8%
1546 #) iz & 733,785,000/ T ©

Revenue is recognised over time using the input method
or the output method, as appropriate.
Wz i A AL S A (RIBRAME) BER E R -

Revenue recognised over time using the input method is
based on the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction
of the performance obligations, by reference to the
cost incurred up to the end of the reporting period as a
percentage of estimated total costs.

WamE#E BEXBATKBHAREMEEMZ
T WREHERE AREENKAESIEE B2
B B LEBI - {58 PR 0 A DK B8 R ) RE R o

BRREHAZERIEZBRBUARRIREBRER
HEEmRE 2 kSRR

2t e M WE N 4 k7

Our key procedures, among others, included:
EEHEREAET HPEE:

o Understanding the design and implementation of
key internal controls over the revenue recognition
processes,

. TRYERERIE TS E AR R R

o Evaluating the key estimates and assumptions
adopted by the management in estimating total
revenue and total costs,

o MEBEEGEMFIANE REKRRAERANEZM
iR

o Evaluating, on a sample basis, whether the key terms
and conditions in contracts with customers and
subcontractors have been properly reflected in the
estimated total revenue and estimated total costs;

. AR BER  FEEREFP S BRI LHERA
2 BASIER RIS B E TR 25 e k48
fhEACAH

E o T EC FE

Sy
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continuec)

AREETEE (&)

Key Audit Matters
BRETEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
REFPEERRESFSEZLE

Revenue recognition for provision of fitting
out and engineering services and design and
procurement of furnishings and related products
services (Continued)

Revenue recognised over time using the output method
is based on direct measurements of the value of
services delivered or surveys of work performed by the
Group up to the end of the reporting period.

WamBE#EE BEXBHEREHREINRENER
% BEE£EEBTIEANENEE FRHLERERRE

=7
o ©

Management reviews and revises the estimates of
revenue, costs and variation orders for each contract
by comparing the most current budgeted amounts with
corresponding actual amounts as the contract work
progresses.

ERECRANIRERE BBAXBRKOHNESESE
REENER e SHRETEOH G K KR
RERIESHHE -

The measurement of revenue involved the use
of significant judgements and estimates by the
management. As a result, we identified this as a key
audit matter.

Kt 2PREBREFERERABMGT At - &%
HEBE ABRETEE

Annual Report 2021/2022,

REHZEERIBRBURRFREBREAR
HRERRE 2 WERR (&)

Discussing the status of projects with project
managers, to identify any variations of contracts and
claims, and to obtain explanations for fluctuations
in margins and changes in budget as well as the
expected recovery of variations; and

HRIE B IR 5T sm 18 B AR - AR E & R R B e E
&) WEIS A BN RS RBES(LRRE &
FEEEHTEIREWIER &

Comparing the revenue recognised, on a sample
basis, with reference to the certifications from
independent surveyors or performing recalculation of
the revenue recognised with reference to actual costs
incurred and estimated total costs.

MR GERN RS S BBV AEMMAEEZENS
E XM 2 R B A B ANl 5T H) 4R B AR E SR
A TERH -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continuec)

AREETEE (&)

Key Audit Matters
BRETEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
REFPEERRESFSEZLE

Valuation of investment property
Refer to notes 4 and 19 to the consolidated financial
Statements

As at 31 March 2022, the investment property held by the
Group was stated at fair value of HK$26,200,000.
RZZEZZF=A=+—H' ESEMFEIREY
¥ LAR £ 1826,200,0007% 7051 BR o

The fair value of investment property as at 31 March 2022
was assessed by the management with reference to the
valuation performed by an independent professional
valuer engaged by the Group.

ERE2E ESEZENBIEXGEMETHR
B FAHTRZZEZZF=A=1+—"HAKREVENAR
BE-

The valuation of investment property involved significant
judgements and estimates, including prevailing market
rents for comparable properties in the same location and
condition, expected future market rents and appropriate
discount rates. Therefore, we identified the valuation of
investment property as a key audit matter.
WEE G EY R EXRABANGE - 2358 R 2
REMRI LR E 2 RITMSES  BARKRTISES
MEENRREE-BAlt EEEREVENGEERTER
PSRBT EIH

REMEZMHE
2t WA M 24819

Our key procedures, among others, included:
EEZHREAET AP EE:

o Evaluating the competence, objectivity and capabilities

of the valuer;

o HWEMEMZBERN ZEEIREAZTTE:

Understanding the valuation techniques adopted by
the valuer and assessing the appropriateness of the
valuation techniques; and

TRREERMERAB 2 EERM L EEERTESE
g2 R

Evaluating the appropriateness of the key input data
used in the determination of fair value and comparing
the key input data to supporting evidence such as

recent market transactions.
J FHRETAARERER2BRERASER

U MEREABBREERE (ORISR

ZELLE -

T
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continuec)

AREETEE (&)

Key Audit Matters
BRETEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
REFPEERRESFSEZLE

Impairment assessment of intangible assets
Refer to notes 4 and 22 to the consolidated financial
Statements

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of intangible
assets included securities licenses of HK$4,566,000 and
cross-boundary vehicle licence of HK$1,211,000.
RIZEZZF=A=+—H EBEFEEROEEREES
182 BR /54,566,000 7T F2 A2 74 B2 i b4 AR /51,211,000 T ©

The Group is required to, at least annually, perform
impairment test of intangible assets that have indefinite
useful life.
EREEVEBFRAHBERSERRERFHAZ BT E
EEITRERR

The intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life
were allocated to related cash generating units (“CGUS")
for impairment assessments. The management engaged
an independent professional valuer to determine the
recoverable amount of CGUS, which was based on the
higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use
calculation.
HEMRAERBEAFHZELEESRERBENR S
EEEN([ReEEEM]) AETRENG -BEE
TR EZBVEENEMEEReELEUNATKRES
B ORBARBERELEXNARGERABENEYZ
SR

The fair value estimation and value in use calculation
involved significant judgements and estimations.
Therefore, the impairment assessment is considered as a
key audit matter.
ARBEGHEEABEAESREXNABNEE B
Ub R ERT AR AR =

Annual Report 2021/2022,

BEREERBGERETME
2R E B HRE N 4 Kk22

Our key procedures, among others, included:
EEHREAET AP EE:

o Assessing the identification of CGUs based on the
Group's accounting policies and our understanding of

the Group's business;
o B BSRENSHRELETEY
B SR EAEBL ZH#A

o Evaluating the competence, objectivity, capabilities of

the valuer;
. BEHEMZBITEN BEENREZTEE:

o Evaluating the reasonableness of the methodologies
and assumptions used by the valuer in determining

the recoverable amount of CGUS; and

o FHEMEMERERSELFMAKESREEMER

RIDEMBROEE N &

o Checking arithmetical accuracy of the calculations.
s MAEFERNEMERE-

BEEEEBNT
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continuec)

AREETEE (&)

Key Audit Matters
BEETEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
REBEFPEERRENBRZLE

Impairment assessment of construction equipment
and right-of-use assets in leasing of construction
equipment segment

Refer to notes 4, 18 and 20 to the consolidated financial
Statements

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of construction
equipment and right-of-use assets amounted to
HK$21,324,000 and HK$8,493,000 respectively (collectively
the “Leasing of Construction Equipment Segment Assets”)
are included in the cash-generating unit of leasing of
construction equipment segment.
RZEBEZZF=ZA=+—H BEXBREAEEE
(A [ HEREREIHEENMEREBES A
21,324,0007% 7T 58,493,000/ 7T ¥ B HERN HE B2 R
DEPREEABMN AP -

The Group is required to assess whether an indicator
has appeared that may affect the value of the Leasing
of Construction Equipment Segment Assets or such
indicator affecting the impairment loss of these assets
previously made has no longer been in existence.
EREAT G EHERERB O N EEBENIE
BREDHR B2 EEAEELNREREE
KRR NFE -

Management carried out an impairment assessment for
the Leasing of Construction Equipment Segment Assets
which have an impairment indicator. The recoverable
amount of the Leasing of Construction Equipment
Segment Assets is determined by value in use calculation
using discounted cash flow projections based on the
financial forecasts approved by management.

EREHNARBEEENHERERBE Y HEELEITR
B - HERERBE S HEEN T KRB B IREE
BEMEFAMRRESRERATEFTRAEENTKE

RIEEE

The assessment of impairment indicator and value in
use calculation involved significant judgements and
estimations. Therefore, the impairment assessment of the
Leasing of Construction Equipment Segment Assets is
considered as a key audit matter.

BEEEREREEFE Y REXABMMEE - it
HERERB O BEERENEHERBRETRE-

REEZERBEIB2EZERBREAEEENRETG

BRI A BRI 34 - 1820

Our key procedures, among others, included:
EEBRENER HPEE:

Understanding management’s process for identifying
impairment indicators,
TREBREBRIBEEZRERE:

Evaluating the judgements made by management in
identifying impairment indicators;
HE IR B BB E 15 1R I P 1E &) 2 B 1F AT AL

Reviewing management’'s impairment assessment
of the Leasing of Construction Equipment Segment
Assets;

EHERBYUHERERBY MBEENRMENG:

Verifying the external sources data used by
management in value in use calculation of the Leasing
of Construction Equipment Segment Assets;
BREEEENTEEERERBH N EECRAEER
Pt R B9 SMNER ROIR B L

Enquiring of management in relation to key
assumptions in their business plan and evaluating
the key assumptions applied by comparing them to
historical information and our understanding of latest
market information and conditions;

AMEIEE A EB P ARRE WA HE
R ERRBEMEREHMISESMBERN T FEETL
B AT EEANERERR (KR ARENEFR
?L? .

=) ;

Checking on a sample basis the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used by management in
value in use calculation; and

mEREEEEECREESEDMERNE AR
Y ZERE1E N ARREIE A0

Checking arithmetical accuracy of the calculations.
WA E R O H AR -

E o T EC FE
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all the information in
the 2021/2022 annual report of the Company but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
Statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group's financial

reporting process. The audit committee assists the directors in
discharging their responsibility in this regard.

Annual Report 2021/2022.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Companies Ordinance
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

RBMRET AU BBRRAEZE
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (continued)

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Annual Report 2021/2022.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 24 June 2022

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is:

So Chun Wai

Practising Certificate number: P07513
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f oy 4B A B L Ath 4 i WA 6 R

Year ended 31 March 2022 #% —F— —4# = H=+—HIFF/&

2022 2021
—E-CF T —%F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
P &E FExT FHET
Revenue U #5 7 57,660 66,807
Cost of sales SHERA (47,758) (55,149)
Gross profit EH 9,902 11,658
Other income H g A 9 952 1,818
Other gains, net HE ke JF5E 10 1,266 613
Impairment of goodwill EESNERIE! 21 - (1,867)
Impairment of intangible assets B EERE 22 (690) (8,682)
Allowance for ECL on loan and interest ~ JEWEZ R A EFEHEE
receivables EE R (377) (252)
(Allowance for) Reversal of allowance for & 5 EUZIBTE Bz B k518
ECL on trade receivables (BB B (4,350) 13
Allowance for ECL on contract assets ERHEEEHEEBERSB (14) (26)
Change in fair value of investment property 1% & ¥ 2 N B & 19 (800) 1,400
Administrative expenses THAX (26,203) (24,399)
Finance costs B AR 1 (622) (1,128)
Loss before tax MRBLATE 1B 13 (20,936) (20,852)
Income tax (expense) credit FER (FI) o] # 12 (132) 1,425
Loss for the year attributable to owners of AR Al #EH A E(LFE B
the Company (21,068) (19,427)
Other comprehensive loss for the Z&EHMWE2HEEIER
year
ltem that may be reclassified subsequently H 1€ r[pEE R 7 B E 1872
to profit or l0ss: EH :
Exchange differences arising on BMERINEBEECEL 8
translation of foreign operations (6) (10)
Total comprehensive loss for the year RABIHBAELRFEZEERE
attributable to owners of the Company ~ #2%E (21,074) (19,437)
Loss per share: FREE:
Basic and diluted (HKS$) EARR#EE (BT) 17 0.1) 0.2)

The notes on pages 104 to 202 are an integral part of the consolidated ~ Z104Z 52028 KM s B E 46 B 5 Hx A48

financial statements. A EB D o

Annual Report 2021/2022.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

A B A 5 IR DL 2

Asat31March2022 R=-FE—-——F—-H=+—H

2022 2021
—=E=-= —E - —F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BT FBT FHET
Non-current assets ERBEE

Property, plant and equipment W BB NEE 18 22,400 30,865
Investment property "EYE 19 26,200 27,000
Right-of-use assets FRHELE 20 13,919 12,904
Goodwill GES 21 = -
Intangible assets mpEE 22 5,777 6,467
68,296 77,236

Current assets REBEE
Loan and interest receivables JEWE A& 23 5,451 5,558
Inventories FE 24 1,087 1,139
Trade and other receivables B 5 RHMEWFRE 25 17,259 16,658
Contract assets BREE 26(a) 3,931 2,574
Cash and bank balances Re RIRITES 27 6,190 16,728
33,918 42,657

current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 N EME N IE 28 12,929 11,579
Contract liabilities EHEE 26(b) 229 109
Income tax payable FERTFTISHE 93 93
Lease liabilities HEaE 29 6,643 5,872
19,894 17,653
Net current assets FRBEE 14,024 25,004
Total assets less current liabilities #EERARBER 82,320 102,240




ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

A B B 5 IR DL

Asat31March2022 R=-FE—=——F=-H=+—H

2022 2021
—E-CF —E - —F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BT FET FAT
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Deferred tax liabilities REFRIEEE 30 1,193 1,061
Lease liabilities HEARE 29 8,717 7,695
9,910 8,756
NET ASSETS BEE 72,410 93,484
Equity e
Share capital A& N 31 205,523 205,523
Reserves ] (133,113) (112,039)
TOTAL EQUITY 4R 2 72,410 93,484

The consolidated financial statements on pages 98 to 202 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 24
June 2022 and signed on its behalf by

Chan Chi Yuen
Director
EF

The notes on pages 104 to 202 are an integral part of the consolidated
financial statements.
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CEERERER LA

CON SOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN E@ITY
GE O RE LS s B R

Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

Share Accumulated Exchange
capital losses reserve Total
&N RitEBE EAEE Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
(Note 31) (Note)
(PH3E31) (PH3E)
At 1 April 2020 RZZE-_ZEFWPA—H 175,595 (92,464) (138) 82,993
Loss for the year REEEE - (19,427) - (19,427)
other comprehensive loss Hth2HEER
Exchange differences arising on BEBIEBEEZES
translation of foreign operations Z - - (10) (10
Total comprehensive loss for the year RNEEETHEEBLE - (19,427) (10) (19,437)
Transactions with owners HEBAZRS
Contributions and distributions: AERDE
Issue of new shares upon right issue, 1R IR L IE B 175 AR 7 -
net of transaction costs HB R ZHA 29,928 - - 29,928
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RZZEZ—F=RA=+—H
EAZEZ—FMOHA—H 205,523 (111,891) (148) 93,484
Loss for the year REFEE - (21,068) - (21,068)
Other comprehensive loss Hth2HEER
Exchange differences arising on MEBIEBEEZELR
translation of foreign operations =5 = - (6) (6)
Total comprehensive loss for the year AEEEHEEBELEE - (21,068) (6) (21,074)
At 31 March 2022 R-ZBE-ZHE=A=1+—H 205,523 (132,959) (154) 72,410

Note: Exchange reserve of the Group comprises all foreign exchange differences B 5 -
arising from translation of the financial statements of the Group's foreign

AEBZERFHERERREAEBEIINES 2
BMERMELHNAEINEZR - FHBRESEMT

operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy MERMFEIME 2 SRR EE -
set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.
The notes on pages 104 to 202 are an integral part of the consolidated ~ F104Z 52028 KM s Bz Z 46 B KR A4
financial statements. FKER S
& —F S FEC CFERE



102

ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

WaBlama®

Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

2022 2021
—E-CF T —%F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
P &E FExT FHET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KETH
Loss before tax B Bt Bl B3 18 (20,936) (20,852)
Adjustments for; FEE -
Impairment of goodwill EERE 21 - 1,867
Impairment of intangible assets mEERE 22 690 8,682
Change in fair value of investment KEMENTFEEZY
property 19 800 (1,400)
Allowance for (Reversal of allowance for) & ZEWFIETEEE IR
ECL on trade receivables R (B8 6(b) 4,350 (13)
Allowance for ECL on contract assets EHEERBEEBERE oD 14 26
Allowance for ECL on loan and interest JEWRER R F BB EEE
receivables BE 6(b) 377 252
Write-back of other payables Hth & 5 FRIB [E] B 10 - (135)
Depreciation of property, plant and M MR RREBITE
equipment 18 8,109 5,555
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CAREERE 20 6,570 6,991
Finance costs Bl & R R 11 622 1,128
Bank interest income RITH B WA 9 (1) (1)
Compensation gain on disposal/write-off B2 & /iR EmE kR
of construction equipment 10 (1,266) (478)
Operating cash flows before movements 2iE& ¢ EEI2 CLEBERE
in working capital (671) 1,622
Changes in working capital: EEEEY
Inventories T 52 (312
Loan and interest receivables FERE K FIE (270) 326
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H h FEWGRIR (2,774) (1,851)
Trade and other payables B 5 M E A e A 1,331 3,984
Contract assets EREE (1,371) (2,143)
Contract liabilities aHEE 120 (492)
Cash (used in) generated from operations #&£%& (FTA)FIBZRE (3,583) 1,134
Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded el HABFSH  F58E - 2
Net cash (used in) from operating BEER (FTA)MBZFES
activities (3,583) 1,136

Annual Report 2021/2022,



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HAaBlaiiag

Year ended 31 March 2022 #% —F— —4#=H=+—HIFF/&

2022 2021
—E-CF T —%F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
P &E FExT FHET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETEH
Purchases of property, plant and EEMHE BN
equipment (657) (18,096)
Compensation received from disposal/  BRE iR EREHE
write-off of construction equipment FriS 508 95 996
Bank interest received EYERTTHIE 1 1
Net cash used in investing activities REFEFAZEFRE (561) (17,099)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEH
Additions of unsecured other borrowings 3 1% f # 48 = b (£ & - 18,000
Repayment of unsecured other borrowings (& i& £ I b (£ & - (18,000)
Interest paid ERHE 33(b) (527) (1,128)
Repayment of lease liabilities ERHEaE 33(b) (5,869) (6,826)
Proceeds from issue of new ordinary BITH L BRATS A - bk
shares, net of expenses BH - 29,928
Net cash (used in) from financing BMEEE (FfTA)MBZFES
activities (6,396) 21,974
Net (decrease) increase in cash and BEE&RERESZEYF
cash equivalents (R 2 ) 1 hn (10,540) 6,011
cash and cash equivalents at the FUzESRBESEEY
beginning of the year 16,728 10,698
Effect of foreign exchange rate ExSE &
changes 2 19
Cash and cash equivalents at the FRZESRBESEEY
end of the year 27 6,190 16,728

The notes on pages 104 to 202 are an integral part of the consolidated ~ 104Z= 5E202E i it A2 S 456 M RE A
financial statements. BER 5 o

SE - E - FERE

103



104

ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
%o £1 S 5 e A B i

Year ended 31 March 2022 #% —F— —4# = H=+—HIFF/&

GENERAL INFORMATION

Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in Hong Kong as a company with limited
liability and its shares are listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of
the registered office and principal place of business of the
Company is disclosed in the corporate information section of
the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally
engaged in:

(i) provision of design, fitting out and engineering and
procurement of furnishings and related products
services;

(i) leasing of construction equipment and provision of
related installation services,

(i) sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare wines; and
(iv)  provision of financial services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands (“HK$'000") of Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), unless
otherwise stated, which is also the functional currency of the
Company and its Hong Kong subsidiaries.

ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs")

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new/
revised HKFRSs, which include HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS(s)"), amendments and interpretations
("Int(s)"), issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA") for the first time.

Amendments to HKAS 39,  Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
HKFRSS 4, 7,9 and 16 Phase 2

Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions Beyond 30 June
2021

Annual Report 2021/2022.

—REH

CRERERERAR (KRR RER
AMAERETAR  EROHAEBTEBAR
ZFARAR ([BZAH]) GEMET - AR
AlzaMfEE R EEE B BENA
FHRZRRER —#e

ARR A —BREERAG ARAIRHE
WEAR (ATHEA [ARER]) 2 2%
=S

() RERT RERTERARRBREA
MEABERRY

(i) MEREREBLREHBBZERS:

(i) HBEH: R
(v)  REZEART -

BIERERENR  ZEFRMBHRIATE
T (IEx]) ([TExTEY BRARE
REBZEWBRARZNEE -

A REITZERBUBR

FEF
HEA(FREMBHREEL])

5 M

FE AREEEREANTIAEESR
R ([BEGHMAG ) BB 2T/
RETEBUHREER (BRRBBUHR
SRR FEEHER ([FEGHER])
AT REE ([RE]) -

BB TR F 3995 - R B AR
BB IS WS R B —FREER
PR FTH - FOH
B8R ZIERT

BN RS %A WoE——4
F1650 ZAEET NA=TH

1% E220197F
A Jm = R AR
2SR
%



CIEERER AR 2 A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
%o £ S e A B

Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRSs 4, 7, 9 and 16:
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2

The amendments address issues that might affect financial
reporting when a company replaces the old interest rate
benchmark with an alternative benchmark rate as a result
of the interest rate benchmark reform (the “Reform”). The
amendments complement those issued in November 2019 and
relate to:

o changes to contractual cash flows —a company will not
have to derecognise or adjust the carrying amount of
financial instruments for changes required by the Reform,
but will instead update the effective interest rate to
reflect the change to the alternative benchmark rate;

o hedge accounting — a company will not have to
discontinue its hedge accounting solely because it makes
changes required by the Reform, if the hedge meets
other hedge accounting criteria; and

. disclosures — a company will be required to disclose
information about new risks arising from the Reform and
how it manages the transition to alternative benchmark
rates.

Amendments to HKFRS 16: COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions Beyond 30 June 2021

The amendments exempt lessees from having to consider
individual lease contracts to determine whether rent
concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the
COVID-19 pandemic are lease modifications and allow lessees
to account for such rent concessions as if they were not lease
modifications. It applies to COVID-19-related rent concessions
that reduce lease payments due on or before 30 June 2022. The
amendments do not affect lessors.

The adoption of the above amendments does not have any
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

% 0 S B A B

Year ended 31 March 2022 #% —F— —4# = H=+—HIFF/&

2. ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

New/revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new/revised
HKFRSS, that have been issued but are not yet effective.

Amendments to Proceeds before Intended Use '
HKAS 16

Amendments to Cost of Fulfilling a Contract '
HKAS 37

Amendments to Reference to the Conceptual
HKFRS 3 Framework

Annual Improvements  2078-2020 Cycle
to HKFRSs

Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as
HKAS 1 Current or Non-current ?

Amendments to Disclosure of Accounting Policies ?
HKAS 1

Amendments to Definition of Accounting Estimates ?
HKAS 8

Amendments to Deferred Tax related to Assets and
HKAS 12 Liabilities arising from a Single

Transaction ?

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts ?

Amendment to Initial Application of HKFRS 17
HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 — Comparative

Information ?

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture 3

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

8 The effective date to be determined

The Group is in the process of making a detailed assessment
of the possible impact on the future adoption of the new/
revised HKFRSs. So far the management is of the opinion that
the adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs will not have any
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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CEERERER LA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 1 0 5 i i

Year ended 31 March 2022 #% —F— —4#=H=+—HIFF/&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the Companies
Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the
“GEM Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a basis consistent with the accounting policies adopted in the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2021 except for the adoption of the new/revised HKFRSS in note
2 to the consolidated financial statements that are relevant to
the Group and effective from the current year.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for investment property that is
measured at fair value as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted by the
Group is set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Ccompany (i.e. its subsidiaries). If a subsidiary prepares its
financial statements using accounting policies other than
those adopted in the consolidated financial statements for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances, appropriate
adjustments are made to that subsidiary’s financial statements
in preparing the consolidated financial statements to ensure
conformity with the Group’s accounting policies.

Control is achieved where the Group has: () the power over
the investee; (i) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and (iii) the ability to use its
power over the investee to affect the amount of the Group's
returns. When the Group has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, power over the investee may be obtained
through: (i) a contractual arrangement with other vote holders;
(i) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; (iii)
the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights; or (iv)
a combination of the above, based on all relevant facts and
circumstances.

3.
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ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 7 0 5 it o i

The Company reassess whether it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of these elements of control stated above. Consolidation
of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control of the
subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, profits or loss, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
entities of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest determined at the date
when control is lost and (i) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any
non-controlling interests at the date when control is lost. The
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to the disposed subsidiary are accounted for on
the same basis as would be required if the parent had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Any investment
retained in the former subsidiary and any amounts owed by or
to the former subsidiary are accounted for as a financial asset,
associate, joint venture or others as appropriate from the date
when control is lost.

Allocation of total comprehensive income

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of the
Company and the non-controlling interest. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interest even if this results
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Annual Report 2021/2022.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXEGFHBE#®)
(Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued) LERBEE (&)
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CEERERER LA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 1 0 5 i i

Yearended 31 March 2022 BiZE—E=—4#=H=+—HIFFEF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXEGFHBE#®)
(Continued)
Business combinations EBEH

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations except for business combinations
under common control. The consideration transferred for
the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the
fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-controlling
interests in the acquiree that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s
net assets in the event of liquidation are measured at either fair
value or the present ownership interests’ proportionate share
in the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the carrying
amount of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date;
any gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are
recognised in profit and loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is
deemed to be an asset or a liability is recognised in accordance
with HKFRS 9 either in profit and loss or as a change to other
comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that is
classified as equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.
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ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao 7 A 205 A Pl

Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXRGFHEBX#®
(Continueq)
Goodwill e

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of
any previous equity interest in the acquiree at the acquisition
date over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration transferred,
non-controlling interest recognised and previously held interest
measured is less than the fair value of the net assets of the
subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference is recognised directly in profit or l0ss.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is allocated to each of the cash-
generating units ("CGUs"), or groups of CGUS, that is expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or
group of units to which the goodwill is allocated represents the
lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored
for internal management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the
operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
a potential impairment. The carrying amount of the CGU
containing the goodwill is compared to the recoverable amount,
which is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs
of disposal. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an
expense and is not subsequently reversed.

Subsidiaries

In the Company’s statement of financial position, which
presented within these notes, investments in subsidiaries are
stated at cost less impairment losses. The carrying amount of
the investment is reduced to its recoverable amount on an
individual basis, if it is higher than the recoverable amount. The
results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividends received and receivable.
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Segment reporting nDEHE
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with KEDHHERARERMEZLEREE
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision- IREAIRER T N — B (B KRS R E

maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the executive
directors that makes strategic decisions.

Annual Report 2021/2022.

MATEZRTIBELEREE AENKE
R FHE R E D EPRIR -



CIEERER AR 2 A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A o B 25 e A i

Year ended 31 March 2022 #% —F— —4#=H=+—HIFF/&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers within
HKFRS 15
Nature of goods or services
The nature of the goods or services provided by the Group is as
follows:

- Sales of fine and rare wines
- Provision of fitting out and engineering services

- Provision of design and procurement of furnishing and
related products services

- Provision of installation service for construction
equipment

- Provision of financial services except for providing
finance

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods or
services promised in a contract with a customer and identifies
as a performance obligation each promise to transfer to the
customer either:

(@ agood or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that
is distinct; or

(b) a series of distinct goods or services that are
substantially the same and that have the same pattern of
transfer to the customer.

A good or service that is promised to a customer is distinct if
both of the following criteria are met:

(@  the customer can benefit from the good or service either
on its own or together with other resources that are
readily available to the customer (i.e. the good or service
is capable of being distinct); and

(b)  the Group’s promise to transfer the good or service
to the customer is separately identifiable from other
promises in the contract (i.e. the promise to transfer
the good or service is distinct within the context of the
contract).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within

HKFRS 15 (Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring a promised good or
service (i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred
when (or as) the customer obtains control of that asset. The
Group transfers control of a good or service over time and,
therefore, satisfies a performance obligation and recognises
revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

(@ the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group's performance as the
Group performs;

(b) the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset (for example, work in progress) that the customer
controls as the asset is created or enhanced:; or

() the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the Group
satisfies the performance obligation at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the promised asset. In determining
when the transfer of control occurs, the Group considers the
concept of control and such indicators as legal title, physical
possession, right to payment, significant risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset, and customer acceptance.

The Group bases its estimates of return on historical results,
taking into consideration the type of customers, the type of
transactions and the specifics of each arrangement. Revenue is
recognised as follows:

Annual Report 2021/2022.
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Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EREFHEE 2
(Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within

W TSR ()
ERMBRELANFEISRETEFEN

HKFRS 15 (Continued) W (&)
Timing of revenue recognition (Continued) YWeas HERIFE (&)
i) Sales of fine and rare wines ) FEE

The Group sells fine and rare wines. Revenue from sales
of fine and rare wines is recognised at a point in time
when control of the products has been transferred, being
when the products are delivered to the customers, and
there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
customers’ acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs
when the products have been delivered to the specified
location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been
transferred to the customers, and either the customers
has accepted the products in accordance with the
sales contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed,
or the Group has objective evidence that all criteria for
acceptance have been satisfied.

Provision of fitting out and engineering services/Provision

of design and procurement of furnishing and related
products services/Provision of construction equipment
installation services

A contract with a customer is classified by the Group as
a service contract when the contract relates to work on
assets under the control of the customer and therefore
the Group's activities create or enhance an asset under
the customer’s control.

When the outcome of a service contract can be
reasonably measured, revenue from the contract is
recognised over time using either the output method (i.e.
based on direct measurements of the value of services
delivered or measurement of work performed and the
estimated total revenue for the contracts entered into
by the Group) or the input method (i.e. based on the
proportion of the actual inputs deployed to date as
compared to the estimated total inputs), as appropriate,
to measure the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the performance obligation.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EREFHEE 2
(Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within

W R ()
ERMBRELANFEISRETEFEN

HKFRS 15 (Continued) W (&)
Timing of revenue recognition (Continued) YWeas HERIFE (&)

ii)

Provision of fitting out and engineering services/Provision

of design and procurement of furnishing and related
products services/Provision of construction equipment
installation services (Continued)

If the projects have no alternative use to the Group
contractually and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment from the customers for performance completed
to date, the Group satisfies the performance obligation
over time and therefore, recognises revenue over time
in accordance with the input method for measuring
Progress.

The likelihood of contract variations, claims and
liquidated damages are taken into account in making
these estimates, such that revenue is only recognised
to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur.

When the outcome of the contract cannot be reasonably
measured, revenue is recognised only to the extent
of contract costs incurred that are expected to be
recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract are
estimated to exceed the remaining amount of the
consideration under the contract, then a provision is
recognised.

Annual Report 2021/2022.

ii)

REEE R TI2RE IR R N

BREREMERRY SRR E
RHEREKRYE (&)

HWHEBKRANHASEEERAZA
AEBERVAITERNAES D TK
BB #) &R R P YRERIR AR E
BEERREETREOET HURE
SER A AR E B R IA o

BHEE RRIRENBESOE
MRELZ SR REEE LER
EHRR R MESERATET S AR
RO T & R

BEAHOMNBERTEAETER ZF
FEAM A KRR TREE & KOy

TR -

i P ART BF FR b 5 S BB KO AR 3
BHRENGERE JRIRE-



CIEERER AR 2 A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao 7 A 205 A Pl

Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EREFHEE 2
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within
HKFRS 15 (Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)

W R ()
ERMBRELANFEISRETEFEN
Wz (4)

Wz FER BT (48

i) Provision of fitting out and engineering services/Provision i) IREERERTIRERE RERTRE
of design and procurement of furnishing and related ﬁ%%ﬁ&*ﬁﬁﬁéuuﬂﬁi‘“/m%”‘“%
products services/Provision of construction equipment RELZERY (&)
installation services (Continued)

The principal input applied in the input method is: BAEHEROEZHAR:

iif)

- Provision of fitting out and engineering services/
provision of design and procurement of furnishing
and related products services: costs incurred.

The principal input applied in the output method is:

- Provision of fitting out and engineering services/
provision of design and procurement of furnishing
and related products services (only applicable
when surveyor was appointed): surveys of
performance completed to date.

- Installation services income from construction
equipment: square meters of areas completed to

date.

Provision of financial services, except for providing

finance
commission income for broking business is recorded as
income at a point in time on a trade date basis.

Underwriting commission income, sub-underwriting
income, placing commission and sub-placing commission
are recognised as income at a point in time in
accordance with the terms of the underlying agreement
or deal mandate when relevant significant act has been
completed.

Proof of funds commission and clearing and handling
fee income are recognised at a point in time when the
relevant transactions have been arranged or the relevant
services have been rendered.

Management fee is recognised over time when the
relevant services have been rendered.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method. For financial assets measured at amortised
cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is
applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit-
impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate is applied
to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of 10ss
allowance) of the asset.

Rental income

Rental income from operating leases of construction equipment
and investment property is recognised when the assets are let
out and on the straight-line basis over the lease term.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a
customer before the customer pays consideration or before
payment is due, the contract is presented as a contract asset,
excluding any amounts presented as a receivable. Conversely,
if a customer pays consideration, or the Group has a right to
an amount of consideration that is unconditional, before the
Group transfers a good or service to the customer, the contract
is presented as a contract liability when the payment is made
or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). A receivable is
the Group’s right to consideration that is unconditional or
only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

For a single contract or a single set of related contracts, either
a net contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
Contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts
are not presented on a net basis.

For some of the contracts for fitting out and engineering
services, design and procurement of furnishing services
businesses, the Group receives from the customer the whole
or some of the contractual payments before the services are
completed or when the goods are delivered (i.e. the timing
of revenue recognition for such transactions). The Group
recognises a contract liability until it is recognised as revenue.
During that period, any significant financing components, if
applicable, will be included in the contract liability and will be
expensed as accrued unless the interest expense is eligible for
capitalisation.
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Yearended 31 March 2022 #tZ—F = —4#F=H=+—HIFZ
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXEHEE#E)
(Continued)
Contract assets and contract liabilities (Continued) EHNEERGHERE (&)

On the other hand, for some of the contracts for fitting out and
engineering services, design and procurement of furnishing
and related products services businesses, in accordance with
the standard payment schedules, payments are not due or
received from the customer until the services are completed or
when the goods are delivered. However, for such transactions,
revenue is recognised over time and therefore, a contract
asset is recognised until it becomes a receivable or payments
are received. During that period, any significant financing
components, if applicable, will be included in the contract asset
and recognised as interest income.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease
at inception of the contract. A contract is, or contains, a lease if
the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to short-term
leases and low-value asset leases. Lease payments associated
with these leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

The Group has elected not to separate non-lease components
from lease components, and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a
single lease component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise to a
separate component are considered to be part of the total
consideration that is allocated to the separately identified
components of the contract.
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The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at
the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which
comprises:

(@ the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

(b) any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

(c) any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

(d an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying asset, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to
produce inventories.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost
less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the
lease liability. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful
lives of the right-of-use assets (unless the lease transfers
ownership of the underlying asset to the Group by the end of
the lease term or if the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects

Yearended 31 March2022 #tE—F = —4#F=H=+—HIFFZ
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXEHEE#E)
(Continued)
Leases (Continued) HE (&)
As lessee (continued) EHEBAN (E)
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that the Group will exercise a purchase option — in which case RAFHAGTRITE) T

depreciation is provided over the estimated useful life of the

underlying asset) as follows:

Office premises 3.3 years /NEL S 3.3F
Warehouse 6 years B 65

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of
the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement
date of the contract.
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Yearended 31 March 2022 #tZ—F = —4#F=H=+—HIFZ
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXEHEE#E)
(Continued)
Leases (Continued) HE (&)
As lessee (continued) EHEBAN (E)

The lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise the following payments for the right to use the
underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid at the
commencement date:

(@ fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

(b)  variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate;

(c0 amounts expected to be payable under residual value
guarantees;

(d exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

(e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, or where it is not readily determinable, the
incremental borrowing rate of the lessee.

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability and by
reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments
made.

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised discount rate
when there are changes to the lease payments arising from a
change in the lease term or the reassessment of whether the
Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option.

The Group recognises the amount of the remeasurement of
the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
If the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced to
zero and there is a further reduction in the measurement of the
lease liability, the Group recognises any remaining amount of
the remeasurement in profit or loss.
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Year ended 31 March 2022

R E = A= —HIFFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Leases (Continued)
As lessee (continued)
A lease modification is accounted for as a separate lease if

the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

the consideration for the lease increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

When a lease modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease, at the effective date of the lease modification,

@)

the Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract on the basis of relative stand-alone price as
described above.

the Group determines the lease term of the modified
contract.

the Group remeasures the lease liability by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate
over the revised lease term.

for lease modifications that decrease the scope of the
lease, the Group accounts for the remeasurement of the
lease liability by decreasing the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset to reflect the partial or full termination
of the lease and recognising any gain or loss relating to
the partial or full termination of the lease in profit or loss.

for all other lease modifications, the Group accounts
for the remeasurement of the lease liability by making a
corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Yearended 31 March 2022 #tZ—F = —4#F=H=+—HIFZ
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXEGFHBE#®)
(Continued)
Leases (Continued) HE (&)
As lessor EHBHEA

The Group classifies each of its leases as either a finance lease
or an operating lease at the inception date of the lease. A lease
is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying
asset. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

As lessor - operating lease
The Group applies the derecognition and impairment
requirements in HKFRS 9 to the operating lease receivables.

A modification to an operating lease is accounted for as a new
lease from the effective date of the modification, considering
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original
lease as part of the lease payments for the new lease.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in
the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchanges prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or
loss for the period except for exchange differences arising
on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of
which gains and losses are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income, in which cases, the exchange
differences are also recognised directly in other comprehensive
income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 7 0 5 it o i

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the year.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of exchange reserve.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of past events, when it is
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and when a
reliable estimate of the amount of obligation can be made.
Expenditures for which a provision has been recognised are
charged against the related provision in the year in which the
expenditures are incurred. Provisions are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current
best estimate. Where the effect of the time value of money
is material, the amount provided is the present value of the

Yearended 31 March2022 #tE—F = —4#F=H=+—HIFFZ
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXEHEE#E)
(Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued) I (4E)
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expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. R o

Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed, the

reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only

when the reimbursement is virtually certain.

Share capital B <

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. TR BEARER-
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Yearended 31 March 2022 #tZ—F = —4#F=H=+—HIFZ
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXEHEE#E)
(Continued)
Employee benefits EEREF

Defined contribution plans

The obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement scheme in Hong Kong are recognised as an expense
in profit or loss as incurred. The assets of the scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"), the employees of the Group's
entities established in the PRC are required to participate
in defined contribution retirement plans organised by local
governments. Contributions to these plans are expensed
in profit or loss as incurred and other than these monthly
contributions, the Group has no further obligation for the
payment of retirement benefits to its employees.

No forfeited contributions for the above plans may be used by
the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in
the period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that
service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee
benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related
service.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because it excludes items of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Annual Report 2021/2022.
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Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXRGFHEBX#®
(Continued)
Taxation (Continued) BilE (&)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use. Repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss
during the year in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
property, plant and equipment to their residual value, if any,
using the straight line method over their estimated useful lives
or depreciation rates as follows:
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Leasehold improvements Unexpired lease term or HEMERE &) R 1H A 3k

useful life of 3 years SER LA H
Furniture and fixtures 3 years REMBETEE 3F
Office equipment 3 years N L] 3%
Motor vehicles 3years RE 3F
Construction equipment 5 years BRERE 54

The estimated useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or 10ss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Investment property is initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment property is measured at its fair value.
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment property are included in profit or loss for the period
in which they arise. The fair value of investment property is
based on a valuation by an independent valuer who holds a
recognised professional qualification and has recent experience
in the location and category of property being valued.

Intangible assets other than goodwill

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated
at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the estimated
useful life is finite) and impairment losses.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss or a straight line basis over the asset’s
estimated useful lives.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives
are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the useful
life of an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed annually to
determine whether events and circumstances continue to
support the indefinite useful life assessment for that asset. If
not, the change in the useful life assessment from the date
of change is in accordance with the policy for amortisation of
intangible assets with finite lives as set out above.

Annual Report 2021/2022.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EREFHEE 2
(Continued)
Investment property REY%
Investment property is property held by owner or lessee, to WEMERARBAES N HWENEEM
earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. BREAARFFBE 2
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Yearended 31 March 2022 BZE —F— —#F=H=+—HIF&Z
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EAXSFHEE®
(Continueq)
Impairment of non-financial assets, other than FERMEENRE (FEUMN)
goodwiill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews internal
and external sources of information to assess whether there
is any indication that its property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets or right-of-use assets may be impaired or
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or
may be reduced. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated, based on the higher of its
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In addition,
the Group tests its intangible assets that have indefinite useful
lives and intangible assets that are not yet available for use
for impairment by estimating their recoverable amount on an
annual basis and whenever there is an indication that those
assets may be impaired. Where it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the smallest group of assets that
generates cash flows independently (i.e. cash-generating unit).

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its
recoverable amount. Impairment loss is recognised as expense
in profit or loss immediately.

A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior
years. Reversal of impairment l0ss is recognised as income in
profit or loss immediately.

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement of
financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand and
short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term
deposits, as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.
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Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument on a trade date basis.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Yearended 31 March2022 #tE—F = —4#F=H=+—HIFFZ
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXEHEE#E)
(Continued)
Financial instruments SRTE
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Financial assets SRMEE
Classification oy

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either
through other comprehensive income, or through profit
or loss); and

. those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the
cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either
be recorded in profit or l0ss or other comprehensive income.
For investments in equity instruments that are not held for
trading, this will depend on whether the Group has made
an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to
account for the equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets changes.
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Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. The Group derecognises
a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash
flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing
involvement and recognises an associated liability. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise
the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at
its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or
loss are expensed in profit or 10ss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the
Group's business model for managing the asset and the cash
flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement
categories into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured
at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using the effective
interest method. Any gain or 10ss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in
other gains/(losses) together with foreign exchange gains
and losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate
line item in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #% —F— —4# = H=+—HIFF/&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXREFBER#)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

. Fair value through other comprehensive income: Assets
that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and
for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest,
are measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“OCI"). Movements in the carrying amount
are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest income and foreign
exchange gains and losses which are recognised in profit
or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised in
other gains/(losses). Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using the effective
interest method. Foreign exchange gains and losses
are presented in other gains/(losses) and impairment
expenses are presented as separate line item in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

. Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not meet
the criteria for amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income are measured at fair value
through profit or loss. A gain or 10ss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at fair value through profit
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and presented net
within other gains/(losses) in the period in which it arises.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses (“ECL") associated with its debt instruments
carried at amortised cost and contract assets. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk.

Impairment on financial assets measured at amortised cost
other than trade receivables is measured as either 12-month
ECL or lifetime ECL, depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a
significant increase in credit risk of a receivable has occurred
since initial recognition, then impairment is measured as
lifetime ECL.

Annual Report 2021/2022.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment (Continued)

When there is a significant increase in credit risk or the
proceeds receivables are not settled in accordance with the
terms stipulated in the agreements, management considers
these receivables as underperforming or non-performing and
impairment is measured as lifetime ECL.

Measurement of ECL
ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the
present value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of the
financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to
an entity under the contract and the cash flows that the entity
expects to receive. For a lease receivable, the cash flows used
for determining the ECL should be consistent with the cash
flows used in measuring the lease receivable in accordance
with HKFRS 16.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument
while 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped based on the following one or more
shared credit risk characteristics:
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment (Continued)

Measurement of ECL (Continued)

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk and loss since
initial recognition. The resulting changes in the loss allowance
are recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the
financial instrument, except in the case of debt instruments
measured at fair value through OCI, the loss allowance is
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the fair value reserve (recycling).

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that the Group may not receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full if the financial
instrument that meets any of the following criteria.

(i) information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group); or

(i) there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment (Continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. In particular, the following information is taken into
account in the assessment:

the debtor’s failure to make payments of principal or
interest on the due dates;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external or internal credit rating (if

available);

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

. actual or expected changes in the technological, market,
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A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) it has a low risk of default;

(i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(i) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in
the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.

As detailed in note 6(b) to the consolidated financial
statements, bank balances and other receivables are
determined to have low credit risk.

Simplified approach of ECL

For trade receivables, operating lease receivables and contract
assets, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating
ECL. The Group recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime
ECL at each reporting date and has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and
the economic environment.

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired include observable data about
the following events:

(@ significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower.

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event.

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider.

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #% —F— —4#=H=+—HIFF/&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXREFBER#)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial asset (Continued)

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

() the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep
discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.

Write-off

When management considers that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, the financial assets measured at
amortised cost will be written off. The Group has a policy
of writing off the gross carrying amount based on historical
experience of recoveries of similar assets. However, financial
assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group's procedures for recovery of
amounts due, taking into account legal advice if appropriate.
Any subsequent recovery is recognised in profit or 10ss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements entered
into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other payables and
lease liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments (including all fees paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition. Interest expense is
recognised on an effective interest basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EREFHEE 2
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) SRMIA (&)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued) SHMEBERRAIA (&)
Equity instruments RATA

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derecognition

The Group derecognised financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the first in, first out for
construction materials and weighted average method for fine
and rare wines. Net realisable value represents the estimated
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selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of HEMBE 2B -
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
Related parties BEAR

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Related parties (Continued)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself
such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also
related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(viiy A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EREFHEE 2

(Continued)

Related parties (Continued) BER (&)

Close members of the family of a person are those family RATZEHREREEZERR SHRIERA
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced FEZBATIZZBATEE ZREK
by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include: 8 8

(@  that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner; @ FBAALZFEZREBHRENEE:

(b)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or

b) TBALZEBIREHRZTFL:
K

© ZBEATRERBIREFEZZE

domestic partner. Ae
In the definition of a related party, an associate includes RAE N 2 ERTIRA  BE AR BERE R
subsidiaries of the associate and a joint venture includes AlZMBAR MEE AREEEERRZ
subsidiaries of the joint venture. RPEERNG]
Fair value measurement AFEFTE

When measuring fair value for the purpose of impairment
assessment, the Group takes into account the characteristics of
the asset if market participants would take those characteristics
into account when pricing the asset at the measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
Specifically, the Group categorises the fair value measurements
into three levels, based on the characteristics of inputs, as
follows:
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level1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active F—% — RABEEESBGERERTIZZ
markets for identical assets or liabilities. $E<1,a (REeFaE) -

Level2 —  Valuation techniques for which the lowest F_H — HERNEATEFEMNS
level input that is significant to the fair value BEZ 2 HEERHAEE]
measurement is directly or indirectly observable. EERREEZEER) -

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest F=H/ — HERNMBATEFEMS

level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXEFEE#®)
(Continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued) AFEFE (&)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines RBERAR AEEETEERABEZAF
whether transfer occur between levels of the fair value EEAESCEAEYE AFEERIAB
hierarchy for assets and liabilities which are measured at fair EHNESBZAFEMAEREFHEEN
value on recurring basis by reviewing their respective fair value ATEAFE
measurement.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4. BEREFHERGFTTFIEEEZ

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Critical judgements in applying the Group's
accounting policies

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those
involving estimation (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in consolidated financial statements.

Classification of leases - as lessor

The Group classifies each of its leases as either a finance
lease or an operating lease at the inception date which
involves the overall assessment of whether the lease transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of the underlying asset. As part of the assessment, the Group
considers all the relevant factors including the contractual
terms and the circumstances of the contractual parties to
determine the substance of the transaction.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Revenue from contract with customers within HKFRS 15
Revenue from fitting out and engineering services and design
and procurement of furnishing services is recognised over
time, which is dependent on estimating the outcome of the
contract, as well as the work done to date. The Group reviews
and revises the estimates of contract revenue, contract costs
and variation orders, prepared for each construction contract
as the contract progresses. Budgeted costs are prepared by
management on the basis of quotations from time to time
provided by the major subcontractors, suppliers or vendors
involved and the experience of management. In order to keep
the budget accurate and up-to-date, management conducts
periodic reviews on the budgeted costs by comparing the
budgeted amounts to the actual costs incurred.

Significant judgement is required in estimating the contract
revenue, contract costs and variation work which may have
an impact on revenue recognised to date. In addition, actual
outcomes in terms of total revenue or costs may be higher or
lower than estimated at the end of the reporting period, which
would affect the revenue recognised in future periods as an
adjustment to the amounts recorded to date.

Income tax

As at 31 March 2022, no deferred tax asset has been
recognised on the tax losses and deductible temporary
difference of approximately HK$128,788,000 (2021:
HK$114,495,000) and HK$2,798,000 (2021: HK$4,158,000)
respectively due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends
on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future. In cases where the
actual future profits or taxable temporary differences are less
or more than expected or change in facts and circumstances
which result in revision of future taxable profits estimation,
a material reversal or recognition of deferred tax assets may
arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the period
in which such a reversal or recognition takes place.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 1 0 5 i i

Year ended 31 March 2022 #% —F— —4#=H=+—HIFF/&
4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Allowance for ECLs on loan and interest receivables,
trade and other receivables and contract assets

The Group calculates ECLs for loan and interest receivables,
trade and other receivables and contract assets based on
the Group's historical default rates taking into consideration
forward-looking information that is reasonable and supportable
available without undue costs or effort. At each reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are reassessed and
changes in the forward-looking information are considered.
In addition, loan and interest receivables, trade and other
receivables and contract assets with significant balances and
credit impaired are assessed for ECLs individually.

The allowance for ECLS is sensitive to changes in circumstances
and forecast general economic conditions. The information
about the ECLs and the Group's loan and interest receivables,
trade and other receivables and contract assets are disclosed
in note 6(b) to the consolidated financial statements. If the
financial condition of the customers or the forecast economic
conditions were to deteriorate, the actual loss allowance would
be higher than estimated.

Estimated useful lives and impairment of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful
lives, and related depreciation charges for its property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets. The estimates are
based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
of those assets of similar nature and functions. Management
will increase the depreciation where useful lives are less
than previously estimated lives. It will write off or write down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may differ from
estimated useful lives. Periodic review could result in a change
in depreciable lives and therefore affect the depreciation
charges in future periods.

In determining whether an asset is impaired or the event
previously causing the impairment no longer exists,
management has to assess whether an event has occurred that
may affect the asset value or such event affecting the asset
value has not been in existence. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amounts of the asset would be determined
based on the higher of the value in use and fair value less costs
of disposal, which involve significant judgements and estimates.
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ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 7 0 5 it o i

Year ended 31 March 2022 #% —F— —4# = H=+—HIFF/&
4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Valuation of investment property

Investment property is carried in the consolidated statement
of financial position at 31 March 2022 at its fair value of
approximately HK$26,200,000 (2021: HK$27,000,000). The fair
value was based on a valuation on this property conducted by
an independent professional valuer using property valuation
technigues which involve certain assumptions of market
conditions. Favourable or unfavourable changes to these
assumptions would result in changes in the fair value of the
Group's investment property and corresponding adjustments
to the amount of gain or loss reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Impairment of intangible assets

The Group evaluates whether intangible assets have
suffered any impairment based on impairment assessment
performed at least annually and whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the
intangible assets may not be recoverable, in accordance with
the stated accounting policy. The recoverable amounts of the
intangible assets have been determined based on the higher
of the fair value less cost of disposal and value in use. These
calculations require the use of estimates and judgements.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group's overall strategies
remain unchanged from prior year.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on
a continuous basis taking into account the cost of capital and
the risk associated with the capital. Based on the directors’
recommendation, the Group will balance its overall capital
structure through payment of dividend, issuance of new shares
as well as the raising of new debts or the repayment of existing
debts.

Annual Report 2021/2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 1 0 5 i i

Year ended 31 March 2022 #% —F— —4#=H=+—HIFF/&

5. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continuea) 5. EXREE (&)

A group entity is regulated by the Securities and Futures SE-EBERIZINAEENELFRIEEBE
Commission (the “SFC") in Hong Kong and is required to comply REE8e ([BEGAE BEESHH
with the financial resources requirements according to the BE(MWHRERFAUNTEZETHHERR
Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules (the “SF(FR) EoER B ERZIREEBRBZ
R"). Management closely monitors, on a daily basis, the liquid MBESKE BRETEFLHE (B
capital level of the regulated entity to ensure compliance with BE)ATHRERDESHT LXK
the minimum liquid capital requirements under the SF(FR)R. The BEEBRBE_ZS-__FR-FT-_—F=
regulated entity has complied with the capital requirements A=+ BLFERA—EHETELFLEE
imposed by the SF(FRIR throughout the years ended 31 March (MBER)RBIZESHE -

2022 and 2021.

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. ©RITH (&)
6(a) Categories of financial instruments 6(a) EMIT AR
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T

Financial assets at amortised cost REBERRIEZCRMEE

Loan and interest receivables FEUE 3R K F B 5,451 5,558

Financial assets included in trade and FTAE S R E M ER
other receivables FIEZEREE 17,105 15,535
Cash and bank balances & MIR1T4E R 6,190 16,728
28,746 37,821

Financial liabilities at amortised cost REHREFIREZEHMERS
Financial liabilities included in trade and AR S R EMES

other payables FIEZEREE 10,219 10,108
Lease liabilities HEAE 15,360 13,567
25,579 23,675
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ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 7 0 5 it o i

Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. ©RITH (&)
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and 6(b) I EMEEEZEREBE

policies

The Group's major financial instruments include loan
and interest receivables, trade and other receivables,
cash and bank balances, trade and other payables
and lease liabilities. Details of the financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market risks
(currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. Management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

The Group has certain portion of cash and bank balances,
trade and other receivables and trade and other payables
denominated in currencies (such as Renminbi (“RMB"),
Singapore Dollars (“SGD") and United States Dollars
("US$") other than the functional currency of the entity
to which they relate. The Group currently does not have
a foreign currency hedging policy. However, management
monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise. Management reviews its foreign currency
exposures regularly and considers there is no significant
exposure on its foreign currency risk.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to bank balances with variable interest rate. The
Group has no significant exposure to interest rate risk.

Annual Report 2021/2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 1 0 5 i i

Year ended 31 March 2022 #% —F— —4#=H=+—HIFF/&

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. ©RITH (&)
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and 6b) MERBEEEZEREE (£)

policies (Continued)

Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to bank
balances, loan and interest receivables, trade and other
receivables and contract assets. Management has a
credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit
risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk represents the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise credit risk, management of
the Group has delegated an officer responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action
is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverability of each individual trade debt at
the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.
In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that
the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

Bank balances

The credit risk on bank balances is limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by authorised credit-rating agencies.

Other receivables

The Group considers that other receivables have low
credit risk based on the counterparties’ strong capacity
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the
near term and low risk of default. Impairment on other
receivables is measured on 12-month ECL and reflects
the short maturities of the exposures.
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ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 7 0 5 it o i

Year ended 31 March 2022 #% —F— —4# = H=+—HIFF/&

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. ©RITH (&)
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and 6b) MERBEEEZEREE (£)

policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Other receivables (Continued)

In estimating the ECL, the Group has taken into account
the historical actual credit loss experience over the
past 3 years (2021: 3 years) and the financial position of
the counterparties by reference to, among others, their
management or audited accounts and available press
information, adjusted for forward-looking factors that are
specific to the debtors and general economic conditions
of the industry in which the counterparties operate, in
estimating the probability of default of these financial
assets, as well as the loss upon default in each case.

There was no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the year.

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
lifetime ECL on trade receivables and contract assets.
To measure the ECL, trade receivables and contract
assets have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics. The Group has considered historical and
available forwarding-looking information in estimating
ECL.

Trade receivables

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. The Group normally allows
average credit period ranging from 30 to 60 days
(2021: 30 to 60 days) to its trade customers. The Group
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by
management.

Annual Report 2021/2022.
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Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. S@THR (&)
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and 6b) MERBEEEZEREE (£)
policies (Continued)
credit risk (Continuead) EERE (&)
Trade receivables (Continued) BN IE (&)
As at 31 March 2022, the Group recognised loss E/\fg ——®¥ZA=Z+—H"XK
allowance of HK$4,812,000 (2021: HK$2,712,000) on the SEBESRERRKERBEEES
trade receivables. The information about the exposure to 854,812,000 T (=T = —F:
credit risk and ECL for trade receivables using a provision 2,712,000 7T) BEE Z EWFIE 2
matrix is summarised below: EERBREREEEREREHE
fE ) & R BL a0 T
Gross
Expected carrying Loss Credit-
loss rate amount allowance impaired
FEHIEER FREAE EERE FERE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
Bkt FET FET
At 31 March 2022 R-EBE-—F
=A=+—H
Non-credit impaired BEERE
Not past due 7R 180 B 1.0 6,621 (66) No £
Within 90 days past due BHI1ZE90H 1.4 2,220 (31) No £
91 to 180 days past due #HI912180H 1.7 2,048 (35) No f&
181 to 270 days past due @ H181%2270H 2.0 2,537 (51) No &
271 t0 365 days past due #HA271%2365H 28.3 2,113 (597) No &
Over 365 days past due B EA365H A F 53.0 345 (183) No &
15,884 (963)
Credit impaired FERE
181 to 270 days past due #H181%2270H 100.0 529 (529) Yes &
271 to 365 days past due BHA2712=365H 100.0 343 (343) Yes &
Over 365 days past due #HA365H WA £ 100.0 2,977 (2,977) Yes B
3,849 (3,849)
19,733 (4,812)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. S@THR (&)
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and 6b) IEEMEEBEZERBGR (&)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EERE (&)
Trade receivables (Continued) BN E (&)
Gross
Expected carrying Loss Credit-
loss rate amount allowance impaired
TERRE R X RERE E R R EERE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
ERaisd FHET FHET
At 31 March 2021 R=B=—F
=A=+—H
Non-credit impaired BEERE
Not past due K18 HY 1.0 7,047 (70) No £
Within 90 days past due #HR1Z=90H 14 3,633 (51 No #&
91 to 180 days past due FHA91Z=180H 1.6 1,203 (19) No £
181 to 270 days past due #HA18122708 2.6 892 (23) No %
271 t0 365 days past due #H2712365H 30.0 10 (€) No 4
Over 365 days past due B HA365H LA 53.1 557 (296) No #&
13,342 (462)
Credit impaired FERE
Over 365 days past due B EA365H A 100.0 2,250 (2,250) Yes B
15,592 2,712

The Group does not hold any collateral over these

balances.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, a customer
was under liquidation and management assessed that
the customer was credit-impaired and collectability of
balance of approximately HK$3,677,000 was remote.
Therefore, provision on such balance was made during

the year.

Annual Report 2021/2022.
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Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6.

6(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

E®WMIA (%)
6(b) HEERESEBERKE (&)

credit risk (Continued) EERR (&)
Trade receivables (Continued) B ZEWHIE (&)
The movements in the loss allowance for trade ?th’f%fﬂﬁz KIAFERIE A E E R 185
receivables are set out below: BrEHMT
2022 2021
e —E - —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT

At 1 April WM A—A 2,712 4,623
Increase in allowance B g 4,350 -
Reversal of allowance P 1 o1 5% - (13)
Write-off of allowance BB (2,250) (1,898)
At 31 March R=A=+—H 4,812 2,712

Included in the allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are individually impaired trade receivables
with an aggregate balance of approximately HK$172,000
(2021: HK$2,250,000) and HK$3,677,000 (2021: Nil)
which had been long outstanding and under liquidation
respectively. The individually impaired trade receivables
are recognised based on the credit history of its
customers, such as financial difficulties or default in
payments, and current market conditions.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has concentration of
credit risk as approximately 20% (2021: 25%) and 67%
(2021: 78%) of the total trade receivables was due
from the Group's largest customer and the five largest
customers respectively.

ESRKFBRERER D BECBS
ZHRIERBETPHERE ﬁ@féﬁ%ﬁ'&‘u&
TR HEED B A#172,0008 7T (Z T = —
£F 2,250,000 7T ) }3,677,000/8 7T (= =
Z—F | - MEEREREE S ERK
BEERERFOEELLE  flnE R 5%E
RITREL - RIRITHHIBERIERER -

RZZE-_—_F=ZA=Z+—H BHARESHE
Hﬁzwﬁ%@%ﬁzmzo%uw_ £ :25%) &
67% (— B —4F:78%) N B AREE 7 &
ABRFPRERAARE MASEEHEER
AAKq]Z‘E/H/
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Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6.
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)
Contract assets
As at 31 March 2022, the Group recognised 10ss
allowance of HK$40,000 (2021: HK$26,000) on the
balances. The information about the exposure to credit
risk and ECL for contract assets using a provision matrix
is summarised below:

£HTH %)
6(b) HEEMESEEEREE (&)

EERK(E&)

AHEE
RIE-_—_F=F=+—H K&£H
b 45 B B SR 0 48 B 48 940,000 T
(ZZF - —4F:2600087T) - BEA
WEEZEERRKBHEEBEMS
PR B m R R an T

Gross
Expected carrying Loss Credit-
loss rate amount allowance impaired
FEHIEER REAE EERE FERE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
Bkt FHT FHET
At 31 March 2022 R-EBE-—F
=A=+—8
Not past due K18 HY 1.0 3,971 (40) No £
At 31 March 2021 R —4F
—A=+—H
Not past due 7R 181 B 1.0 2,600 (26) No £

The movements in the loss allowance for contract assets
are set out below:

RENEERREMEEBHRAE L
HEHmT:

2022 2021

—E=-= T —%F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHT

At 1 April REA—H 26 65
Increase in allowance AL N 14 26
Write-off of allowance 1B 8 - (65)
At 31 March R=A=+—H 40 26

150 AnnualReport 202172022



CIEERER AR 2 A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A o B 25 e A i
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6.

6(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)
Loan and interest receivables
Regular reviews on these loans are conducted by
management based on the historical information about
counterparty default rate, latest status of these loans and
the latest available information about the borrowers.

In estimating the ECL and in determining whether there is
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition
and whether the financial asset is credit-impaired, the
Group has taken into account the historical actual credit
loss experience of the borrowers and the financial
position of the counterparties by reference to, among
others, the background search for individual borrowers,
their management or audited accounts and available
press information, adjusted for forward-looking factors
that are specific to the debtors and general economic
conditions of the industry in which the counterparties
operate, in estimating the probability of default of these
financial assets, as well as the loss upon default in each
case. There was no change in the estimation techniques
or significant assumptions made during the year.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group recognised loss
allowance of approximately HK$819,000 (2021:
HK$442,000) on the balances. The information about
the exposure to credit risk and ECL for loan and interest
receivables is summarised below:

E®WMIA (%)
6(b) HEERESEBERKE (&)

FERR (&)

JEW B L8
EEEREBEEEITENETNBEESR
B ZEEFNSEIMR R E T &
HABENEZEEFETERRE
o

HEFAHEEBRERET B M6 H#E
RUREERRELTBREEN S/
BERBBEFERENREKENE
RERZSBH AEEGZSERERA
MBEERERBRLR MEBRZ
Z(HEPEREB)HENEFPHNERH
L EEIEERZNREARAES
BFTEIE S FTEUS Z 8 75 R 5K
o WHEB AR EMEERR RS
T EEMETTRN — RSB R IHE
HE AEFREEREEMNENM
FNEFZBRTRAONEBLR-FR
PRVE(ART RIS B R R AR I S i &

RIE-_—_F=F=+—H K£H
Bt 4% B4 TE 3RS 18 4% £9819,0007%8 7T
(ZZT-—H:442,000/%7T) - BRAE
WEREMEZ EERKREREHEER
ERE R R EEEANER RN T

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
Basis of ECL loss rate amount allowance
EHEE
BIEEX FEHEER RE#AE EERE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
Bkt FHET FHT
At 31 March 2022 R-s—=
=A=+—H
Past due pang=t lifetime 13.1 6,270 (819)
25
At 31 March 2021 R=B=—F
=A=+—H
Not past due AN 180 Hi 12-month 7.4 6,000 (442)
1218 A

—F —E-—FERE
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #% —F— —4# = H=+—HIFF/&

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. ©RITH (&)
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and 6b) MERBEEEZEREE (£)

policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Loan and interest receivables (Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for loan and
interest receivables are set out below:

EERE (&)
EREFRFIE (&)

LW E R A B EREREEER
B2 HmT:

2022 2021

e —E - —F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHERT FHT

At 1 April RHEA—H 442 190
Increase in allowance B g 377 252
At 31 March R=A=+—H 819 442

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has concentration of
credit risk as approximately 52% (2021: 50%) and 100%
(2021: 100%) of the total loan and interest receivables
was due from the Group's largest borrower and the two
largest borrowers respectively.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by management to
finance the Group's operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flows. Management monitors the
utilisation of source of funding and considers the risk is
minimal.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash
flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on
which the Group can be required to pay.

Annual Report 2021/2022.
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #% —F— —4#=H=+—HIFF/&

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. S@THR (&)
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and 6b) MERBEEEZEREE (£)
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continuea) REBELER (£)
The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. ZERBPENERACRERE -NE
To the extent that interest cash flows are at floating rate, WEHR WAERERZEFE.
the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate BIRBRIE SRR SRR E

curve at the end of each reporting period.

More than  More than ~ More than
3months  oneyear two years
but not but not but not Total
Within  exceeding exceeding exceeding undiscounted  Carrying
Ondemand 3months 12 months two years five years cash flows amount
BB=fA
BFEE RB-FE8 HBB-FE LHAER
RER AR TR TRE-E THBRIE BReRE BELE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAL T FEL TAL T FEL THL

At 31 March 2022 R-E-ZF

=ZA=t-H
Trade and other payables B ZREMEMNTE 10,219 - - - - 10,219 10,219
Lease liabilities HEERE = 2,443 4,765 6,354 2,684 16,246 15,360
10,219 2,443 4,765 6,354 2,684 26,465 25,579
At 31 March 2021 RZEZ—-§
ZA=1-H
Trade and other payables & 5 & E th e FB 10,108 - - - - 10,108 10,108
Lease liabilities HEERE = 1923 4,468 3,744 4,363 14,503 13,567
10,108 1923 4,468 3,744 4,368 2461 23,675
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying RARIZEERE  WiEEMBERESP
amounts of current financial assets and current financial BEERARR 2R MEE LR
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated R BERRENRFSE AR -
financial statements approximate their fair values due to WMEAREAEHEEQATEESE-

their immediate or short-term maturities.
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Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

7. REVENUE 7. W
An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as follows: REBFARZZATET
2022 2021
—E=-= —E—%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Design, fitting out and engineering services  :&&H HER TREREUA
income 33,785 36,823
Installation services income from construction B 28 & ~ 72 2 IRFE U A
equipment 3,296 -
Rental income from leasing of construction ~ FAEREEBER S WA
equipment 10,045 8,634
Sales of fine and rare wines EHHEWA 9,977 20,552
Interest income from money lending WEFE A 539 756
Commission income from introducing NAL L RIS A WA
brokerage services 18 42
57,660 66,807
Revenue from contracts with EBRMBRELEREISHRET
customers within HKFRS 15: EFEEHWE:
Revenue recognised at a point in time RE — 5 R 2 War
- Sales of fine and rare wines —EHHEERA 9,977 20,552
— Commission income from introducing —NBELERBBES WA
brokerage services 18 42
Revenue recognised over time RE—E I AR Wz
- Design, fitting out and engineering — iR RER TRERRBEKRA
services income 33,785 36,823
— Installation services income from —BEJZE 2 LZERBEA
construction equipment 3,296 -
47,076 57,417
Revenue from other sources: H At 2RR W 2 -
— Rental income from leasing of —HERERBEHESUA
construction equipment 10,045 8,634
- Interest income from money lending —RERMNBETERER
calculated using effective interest SHA
method 539 756
57,660 66,807
The revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 is BBV BHREEABISSEAREREEL
based on fixed price. B s R E BT E
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Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors, being the
chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on
types of goods or services delivered or provided. The directors
of the Company have chosen to organise the Group around
differences in services.

Specifically, the Group's reportable and operating segments are
as follows:

(@ Provision of design, fitting out, engineering and
procurement of furnishings and related products services
("Design, fitting out and engineering services");

(b)  Leasing of construction equipment and provision of
related installation services (“Leasing of construction
equipment”);

(c)  Sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare wines
(“Wines merchandising”); and

(d) Financial services business comprising securities
advisory services, securities dealing and brokerage
services and asset management services and money
lending (“Financial services business”).

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources among segments, the Company'’s
executive directors monitor the results, assets and liabilities
attributable to each reportable segment on the following bases:

Segments assets include all assets except for corporate assets
which are managed on a group basis. All liabilities are allocated
to reportable segment liabilities other than unallocated head
office and corporate liabilities which are managed on a group
basis and certain other payables and accrued charges.

Revenues and expenses are allocated to the operating
segments with reference to sales generated by those segments
and the expenses incurred by those segments or which
otherwise arise from the depreciation of assets attributable
to those segments. The measure used for reporting segment
results is profit/loss before taxation without allocation of other
unallocated corporate expenses and income.

/'\ﬁ[gﬁ*sl_

MATEE NEELEREKE  EHUAD
B R AT EDERBZERERREN
EXRHrERARBEE - AREESE
RIS = BB ARED -

(@) IRERE-EE IRAMKERER
HEEEMRKS ([ZFT RERITER
%1

(b) HEZEREGRIEHMEEZERS
(MEzERE])

€ =ZHEEBE(ZEHEEE]) R

d) SRRBEBEELIEFRHEER
X5 MR - BEEERY
KmE ([2RREBEBE]) -

MDA RE LD HEERSEMS
Z’K 7%{7%%&%7—%% Il:lﬂf%i&
DEBEGEEE BERBE

BAEETE AR AREEN DHE
EREMEEE -BUEBERAER 2 K
AEBHREERDBIBBEARE T HAME
NREREFERIN TEEEIEIES
ARESFBEE-.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #% —F— —4# = H=+—HIFF/&

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8.

For the purpose of assessing the performance of the operating
segments and allocation of resources among segments, the
Group's results are further adjusted for items not specifically
attributed to individual segments and other head office and
corporate administrative costs.

Segment revenue and results
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results

by reportable and operating segments:

For the year ended 31 March 2022

DEER (&)
RAEEENHREREN A 2HOEE
RS AEEEERAIFEEBRER D
B2 IE B RE BN FIE KA RITTERAAR
E—TEHARE-

Pl E S
NTAAEERGEREERATZRIEE
DEMEH 2 DT

BE-Z-_—_F=ZA=t+-HLEE

Design, fitting
outand  Leasing of Financial
engineering  construction Wines services
services  equipment merchandising business Total
Rit EBR
IBRE HERERE EHIE SRMBER @i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR
Segment revenue PN E 33,785 13,341 9,977 557 57,660
Segment operating (10ss) profit AEEE (BE)EH (866) (7,403) 361 (1,884) (9.792)
Impairment of intangible assets EYEERE - - - (476) (476)
Segment (oss) profit A (58 & (866) (7,403) 361 (2,360) (10,268)
Unallocated: RAR:
Other income EfA 912
Corporate administrative costs RRITHAR (10,651)
Change in fair value of investment property 1R& %1% AF (52 (800)
Finance costs BERA (129)
Loss before tax BREtAER (20,936)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. HFER (&)
Segment revenue and results (Continued) PHMBEREE (E)
For the year ended 31 March 2021 HE_Z-_—F=A=1+T—HLEFE
Design, fitting
outand Leasing of Financial
engineering  construction Wines Services
Services equipment  merchandising business Total
Hit RER
IRRE HERERE EHEE SRREER @t

HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TAL TAL TAL AL

Segment revenue k- e 36823 8,634 20,552 798 66,807
Segment operating profit (loss) AE=ERT (BE) 1,542 (3,189) 572 (2,048) (3122)
Impairment of intangible assets BYEERE - - - (8641) (8641)
Impairment of goodwill BERE (1,867) - - - (1,867)
Segment profit (loss) AEEN (FR) (325) (3,188) 572 (10,689) (13,630)
Unallocated: RAR:

Other income EfA 1187
Corporate administrative costs HRITHAR (9,585)
Change in fair value of investment property R& %A TEES 1,400
Finance costs BERA (224)
Loss before tax BRHBIER (20,852)

/\ /f_\i/_g::fﬁ/gﬁ% -
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Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. AEER (&)
Segment assets and liabilities THEERAE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities REERZWMERKENBED 2 EERE
by reportable and operating segments: B
As at 31 March 2022 R-ZEB--F=HA=+—H
Design, fitting
outand  Leasing of Financial
engineering  construction Wines services
services  equipment merchandising business Total
Kit EBR
IBRE HERERE EHETE SREEER @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER THER THER THER THER
Segment assets THEE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment nE BEREE 21 22,366 - - 22,387
Right-of-use assets EREEE - 8,493 - - 8,493
Intangible assets BYEE - - - 4,566 4,566
21 30,859 - 4,566 35,446
Current assets TEEE 9,178 9,632 2,383 5,451 26,644
Segment assets NHEE 9,199 40,491 2,383 10,017 62,090
Unallocated: RAR:
Cash and bank balances RakfmkEs 6,190
Others Eth 33,934
Total assets per consolidated Statement AR EMRRREELE
of financial position 102,214
Segment liabilities PHEE
Non-current liabilities FrBaK
Deferred tax liabilities ERETERE - - - 754 754
Lease liabilities REBE - 4,999 = = 4,999
= 4,999 - 754 5,753
Current liabilities nEaE 4,665 5,612 1,769 338 12,384
Segment liabilities AHEE 4,665 10,611 1,769 1,092 18,137
Unallocated: ROR:
Others i 11,667
Total liabilities per consolidated statement A B BHMAE A BAE
of financial position 29,804
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Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. 7EER (®)
Segment assets and liabilities (continued) PTHEEREE (&)

As at 31 March 2021 RZE-_—F=ZA=+—H

Design, fitting
outand Leasing of Financial
engineering  construction Wines Services
Services equipment  merchandising business Total
FiRER )
TRR%E HERERE BEEE SRRBES @5
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
FEL FEL FEL FEL FEL
Segment assets THEE
Non-current assets FERBEE
Property, plant and equipment mE BEREE 25 30,464 - - 30,489
Right-of-use assets EREEE - 10,441 - - 10,441
Intangible assets BVEE - - - 5,042 5,042
% 40,905 - 5,002 15972
Current assets RBEE 7,824 6,605 4,36 5,558 24,319
Segment assets PHEE 7,849 47510 4,362 10,600 70,321
Unallocated: RAE:
Cash and bank balances BeRBTES 16,728
Others i 32,844
Total assets per consolidated statement 4 ABKHREEELE
of financial position 119,893
Segment liabilities AHEE
Non-current liabilities FrBaE
Deferred tax liabilities EREREAE - - - 832 832
Lease liabilities HERE = 7,695 = = 7,695
- 7,69 - 832 8,527
Current liabilities EIEYE 3310 3,865 3,770 195 11,140
Segment liabilities PHEE 3310 11,560 3,770 1,027 19,667
Unallocated: RAR:
Others 4 6,742
Total liabilities per consolidated Statement  4RA BRI R & EEE
of financial position 26,409

O
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ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A o B 205 e A i

Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8.
Segment assets and liabilities (Continuead)
For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources among segments:

. all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than
certain property, plant and equipment, certain right-of-
use assets, investment property, certain prepayments,
deposits and other receivables and cash and bank
balances as these assets are managed on a group basis.

. all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other
than certain accrued expenses and other payables,
certain lease liabilities, certain income tax payable and
certain deferred tax liabilities as these liabilities are
managed on a group basis.

Other segment information
For the year ended 31 March 2022

Design, fitting
out and Leasing of
engineering  construction
services  equipment

Rit #BR
IRkHB HERERE
HK$'000 HK$'000

\

DEER (&)
ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%&ﬁﬁ(fﬁ)
MERDILRIRESD DEERME :

e BUEBEAREBZETHE ¥
BRRE ETERAREE REY
X BETHEMNFA ZeREMREK

RELRE RIBITHESBIN FIEEE
i’:ﬁBZn CERAZHN AL

o BRUEEEREBRZETEMASXR
HENHRE ETHERE &7
TSI R s TIRER R B EIN
MABBBOROEERI2HA M-

Hitn HEHR
BE_BR__HS=-A=+-HILFE

Financial

Wines services
merchandising business  Unallocated Total
EHEE  CRBREER S @it

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THT THT T#R T#7 T T

Impairment of intangible assets BREENE - - - 476 24 690
Alowance for (Reversal of alowance fo) 5 RE 6 ERGE

ECL on tradle and other receivables REEEEREE (D) 281 4,089 (20) - - 4,350
Alowance for ECLon loan and interest ~ ERERRHSRBEEHERE

receivables - - - 377 - 377
Alowance for ECL on contractassets — AXAEEHBEEBRER 14 - - - - 14
Change in fair value of aninvestment—— RENEATEED

property = = = = 800 800
Depreciation of property, plant and nE BERZENE

equipment 13 7,734 - - 362 8,109
Depreciation of right-0f-Use assets FREAENE - 3,505 - - 3,065 6,570
Compensation gain on disposal/write-off of BE /R AR ERERE

construction equipment - (1,266) - - - (1,266)
Additions to property, plant and equipment BE#E  BERRE 9 648 - - - 657
Bank interest income RITHEHA - - - - (1) (1)
Finance costs BERA - 493 - - 129 622
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. AWER (&)
Other segment information (Continued) HihpBER (£)
For the year ended 31 March 2021 HEZZ-_—F=A=+—HLFE
Design,
fitting out
and Leasing of Financial
engineering construction Wines senvices
Services equipment  merchanalising Dusingss Unllocated Total
R
TERE RERERE BHEXE  2RBREEH AR E2h)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS 000
Thn Thn T Thn Thn Tix
Impairment of intangible assets BYEERE - - - 8641 I 8682
Impairment of goodwil AEHA 1867 - - - - 1867
(Reversal of allowance for) Allowance for & 5 R £t 08
ECLontrade and oher receivables ~ BEEEEE (D) BE (114) 9 4 - - (13)
Allowance for ECL on loan and interest EREF RASBHEEFE
receivables BE - - - 25 - 52
Allowance for ECL on contract assets  A#1AERHBEEFERE 2% - - - - %
Change in fair value of an investment R&NEATFEES
property - - - - (1,400 (1,400
Depreciation of property, plantand ~~ #1%  BERRETE
equipment 7 5,184 - - 364 5555
Depreciation of right-of-Use assets ~ EREEENE - 3297 - - 3694 6991
Compensation gain on disposaliwrite-off R E /SRR ERENE
0f construction equipment - (478 - - - (478
Additions to property, plant and BENZ BERRE
equipment 3 18,3% - - 14 18,393
Bank interest income RAHEHA - - - - (1) (1)
Finance costs BENA - 904 - - 21 1128
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Yearended 31 March 2022 B ZE —F — —#F=H=+—HIF&F
8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. 7EEHR (&)
Geographical information ith & & R}

The Group's operations are principally located in Hong Kong

and the PRC.

The Group's revenue from external customers is presented
based on the location of customers. The geographical location
of non-current assets is based on the physical location of the
assets, in the case of property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and investment property, and the location of the
operation, in the case of goodwill and intangible assets. The

analysis of the Group's revenue from external customers and e
non-current assets by geographical location is as follows:

AEBERBEENTEEE-

AEBEREIIMNBEF ZBACERETFH
B2 -FRBEENME HBLRE
EREEEMREMEN S OMBELUER
REENERUE ULAHBHENETEE
=B EREE N H - NEEIZMIEVE
KANMBEFOWAMIERBEED TN

Revenue from external

customers Non-current assets

RENBEE Z WA FREBEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—==-= —E-—F ZZE-Z —EF - —F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHxT FiHTT FERT FHIT
Hong Kong a5 56,333 63,775 68,296 77,235
The PRC H 1,327 3,032 - 1
57,660 66,807 68,296 77,236

Information about major customers FEREFZEH

Revenue from customers contributing 10% or more of the total

BRAEEAHE10%A EHEFER

revenue of the Group is as follows: ™
2022 2021
=== —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Customer A3 EFEA N/A 21,943
Customer B? = B2 7,979 20,049
Customer C'# BPCH 15,756 N/A
1 Revenue from Design, fitting out and engineering services L RERET EBERIRRBH W
2 Revenue from Wines merchandising 2 R B 808 ) W e
E The corresponding revenue in 2022 did not contribute 10% or more of g ZHARER T F W REMAEE A
the total revenue of the Group W3 2 10%3k LA

g The corresponding revenue in 2021 did not contribute 10% or more of 4

the total revenue of the Group

Annual Report 2021/2022.
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CIEERER AR 2 A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9. OTHER INCOME Haug A
2022 2021
e T —%F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
iz FHT FHETT
Bank interest income RITHF BUA 1 1
Rental income el A 9(a) 870 834
Sundry income I A 81 86
Government subsidies BT ED - 897
952 1,818

9(a) Rental income
An analysis of the Group's net rental income from

9(a) MEWA

AEBRANENE S BAFE

investment property is as follows: ST :
2022 2021
—E-8® —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT FET
Gross rental income from REREMEZ RS ALE
investment property 870 834
Less: Direct operating expenses W EEEESH (FFAITH
(included in administrative expenses) — Bisz) (118) (164)
752 670

—E i T AR

o
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Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

10. OTHER GAINS, NET

2022 2021
e —E - —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Compensation gain on disposal/write-off of B & FEiNZEREmE K
construction equipment 1,266 478
Write-back of other payables H b S FRIE M SE - 135
1,266 613
11. FINANCE COSTS 1. ER A
2022 2021
e —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Interests on: AT&EZHE:
— lease liabilities —-HEaRE 622 857
- unsecured other borrowings —EEAEMEE - 271
622 1,128
12. INCOME TAX 12. FEH
2022 2021
—E-CH T —%F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
[{hE=s FET FHT
Hong Kong Profits Tax BENEH
Current year KEE - 68
Deferred tax EER IR
Current year KEFEE 30 132 (1,493)
Income tax expense (credit) for the year FEAMEHAX
(E%#) 132 (1,425)

Annual Report 2021/2022,
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Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

12.

INCOME TAX (continuea)

The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 which
introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime was signed
into law and gazetted in March 2018. Under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2,000,000 of profits of a
qualifying group entity are taxed at 8.25% and profits above
HK$2,000,000 are taxed at 16.5%. The profits of other group
entities in Hong Kong not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the British Virgin Islands
(the “BVI"), the Group is not subject to any income tax in the
BVI.

No Singapore Corporate Tax has been provided as there is no
estimated assessable profit for both years.

The PRC corporate income tax in respect of operations in the
PRC is calculated at the applicable tax rates on the estimated
assessable profits for both years based on existing legislation,
interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

The tax expense (credit) for the year can be reconciled to the

12. FiE

SB (&)

(CZ2—EFHB (EFT) (F7%H) GHE
&) ([MEHIEZR]) - sIATISBMARS - &
PERR-_FE-N\FZARBERRER

WHREBATZ - REFNEHRRSH SER
% 5 & 2 52,000,000/ 7T 2 i | A% 2 1
8.25%wr . + i 8 82,000,000/ 7T 2 i ) 1%

BT EN16.5%R T o T A FIEH WA H 2
SEEER 25 NS EERS — T E16.5% 5

i o

REABEZES ([REERES]) R
RIFDER) NEEHABREBRE LTSN
ERAEHE-

F P S 62 [ 170 % P 4R T 3 SR AR AN EE A
FERRBUE A - BRI AR BAFT AN A S th 3¢
o

EATBEAREREEEZHECEMRSEN
EREBERITEN 2B L BRBENRAFE
AETERBUE N RER R R H -

AERRBERAS (HR) BraEa R EM

loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss EHEIRERERATGRIERIEB 2 HIROT -
and other comprehensive income as follows:
2022 2021
—E-— T —%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Loss before tax BRELRTE R (20,936) (20,852)
Tax expense at rates applicable to profits EHRBRIAERBABEGE
in the jurisdiction concerned Z BIAR X (3,520) (3,443
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose 7% U A 2 T8 75 5 2 (212) @71
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax A HIFEIER X 2 TG &
purpose 319 151
Tax effect of taxable (deductible) temporary AIERERT (RTFR) B hF =
differences not recognised BB 1,152 (1,159)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERMBEBE I NBE 2,560 3,749
Utilisation of tax losses not recognised RERTIEEE 2 ER (167) (181)
Effect of two-tiered profits tax rate FISBMBESIRE 22 - @)
Income tax expense (credit) for the year FEMNEBHASZ (1) 132 (1,425)
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13. LOSS BEFORE TAX

The Group's loss before tax has been arrived at after charging

E=N Sl

ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 7 0 5 it o i

Year ended 31 March 2022 F=A=+—HIFFZF

. BRBATE R

AEERBABRS NG GEA) TS

(crediting): I8
2022 2021
—E-— —E-—%F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
s FEx FHET
Salaries and wages included in HFehkIE&
cost of sales (BERIEENAHR) 2,210 1,988
Salaries and wages included in HERIE
administrative expenses: (BERTHEAXH) :
Directors’ emoluments BExie 14 3,437 3,449
Salaries, wages and other benefits & TE& R EMEF
(excluding directors’ emoluments)  (TEEZEEM£) 6,558 6,969
Contribution to defined contribution 55 4 F st & 7%
plans (excluding directors’ (TBEEEM)
emoluments) 289 229
12,494 12,635
Cost of inventories sold FEHEERAK 13,290 21,639
Depreciation of property, plantand % - #2=2 R R EITE
equipment 8,109 5,555
Depreciation of right-of-use assets  {E A EEITE 6,570 6,991
Auditor's remuneration ZER B & 630 600
Compensation gain on disposal/write- Bz & 7 §i5 1 58 3% 18 i (8 U 25
off of construction equipment (1,266) (478)
Impairment of goodwill 2R E = 1,867
Impairment of intangible assets EREAERE 690 8,682
Lease payment under short-term HHAECsHES
leases on premises 210 186

Annual Report 2021/2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

% 3 S B A B

Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

14. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF

DIRECTORS

14(a)Directors’ emoluments

The aggregate amounts of emoluments paid and payable

14. EHRESENER

MM@QEEME

AEBRARFEDINHENTER

to the directors of the Company by the Group during the AEZNNeEEDT
year are as follows:
Year ended 31 March 2022
ZEZZECRCT-ALER
Contributions
to defined
Salaries and contribution
Fees other benefits plans Total
e TR
ER B HE [:E @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thr Thr TEn TEn
Executive Directors: HiTEE:
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen REEnt = 2,080 24 2,104
M. Wang Jun 1854 - 240 - 20
M. Zhang Weijie FERE - 600 18 618
Non-gxecutive Director: #H7EE.
Mr. Tsang Kel Cheong EHERE - 105 - 105
Independent non-executive Directors: BU#317EE:
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex Relkia 130 - - 130
M. Wu Zhao Y S 120 - - 120
Mr. Lam Cheok Va Lam Cheok VaZt £ 120 - - 120
Total ) 370 3,025 42 3437

P

ZE - —E - —FERE
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ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

% 0 S B A B

Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

14. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF

DIRECTORS (continuead)

14(a)Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

14. EREEENER &)

MM@QEFE=ME (&)

Year ended 31 March 2021

“E--F=-A=1+-HI5E

Contributions
to defined
Salaries and contribution
Fees  other benefits plans Total
HeMm ERHEN
EH HAaF FTEIHR @at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT THL TR
Executive Directors: HiTEE:
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen TR E - 2,080 36 2,116
Mr. Wang Jun FERE - 240 - 240
Mr. Zhang Weijie REREE - 600 18 618
Non-executive Director: FHTEE:
Mr. Tsang Kei Cheong LLRELE - 105 - 105
Independent non-executive By kEHTEE:
Directors:
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex BRI & 130 - - 130
Mr. Wu Zhao RREE 120 - = 120
Mr. Lam Cheok Va Lam Cheok VaZt £ 120 - - 120
Total FeE 370 3,025 54 3,449

No remuneration was paid or payable by the Group to
any of the directors as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
None of the directors waived any emoluments in the
years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

No emoluments represent the payments to a
management service company in respect of directors’
services in connection with management of the affairs of
the Group.

14(b)Loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in

favour of directors

There were no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in
favour of the directors of the Company that were entered
into or subsisted during the year (2021: Nil).

Annual Report 2021/2022.
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CIEERER AR 2 A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
%o £ S e A B

Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

14. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF 14. ERESEMNER (9)

DIRECTORS (continued)

14(c)Directors’ material interest in transactions,
arrangements or contracts
Save as disclosed in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements, there are no transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance in relation to the Company's
business to which the Company was a party and in
which a director of the Company or a connected entity
of the director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year (2021: Nil).

15. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST

EMOLUMENTS

During the year, the five individuals with the highest
emoluments in the Group include two (2021: two) directors
whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in note 14
to the consolidated financial statements. The emoluments of
the remaining three (2021: three) individuals were as follows:

MOEZERZ HRBEIERMNEK
Pk
BRI AR A B IS R MY 2352 3R BE SN,
REENLFRE AR B LT
HAERS RANR A2 EE AR A
ZEEREE HHERERIMEE
HEERBEREEANBZERRS 1
FBAAR(ZE-—F:\) -

15. MieREMH AL

RAFERN EASEME RS0 EA
foHG2 (ZE - —F ) AREEEE
= EMESESRE VB REM T4 RE -
HH(ZF - —F :3) AW T

2022 2021
—E-= T4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Salaries and other benefits e ME AR F 2,071 2,051
Contributions to defined contribution plans & 284t 2T 214 7% 72 72
2,143 2,123
Their emoluments were within the following band: e N TR :
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
ABAE ABAH
Nil to HK$1,000,000 0 - 1,000,000/ 7© 3 3

No remuneration was paid or payable by the Group to any of
the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
None of these individuals waived any emoluments during the
years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

i

AEBYEADRZSHALTINIRERN
Bl (E ARSI AR KBS IMAREKEE
ZRBSEAEBHEE - HE_T_—_FRK
TECHF=A=+-HIFEHEZSE
ATHEEMHE -

ZE - —E - —FERE
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ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
%o £1 S 5 e A B i

Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

16. DIVIDEND 16. BB
No dividend was paid or proposed during the years ended 31 BE_Z-_—_FR-_F-_—F=A=+—
March 2022 and 2021, nor has any dividend been proposed AEFERBRNSERRERE  8WmE
since the end of the reporting period. HiRR  MAAEZEIREEMARE -

17. LOSS PER SHARE 17. BREE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share AATHEA ANBRERREE SR ER
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the BT EIREE

following data:

2022 2021
—E-= T4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Loss attributable to owners of the MEREARAREEHENS AQF
Company for the purpose of basic and HE ARG ZEE
diluted loss per share (21,068) (19,427)
2022 2021
—EZCH —E-—F
‘000 ‘000
T T
Weighted average number of ordinary MERERRBEBEMS 2
shares for the purpose of basic and L AR ) hnFE I8k (PAEE)
diluted loss per share (note) 156,780 90,283
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Loss per share TR EE
Basic and diluted EARREE (0.1) 0.2)
Note: The weighted average number of shares for the year ended 31 March fiZ: 2T F=A=+—HLEEZTLTA
2021 have been adjusted to reflect the effect of (i) share consolidation A&7 B (EFAEEF - LARBR()
on 18 November 2020 that every ten issued existing shares be N—E_TF+—A+N\BETREETZ
consolidated into one consolidated share; and (ii) rights issue as RERMDEHR—REHRD ZROHEHR
mentioned in note 31(a) to the consolidated financial statements. (i &R & B 75 R 3R MY 531 (a) ATt 2 AR 9 2
%“ °
Since there were no potential dilutive shares in issue during the AREEZE_FT__FR_F_—F=H
years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, basic and diluted loss St RLFEABEBREHECRTR
per share are the same for both years. B EAREEGREBRHER -

Annual Report 2021/2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A o B 25 e A i

Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. W13 -HBRRE
Leasehold ~ Furniture and Office Motor  Construction
improvements fixtures  equipment vehicles  equipment Total
HENE  BAAEE
&8 ®E  BLOERE AE BERE )
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TR TR Thr TiEn TiEn Tin
Cost: A
At 1 April 2020 “E-FEMA-A 4,554 720 219 1,197 17,942 24,692
Disposal and write-off HERHE - - - - (763 763
Adltions AE - - 36 29 18,062 18,393
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021
4,554 720 315 1492 35,241 42,322
Disposal and write-off - - - - (1,776) (1,776)
Adltions - - 45 - 612 657
At 31 March 2022 R-BZZ%=f=1+-A 4,554 720 360 1492 34,077 41,203
Accumulated depreciation: ZitHE:
At 1 April 2020 “Z-ZEMA-A 2,709 710 174 389 2125 6,147
Disposal and write-off HERGE - - - - (245) (245)
Charge for the year AEERH 39 1 60 37 4,718 5,555
£ 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021
3,098 Al 234 786 6,628 11,457
Disposal and write-off HERGE = = = - (763) (763)
Charge for the year TEERM 649 1 7 494 6,888 8,109
At 31 March 2022 RZEZZE=R=1-H 3747 712 kil 1,280 12,753 18,803
Carrying amount; RAE:
At 31 March 2022 RZEZZE=ZB=1-H 807 8 49 212 21,324 22,400
At 31 March 2021 R-B--%=f=1-A 145 9 81 706 8613 30,865

The Group leases its construction equipment to third parties
under operating leases with rental calculated on a daily basis.
The leases do not include any purchase option. Rental income
from leasing of construction equipment is set out in note 7 to
the consolidated financial statements.

The construction equipment is subject to residual value risk.
The lease contract, as a result, includes a provision based on
which the Group has the right to charge the tenant for any
damage to the construction equipment at the end of the lease.
Besides, the Group required the tenants to purchase insurance
to protect it against any loss that may arise from accidents or
physical damages of the equipment.

AEENREHEHHEAZERBTFE=
7 HEEERAREE - HETBREAE
BiREg - hHEERBHEHSRAZFHED
HIINER A M MR LT

BESBAIFNGEERR AL AES
Z’J@éflﬁﬂf& Bt AEEARREE

EREREEREzAMNBERAFRE
ut?l\'ﬁi‘%laﬁxﬂﬁﬁﬁ/ﬁ R 1%5;&
A R B ANk W3 2 BE 1852 M 5| i &Y
Bk

—F —E-—FERE
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ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 7 0 5 it o i

Year ended 31 March 2022 #% —F— —4# = H=+—HIFF/&

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTY 19. REYF

2022 2021
e —E - —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Fair value: A¥E:

At 1 April RIEA—H 27,000 25,600

Change in fair value recognised in profit ~ RIBFHERZ A FEE
or loss (800) 1,400
At 31 March BR=A=+—8H 26,200 27,000

The fair value of the Group's investment property located in
Hong Kong as at 31 March 2022 has been arrived at on the
basis of a valuation carried out by Peak Vision Appraisals
Limited (“PVA"), an independent qualified professional valuer
that not connected with the Group. PVA is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors. The valuation was arrived at
using prevailing market rents for comparable properties in the
same location and condition, expected future market rents and
appropriate discount rates.

The investment property is measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value categorised as Level 2 based on the
degree to which the inputs to fair value measurement are
observable. There were no transfers between levels of fair value
hierarchy during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2022.

Annual Report 2021/2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 March 2022

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continuec)

R —E = A= —HIFFE

The following table gives information about how the fair value
of the investment property as at 31 March 2022 is determined

19. REW=E (4)

TEREIEEFNR T __F=A=1+—H
ZREWMEZAFEZEN LERME

(in particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used): Az HERTREE)
Fair value
as at
Fair value 31 March
hierarchy 2022 Valuation technique and key inputs
N-EBE-—F
=A=+-—8
AFEER ZAFE FHEENTREITEHE
HK$'000
FH&T
Investment property  Level 2 26,200 Investment method of valuation
(2021:27,0000 - Prevailing market rents for comparable
properties in the same location and
condition, expected future market rents
and appropriate discount rates.
REME ER 26200 REMKEE

e —

=

— RA—#EARR ALY EN L ET S

27,000)

Leasing arrangement - as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the investment property
of HK$26,200,000 (2021: HK$27,000,000) are held under head
lease with the remaining lease term of 25 years (2021: 26
years). The lease contracts do not impose any covenants on the
Group.

The property interests in leasehold land and the buildings
thereon (including the whole or part of undivided share in
the underlying land) in Hong Kong of HK$26,200,000 (2021:
HK$27,000,000) are held by the Group as the registered owner.
Those property interests were acquired from the previous
registered owners by making lump sum payments at the
upfront. Except for the variable amounts to be charged by the
government subsequently that are reviewed regularly with
reference to the rateable values, for example, there are no
ongoing payments to be made under the terms of the land
lease.

He eI ARMSHEES FEEWITR

HEZHE-FEREEA

AR & B - 26,200,000 T (ZF = —
% 27,000,000/ 7T ) MR EME TR EE
MERH B THBRSFE (2T _—%:
26%F) -MEA ML EE RNEEEINER2
#e

REBREBEATMEBEAZTENHE
T RE EFMEF (BIEERE L E 2
sk B 9 Bl 19 Bh) BY 9 3 4 526,200,000
I (—F — —4F: 27,000,000/ 7T) ° %%
VIEER DB REL —EBTEMNKER L
—ZifEa ARERS - BBFE EHE
ZER = A E MR E YR AT & 08
BHIME  BELHAESRIEZEHSHE
Ko

E- G S E-FE

Sy
Ofy
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ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 7 0 5 it o i

Year ended 31 March 2022 #% —F— —4# = H=+—HIFF/&

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continuec) 19. REVWE (&)

Leasing arrangement - as lessor

The investment property is leased to tenants for a term ranged
from one to two years, in which the first year is non-cancellable
and the second vyear is cancellable with a notice period of 2
months (2021: 2 months) by the tenant. The lease does not
contain any renewal option. Monthly rental charges consist of
fixed payments. The landlord bears the management fees and
amounts charged by the government such as the rates levied
on the Group.

The investment property is subject to residual value risk. The
lease contract, as a result, includes a provision based on which
the Group has the right to charge the tenant for any damage
to the investment properties at the end of the lease. Besides,
the Group has purchased insurance to protect it against any
loss that may arise from accidents or physical damages of the
properties.

Property rental income earned during the year was
approximately HK$870,000 (2021: HK$834,000). The property
held for rental purposes is expected to generate rental yields of
3.32% (2021: 3.09%) on an ongoing basis. The property held has
committed tenants for the next year.

Below is a maturity analysis of undiscounted lease payments to
be received from the leasing of investment property.

HEZHE-FREHEAA
REMEZEN =26 2 AHBHATHEPS
HEEP—THHEREFIAHE  HPAR
F_FREA(ZT=—F:2A)A&
MR HET RS E AR EE-
ABEREENR - XTAAEERE MK
JiTYCER ) SR IR > PR AR SR BB Z A

REMFRAZRHEERR FHi HES
MBS ERBREERRE B KAE
EERNEERARNUREME ZEME
BEREPRE - WIN AEEEHEERR
REEMAERBIIRMEZEER/EN
SIEMEK-

KEFYER S U AFTE L) £870,00075 7T
(ZZ=—4:834,000 ) - #FHEL A
%)Y %78 H A B R R A5 R 45 R3.32%
TR —F:3.09%)KF-BFEEZY
¥RRFEBETEABA

AT REREEREMEWRZ KRR
BRSO

2022 2021

—E-— T —%F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Year 1 E—F 189 201
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 0. FHEEE
Office
premises Warehouse Total
WAEYE B E #HzE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET
Depreciation e
Year ended 31 March 2022 BE-—T=——=%
=ZA=1+—HILEE 3,065 3,505 6,570
Year ended 31 March 2021 HeE—_ZT—-—F
—A=+—HLFE 3,694 3,297 6,991
Carrying amount IREE
As at 31 March 2022 HN-E—=
=A=+—8 5,426 8,493 13,919
As at 31 March 2021 R —%F
—A=+—H 2,463 10,441 12,904

The Group leases an office premises and a warehouse for its
daily operations. Lease term for office premises is 3.3 years
with no option to renew the lease. Lease term for warehouse
is 6 years, which contains an option for both lessor and
lessee to renew or terminate the lease after expiration of the
lease term with three months’ notice. The extension option
is normally exercised because there are significant leasehold
improvements while the termination option is normally not
exercised. The Group seldom exercises options that were
not included in the lease liabilities. During the year, the Group
exercised the extension option and recognised an addition of
approximately HK$1,539,000 in right-of-use assets. For other
addition of right-of-use assets, please refer to note 33(a) to the
consolidated financial statements.

Restrictions or covenants

Most of the leases impose a restriction that, unless approval
is obtained from the lessor, the right-of-use assets can only
be used by the Group and the Group is prohibited from selling
or pledging the underlying assets. In addition, the Group is
required to keep those properties in a good state of repair and
return the properties in their original condition at the end of the
lease.

AEEREAFLENERERAEYE
REE - WAEYEBEHAIIF  WHRTEE
MAEEEE aERBANE  HAEA KK
fﬁAﬁTLTﬁETﬁ T B E R R IR AT =18 A

BABMASREHELY - RIERR-RTE
T AR REREEMERE  ABGE
BEEE-RGITE - AREWREBITED
BEAHEABETHNEEE - RNAFE K
SETEEEBREENERNILEREE
EE41,539,000/8 7T - H b {5 FA#E & 2 38 N
Rz MRk M E33(a)

PR =% 22 5

REPD LSS BIFRE - B IEES AR
M BRI AREEEEAAERBER B
REBNE HE S IFAEEYEE - o
SEBESYER TNESRE THREE
ERB R ENFRARE -

—F —E-—FERE
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ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
%o £1 S 5 e A B i

Year ended 31 March 2022 #% —F— —4# = H=+—HIFF/&

20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued) 20. EAREE ()

21.

Residual value guarantees

The Group does not provide residual value guarantees for the

FREEER

AEETEARAENELEEHRESR

lease contracts of office premises and warehouse. REFIBREBEER
GOODWILL 21. BE
2022 2021
—E- 8 —E - —4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FET
Cost: RN
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021, RZZEZTFMNA—H-
1 April 2021 and —E-—%=ZA=+—8-
31 March 2022 —E-—FMA—-HK
—E-_%=HA=+—H 2,721 2,721
Accumulated impairment losses: 2R EEE:
At 1 April R A—H 2,721 854
Impairment loss recognised EHERBE - 1,867
At 31 March R=ZA=+—A~ 2,721 2,721
Carrying amount: BREE
At 31 March R=A=+—H - -

Goodwill arose because the consideration paid for the
acquisitions effectively included amount in relation to the
benefits originated from future market development and the
assembled workforce of the acquired business. These benefits
are not recognised separately from goodwill because they

do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible ey
assets. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be

deductible for income tax purposes.
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Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

21. GOODWILL (continuea) 21. ﬁ-‘]’%ii (#)
Goodwill acquired through business combination has been BEBAHEB EESBEIEES
allocated to Financial services business segment CGU and mﬂﬁ&i‘%%%’“ﬁﬁ%?i%h& B3
Design, fitting out and engineering services business segment RIRBRBEBOHRCELEM (5
CGU (see note 8 to the consolidated financial statements BERFIBEH RS M S MK FE8) - AEFE
for details of segment information). An analysis of goodwill REeEXEBEUR T -—FR_T -
attributable to the relevant CGUs as at 31 March 2021 and 2022 —A=t+—HELEEZSNET:
is as follows:
Design, fitting
out and
Financial engineering
services services
business business
segment CGU  segment CGU Total
et EBR
CRRBEER IRR%E
aBRE EBosBRE
EEEN ELEEQ HEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TR T
Gross amount FaRe] 854 1,867 2,721
Impairment loss recognised EREREE (854) (1,867) (2,721)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2021 R=ZE=—F=A=+—H}
and 31 March 2022 “E--F=ZA=1+—-HW
REE - - -
—F —E-—FERE



ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

22. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 22. B EE
Cross-
SFO boundary
licences vehicle licence Total
b
BHEER HHER Mgt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT FiHT
Cost: B
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021, RZZ-_ZTFMA—H"
1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 —E-—f=ZA=+—8"
T —FNA-BRK
—B--¥=ZH=+-H 18,738 1,876 20,614
Accumulated impairment losses: B3R EEE:
At 1 April 2020 R-ZZE-TEMA—H 5,055 410 5,465
Impairment loss recognised BERRE 8,641 Vi 8,682
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RZEZ—F=R=+—H
RZFT=Z—%MA—H 13,696 457 14,147
Impairment loss recognised BEHERRE 476 214 690
At 31 March 2022 R-B-=-f=A=+-—H 14,172 665 14,837
Carrying amount: HREE :
At 31 March 2022 R-ZE--#=H=+-—H 4,566 1,211 5,777
At 31 March 2021 RZZEZ—F=F=+—H 5,042 1,425 6,467
The intangible assets represent (i) the licences to carry on Type BREEBONESEEEMNENEEF R
1 (Dealing in securities), Type 4 (Advising on securities) and HEEM ([FEHFRBEGRAN])IE 14
Type 9 (Asset management) activities under the Securities and (BHEE) F4 (ABHFREHER)R
Futures Ordinance (“SFO") (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong FOH(BEER)FINER([EHLEH
Kong) (the “SFO Licences"”); and (i) the cross-boundary vehicle BB RRER | ) R (i) 7 B 8 AR o
licence.
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Year ended 31 March 2022

22.

HE—E-——F=FA=+—HIFFE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

SFO Licences

The SFO Licences represent intangible assets acquired as a
result of a business combination during the year ended 31
March 2018. The SFO Licences have been considered to have
indefinite useful lives because they are expected to contribute
to the net cash flows of the Group indefinitely, and are not
amortised. The carrying amount of the SFO Licences has been
included in the carrying amount of Financial services business
segment CGU for impairment assessment.

The Group has appointed an independent qualified professional
valuer, PVA, to perform an appraisal of the recoverable amount
of the SFO Licenses as at 31 March 2022. The recoverable
amount of Financial services business segment CGU have been
determined based on fair value less costs of disposal using the
market approach, which is higher than value in use.

The key assumptions used in estimating the fair value of
Financial services business segment CGU under the market
approach include the comparable transactions of companies
during the past 3.5 years, which the comparable companies
hold either, or a combination of, SFC Type 1, Type 4 or Type 9
licences. The valuation was categorised as Level 3 fair value
measurement.

The recoverable amount of Financial services business
segment CGU based on the fair value less costs of disposal was
approximately HK$4,566,000 (2021: HK$5,042,000). Accordingly,
having compared with the carrying amount of Financial services
business segment CGU (including the carrying amount of
goodwill as mentioned in note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements), impairment loss of approximately HK$14,172,000
(2021: HK$13,696,000) and HK$854,000 (2021: HK$854,000)
were provided on SFO Licences and goodwill associated with
Financial services business segment CGU as at 31 March 2022
respectively.

22.

,mﬁ/ﬁF (#)

75 RS R PR
EELMERIERRBE T \F=
ﬂ:+ BILFENEBA AU - E &
Er LB RERLBRE R FRE
ARBEHEERATBAKEFRS R
R SW#E - x5 M AE GO IR RE
BECAAZRRGEBOMRTELFEM
H R EEAETTRE R AR o

AEECZE-2BIAERERMEERM
BETEERAREFEZ LB EOIER
RIBZZ_HF=A=+—HBHAIKREELHE
EITRHE - SRRBEB DR ELFEM
B AT B 5 Y BRI M ISEPT S A
BERLEXRES EaiEREE:

MISETEESRRBEBZDBIAED
BARBREBEBEISFATNAENALER
X5 RALUBARREREGEAERERESF R
HIERPIEVR FARRFIORER - HE
WAOBRBE=ZRRAFEFE-

BAFERLEKRATEN SRR 3
BoRReELEEMNHITKE S HELY
4,566,000/ 7T ( =& = — £ : 5,042,000/
7o) B R ERRBEB S B 2EE
B (BERERE WM 21 il g 2
REE) EHemRBEBSBEESE
FEBEREFRAEGRIIEREEER -
T —F-ZA=t+—HARFERAEY
14,172,000 7T ( =ZZF = —4F : 13,696,000/
7T ) }2.854,0007% 7T ( =& = — £ : 854,000
BT °
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #% —F— —4# = H=+—HIFF/&

22. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 22. BEE (#)

The cross-boundary vehicle licence

The cross-boundary vehicle licence was estimated as having
indefinite useful life and is measured using the cost model. The
cross-boundary vehicle licence has been considered to have
indefinite useful life because it is expected to contribute to the
net cash flows of the Group indefinitely, and is not amortised.

The Group has appointed an independent qualified professional
valuer, PVA, to perform an appraisal of the recoverable amount
of the cross-boundary vehicle licence as at 31 March 2022. The
recoverable amount of the cross-boundary vehicle licence has
been determined on the basis of value in use calculation. The
value in use calculation uses cash flow projections covering
a period of five years based on financial budgets approved
by management by applying the average growth rate of 2.0%
(2021: 2.4%) in market rental, the long-term average growth
rate of 2.0% (2021: 2.4%) in market rental and a discount rate
of 13.66% (2021: 12.84%). Cash inflows/outflows have been
determined based on management's expectations for the
market development.

The recoverable amount of the cross-boundary vehicle
licence based on value in use calculation was approximately
HK$1,211,000 (2021: HK$1,425,000). Accordingly, having
compared with the carrying amount of the cross-boundary
licence, impairment loss of approximately HK$665,000 (2021:
HK$451,000) has been provided on the cross-boundary vehicle
licence as at 31 March 2022.

Annual Report 2021/2022.
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Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

23. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

24,

3. BRRERKAE

2022 2021

e —E - —F

Note HK$'000 HK$'000

hFEa FHET FET

Gross amounts ke 6,270 6,000
Less: Allowance for ECL B BRI E B E R RE 6(b) (819) (442)
5,451 5,558

The Group's loan and interest receivables, which arise from the
money lending business in Hong Kong, are denominated in HK$.
Loan receivables are unsecured, interest-bearing at a rate of 9%
(2021: 9%) per annum and matured as at 31 March 2022. The
maximum exposure to credit risk at each of the reporting dates
is the carrying amount of the receivables mentioned above.

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks and loss
allowance for loan and interest receivables is included in note
6(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

AEERKREREFEREBREBIREE
BEMES  WABTEE - BIRE R A EE
FFRRE% (T =—F:9%) W=
T A=+ BIEH NSRS B
AN AEERR - A Pl Rk
THHERTEE °

BEAAREE AR (EERRARERER
A SEMEEBRENGE M RERHM
to(b)

INVENTORIES 4. 7€
2022 2021
—E-F T —%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBT FHET
Fine and rare wines held for sale, at cost — #{EH &8 - AR A% 8R 507 565
Construction materials, at cost YR AT BR 580 574
1,087 1,139

ZE - —E - —FERE

P
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Year ended 31 March 2022 F=A=+—HIFFZF

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

25. EZRHEMEBYWRE

2022 2021
—E- —EFE - —F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
BT FET FHT
Trade receivables g B EWRE
From third parties wE=
- Sales and service income — 3 E KRS WA ERRIR
receivables and lease KA & WA B BGRIE
income receivables 19,733 15,592
Less: Loss allowance W IR 6(b) (4,812) 2,712
14,921 12,880
Other receivables H bR k8
Deposits, prepayments and e FENRIER
advances to suppliers [1) £ JE 7 A R 1,870 3,241
Others Hh 468 537
2,338 3,778
Total trade and other receivables B hEMEWEARE 17,259 16,658

The Group allows an average credit period ranging from 30
to 60 days (2021: 30 to 40 days) to its trade customers. The
following is an aged analysis of trade receivables net of loss
allowance based on the invoice date as at the end of the

AEEMEESEFREH”ARZ0Z60H (=
T —F:30260B)NNEZEHEER-
INTARBEHRIZREAHZICES
EWHIBE MM E SRR BBERE Y

reporting period. BRER AT
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Within 90 days 90H 7,967 10,559
91 to 180 days 91H £180H MK 2,403 885
181 days to 270 days 1818 £270H LA 2,017 855
271 days to 365 days 271HE365H AR 1,782 320
More than 365 days 365H A E 752 261
14,921 12,880

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks and loss
allowance for trade and other receivables is included in note
6(b) to the consolidated financial statements.
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Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables are
denominated in the following currencies:

25. ESREMEWRRIE &)
AT EMEHENE 5 K& H i fE Y KB HBE
EEWT:

2022 2021

—E-F —E-—%F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FET

HKS BT 16,984 15,910
RMB AR 274 717
SGD N T 1 31
17,259 16,658

26. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES
26(a) Contract assets

26. SRNEENRERE

26(a) BHEE

2022 2021
—E-F T —%F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
s FET FET
Unbilled revenue in respect of  1RM R HERIRER
provision of design, fitting B ERBEERRS
out and engineering and HARFAAEZEREWE
procurement of furnishings
and related products services 3,971 2,600
Less: Loss allowance B EE RS 6(b) (40) (26)
3,931 2,574

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's rights
to consideration for work completed but not yet billed at
the end of the reporting period. The contract assets are
transferred to trade receivables when the rights become
unconditional.

BREEIEANAKEZENERE
HIRE e B R AR E T2 K(E
HRER - BHNEBEER A BENKRE
IR A 5 UG -

ZE - —E - —FERE

rd S
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Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

26. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT EHNEEREE (&)

LIABILITIES (continued)

26(a) Contract assets (Continued) 26(a) EHNEE (£)
Retention receivables are included in contract assets Bl RESBREEEHNEETERR
until the end of the retention period as the Group's B R - H RN B RN R
entitement to the final payment is conditional on the FEARASENTERS SR
Group's work satisfactorily passing inspection. wiga -
There is an increase in the ongoing contracts at the end REERFES RN SRS ARG M 4
of the reporting period, thereby increasing the amount Mg MER KRS EE -

arising from the recognition of revenue.

As at 31 March 2022, no contract assets (2021: RZEZ—_F=A=+—H0 ¥EH
HK$375,000) are expected to be recovered after more BARERET BRERIERB L EHNE
than 12 months for design, fitting out and engineering EERBR12EARKE (ZF=—
services. £ : 375,000 7T ) °

The movements (excluding those arising from increases FA - BEBYHREERE155%E
and decreases both occurred within the same year) of TEREAHNZANEEZS (TR
contract assets from contracts with customers within RE—FEBEEZIER)WNT

HKFRS 15 during the year are as follows:

2022 2021

—E-— —E-—%F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

At 1 April A A—H 2,574 457

Transferred to trade receivables EREE SRR (2,225) (293)

Loss allowance EEEE (14) (26)

Recognised as revenue RAEME 3,596 2,436

At 31 March R=A=+—H 3,931 2,574

For the year ended 31 March 2022, an impairment loss BHE-_ZT-_—_F=A=+—HILF

of HK$14,000 (2021: HK$26,000) is recognised for the B HEREHNEEREEE 414,000
contract assets. BT (ZZT=—%F:26,00087T) °

Information about the Group's exposure to credit risks EAREEMEAZEERBARELD

and loss allowance for contract assets is included in note é‘?i‘ﬁﬁﬂfn EEBHNGATBRE

6(b) to the consolidated financial statements. FfzE6(0)
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #% —F— —4#=H=+—HIFF/&

26. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 26 EWNEERERE (#)
LIABILITIES (continued)
26(b)Contract liabilities 26(h) &N EE
2022 2021
—E-= T4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHT
Provision of design, fitting out and RERF BERIRER
engineering and procurement of REEREREEERRS
furnishings and related products
services 229 109

The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advance
consideration received from customers, for which
revenue is recognised based on the progress of the
provision of related services.

The movements (excluding those arising from increases
and decreases both occurred within the same year) of
the contract liabilities from contracts with customers
within HKFRS 15 during the year are as follows:

AMARISRERESHRERR
AR RIS IR ISR R BRTS
B [ R o

E BEBHBREERN FI155E
TEFANZANARED (TafR
RE—E R B 2 B 10T

2022 2021

—E-= T —%F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FEx FHT

At 1 April RImA—AH 109 601
Recognised as revenue TR AU (109) 601
Receipt of advances U B 3R 229 109
At 31 March R=ZA=+—8H 229 109

At the end of reporting period, contracts in more contract
sum require prepayments from the customers, thereby
increasing the amount arising from receipt of advances.

At 31 March 2022, no contract liabilities are expected to
be settled after more than 12 months (2021: Nil).

REBESFR ARLBRANARE
BRSO HUA - 48 T8 A0 e MR

BRAEANESRE-
R-EBE-_—_F=A=+—H HESL

YEEEHBEBIREAREE (=T
——F )

SE G —FEEE
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #% —F— —4# = H=+—HIFF/&

26. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 26 EWNEERERE (#)

LIABILITIES (continued)

26(b)Contract liabilities (Continued) 26(h) EHBEE (&)
The Group has applied practical expedient in paragraph REBECHKAREBYBHmELERES
121 of HKFRS 15 to exempt the disclosure of revenue FRI2IBRFERNEE 2T AR
expected to be recognised in the future arising from REBHBERARITEBEE4H
contracts with customers in existence at the reporting — 3 (RRFEHE LR A —F N
date to its fitting out and engineering services income, T) MBI RERREHEREFR
design and procurement of furnishings and related PRI A HRERET RIERTRERE
product services income and sale of fine and rare wines WA HERERBELERBWA -
as the performance obligation is part of a contract that EEHEEWARNBELMEIN -

has an original expected duration of one year or less.

27. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 27. B RiBITHEE
Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and RITEBRAE S BERAASEREGCHS
short-term bank deposits with maturity within three months M a AT =88 AEH 2 M HARI T 5K ©
from inception. Bank balances carried interest at market rates RITEB IR BE S _ZF=A=1+—
ranging from 0.04% to 0.92% (2021: 0.02% t0 0.4%) per annum BIEFERZMESEFHNENR0.04%E
during the year ended 31 March 2022. The carrying amounts 0.92% (ZF = —F:0.02%%0.4% ) 5T 2. °
of bank balances and cash are denominated in the following IRITHEMR RIS ZIREAEN T EESIE
currencies:

2022 2021
—E-— —E-—%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHT
HKS$ BT 6,078 16,582
RMB AR 30 78
uss$ =TT 69 68
SGD N T 13 -
6,190 16,728
The conversion of RMB-denominated balances into foreign A Rk g W R B GNEE D 35 1t S SNES SR
currencies and the remittance of such foreign currencies TR ERESERPE B8R RN

denominated bank balances and cash out of the PRC are HINEE B Il A 4 2 AR B AR Rl R -

subject to relevant rules and regulations of the foreign
exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.
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Year ended 31 March 2022

R —E = A= —HIFFE

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

28. EZRHEMEBENRE

2022 2021
—E-= —E_—4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Trade payables B S RNRE 5,387 6,469
Other payables H b pESRE
Deposits received Blkize 545 368
Professional fees payable in respect of FRARRKR BEXHREREE 2
rights issue, disclosable transaction ENEXERRIE
and major acquisition 623 697
Staff cost payable FEA B TR 2,165 1,010
Accrued expenses and other payables FERTH 2 e HoAth FE < 5B 4,209 3,035
7,542 5,110
Total trade and other payables B 5 M EMERN IR 12,929 11,579

The following is an aging analysis of trade payables based on
the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

UTRRBERRREZAL BHERAN
A2 BRER AT

2022 2021

—E-— —E-—%F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHERT FHET

Within 30 days 30HA 3,473 6,143
More than 30 days but within 90 days 308 EI90H A 358 -
Over 90 days @0 H 1,556 326
5,387 6,469

The average credit period for purchases of goods is 90 days
(2021: 90 days). The Group has financial risk management
policies in place to ensure that all payables are settled within
the credit timeframe. The carrying amounts of trade and other
payables are denominated in the following currencies:

BAERZFHEEMROA (ZF=—
F:90H) AKEETZEHAREER
RBERAARNFBSREEHRRAS
& AT ERFHENE 5 R EMENHIEN
FREEDT

2022 2021
eS8 —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FHT

HK$ BT 12,772 10,773
RMB AR 157 779
SGD s T - 27
12,929 11,579

SE G —FEEE
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Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

29. LEASE LIABILITIES 29. HEAE

2022 2021
e T —%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current portion B AL 6,643 5,872
Non-current portion SEmBNER D 8,717 7,695
15,360 13,567

An analysis of the Group's cash outflow for lease is as follows: AEERHERSRE DT
2022 2021
e T —%F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
P =E FET FET

Lease payments: HENH:

Short-term leases EHEE 210 186
Expenses recognised in profit or loss £ 18 % fERH I X 210 186
Lease payments: HERN:

Interest on lease liabilities HEAENE 527 857

Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEaE 5,869 6,826

33(b) 6,396 7,683
Total cash outflow for leases HERB RN 6,606 7,869

Annual Report 2021/2022,
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Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

30. DEFERRED TAXATION 30. IEALEBIE
The movements in deferred tax (assets) liabilities during the RIERIE (BE) BERFANEHNT -

years are as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2021 —E-F=A=t+—-RHIEE
Deferred tax
assets Deferred tax liabilities

ELEREEE ELHESE
Fair value
Accelerated  adjustment
Tax tax on intangible
losses depreciation assets Total
BREE
BHEEE MEBBRE DNEEAR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET FHET
At 1 April 2020 RZE-TFWA—H - 297 2,257 2,554
(Credited) Charged to profit or loss (5t A) kB z (3,332 3,264 (1,425) (1,493)
(3,332 3,561 832 1,061
Offsetting H3H 3,332 (3,332 - -
At 31 March 2021 RZE-—F=ZF=1+—H - 229 832 1,061
Year ended 31 March 2022 —E_—F=ZA=1+—HLEE

Deferred tax
assets Deferred tax liabilities

ELEREEE EERELE

Fair value

Accelerated  adjustment

Tax tax on intangible
losses depreciation assets Total

BREE
REFE MERWNE DR EFAE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHET FET FET
At 1 April 2021 RZEZ—FMHA—H (3,332 3,561 832 1,061
Charged (Credited) to profit or loss #1B (5t A ) 1828 803 (593) (78) 132
(2,529) 2,968 754 1,193
Offsetting B 2,529 (2,529) - -
At 31 March 2022 R-E-_—_§=A=+—H = 439 754 1,193
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Year ended 31 March 2022

R E = A= —HIFFE

30. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the

following items:

30. IERERIE (&)

NEIIEE I ERERE A IR EE

2022 2021

—E-— —E-—%F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHT

Deductible temporary differences A0 By = 5 2,798 4,158
Tax losses TIEEE 128,788 114,495
At end of the reporting period REEHR 131,586 118,653

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams. No deductible
temporary differences expire under current tax legislation. The
expiry dates for unrecognised tax losses are as follows:

F TP R 2R g ) B DA TROR) - 3F S ph R ) A AR
EEBNAIRE R ZERREENIEE
B RIBRITNEEP IR ER ZRTE
B RERVABE B HAWT

2022 2021

e T —%F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHERT FHT

Tax losses without expiration REERFR TE B 18 124,605 111,197
Tax losses expiring in: FHIBE B2 -

- 2022 ——T - - 370

-2023 ——F-_=F 928 890

- 2024 ——ZE_NF 833 800

- 2025 ——ET-FF 973 933

- 2026 ——ERF 883 305

- 2027 ——ZT_+F 566 =

At the end of the reporting period RERE R 128,788 114,495

Annual Report 2021/2022.
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Year ended 31 March 2022

R —E = A= —HIFFE

30. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

Pursuant to the PRC tax law, a 10% withholding tax is levied
on dividends distributed to foreign investors by the foreign
investment enterprises established in the PRC. The requirement
is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings
accumulated after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax
rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between the PRC and
the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. As at 31 March 2022
and 2021, no deferred tax has been recognised for withholding
taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of
the Groups’ subsidiaries established in the PRC as there is no
retained earning recorded by those subsidiaries.

30. IERERIE (&)

RIER BB FEBEE  RABIR 2 NS
WEGEMIINFEREED R 2K S BIE
0% R EKFBIF - ZREB =TT NF
—A—HBEAERWEARZ-ZTLF+=
A=+—RB1%& 2R 275 4+ BB g%
BEMEREERDERIBEHE - BT
AREZEINME - RZT__FR=F
——F=ZA=+—H #BERERERETEH
PR AL 7 BB R B 2 AR TE AT 2 JE A 78 40
HAERELETIE AR ZEM B AR &R
BIRBEAF -

31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. K&
Number of shares Share capital
BRAEE &
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E--f —ET-—F CZEZZH —T-_—%
‘000 ‘000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TER FET
Issued and fully paid BITUHE

At 1 April REA—H 156,780 522,600 205,523 175,595
Share consolidation (note a) Bt pf (FdsEa) - (470,340) - -

Issue of new shares upon rights issue, 1% 15 i B& 3 17 # A% -
net of transaction costs (note a) HBRSHA (FiEa) - 104,520 - 29,928
At 31 March W=A=+—H 156,780 156,780 205,523 205,523

Note (a) On 28 August 2020, the Company proposed () to implement a share i@ R-ZTZTFNAZT+N\B KXRREH
consolidation (the “Share Consolidation”) on the basis that every NETRDE M (TRHEH])  EERKE
ten issued existing shares of the Company be consolidated into ARABTREFTHEARMDBEH AR
one consolidated share (the “Consolidated Share”) and (i) to raise BOHRMG ([E 0G5 ]) R(i)BBIRAEE
approximately HK$31.4 million before expenses by way of a rights (TRR]) B AR AR AR 17 0.30/ TR & B 1%
issue (the "Rights Issue”) of 104,520,000 rights shares (the “Rights % 32 817104,520,0008 (£ A& A& 15 ([ A% A%
Shares”) at a subscription price of HK$0.30 per Rights Share on the 1) - FELAEBEFT1S FRIE 4 584931,400,000
basis of two Rights Shares for every one Consolidated Share held by BT (MBRFAAT)  EERRTHEBHE
the qualifying shareholders on the record date. FE —RE IR O BB MRERRG -
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Year ended 31 March 2022

31.

32.

R E = A= —HIFFE

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Note (@) On 28 August 2020, the Company further entered into a placing
agreement, pursuant to which, the placing agent conditionally
agreed to procure placee(s) (the “Rights Issue Placing”) to subscribe
for the unsubscribed Rights Shares and the non-qualifying
shareholders unsold Rights Shares at a placing price of not less than
the subscription price of HK$0.30 per Rights Share. The closing price
per share of the Company on that date was HK$0.04 (equivalent to
HK$0.40 per Consolidated Share).

On 18 November 2020, the Company completed the Share
Consolidation by reduction of 470,340,000 issued existing shares of
the Company.

On 29 December 2020, the Company completed the Rights Issue
and the Rights Issue Placing and 104,520,000 Rights Shares were
allotted and issued. The net proceeds of the Rights Issue and the
Rights Issue Placing of approximately HK$29.9 million was intended
to be used for purchase of construction equipment and for the
Group's operating, administrative and general expenses.

Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 28 August
2020, 3 September 2020, 22 October 2020, 16 November 2020,
17 November 2020, 18 December 2020 and 28 December 2020,
circular dated 24 October 2020 and listing document dated 30
November 2020 for details.

All the ordinary shares issued during the year ended 31 March 2021 rank pari
passu with the then existing shares in all respects.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme enables the Company to grant options
to any participant (the “Eligible Participant”) as incentives or
rewards for their contributions to the Group. The Company
conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 30 June 2014 whereby the Board are
authorised, at their absolute discretion and subject to the terms
of the Share Option Scheme, to grant options to subscribe
for the shares of the Company to the Eligible Participant, The
Share Option Scheme will be valid and effective for a period of
ten years commencing from the date of adoption of the Share
Option Scheme.

As at 31 March 2022, the total number of shares (the “Shares”)
of the Company available for issue under the Scheme is
3,000,000 Shares (as adjusted for the Share Consolidation on
18 November 2020), representing 10% of the issued Shares (the
“Scheme Mandate Limit") of the aggregate number of Shares in
issue immediately upon completion of the listing of the Shares
on 18 July 2014 (as adjusted for the Share Consolidation on 18
November 2020) and representing 1.91% of the issued Shares
as at 31 March 2022.
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Year ended 31 March 2022

32.

33.

R —E = A= —HIFFE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Upon acceptance of an option to subscribe for shares granted
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme (the “Option”), the
Eligible Participant shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way
of consideration for the grant. The Option will be offered for
acceptance for a period of 21 days from the date on which the
Option is granted. The subscription price for the Shares subject
to Options will be a price determined by the Board and notified
to each participant and shall be the highest of: (i) the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant of the Options, which
must be a day on which trading of Shares take place on the
Stock Exchange (the “Trading Day"); and (ii) the average closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the 5 Trading Days immediately preceding
the date of grant of the Options.

The Company shall be entitled to issue options, provided that
the total number of Shares which may issue upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
does not exceed the Scheme Mandate Limit. The Company
may at any time refresh such limit, subject to the shareholders’
approval and the issue of a circular in compliance with the GEM
Listing Rules, provided that the total number of shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under all the share option schemes of
the Company does not exceed 30% of the Shares in issued at
the time. An option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the Scheme at any time during a period as the Board
may determine which shall not exceed ten years from the date
of grant subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme, no share
option has been granted by the Company.

OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

33(a) Major non-cash transactions
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group
acquired assets by means of lease arrangements
in respect of assets with a total capital value at the
inception of the leases of approximately HK$6,028,000.

32.

33.

BRESE (2)
RERRIBZAB AR O RERD 2B
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B - B 2 M RR D BREE Bst
1B B - BREZ RN REERRESS
EE YANER2EE BRTEERTS
FHEZERE  (WROBEREE R (KA
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Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

33. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION 33. HwBERER (&2)
(Continued)
33(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing 33b) METE2EEEE
activities
Details of the changes in the Group's liabilities from ArEERE TS BEZHFAN
financing activities are as follows: K
2021 —E-—F
Unsecured
Lease other
liabilities borrowings Total
K 4R
HEaE Hib g & HEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FAT
At 1 April 2020 RZZE-ZTFMA—H 20,393 - 20,393
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHERE (6,826) - (6,826)
Additions of unsecured other FrigmE R e E
borrowings - 18,000 18,000
Repayment of unsecured other (B BB EMIEE
borrowings - (18,000) (18,000)
Interest paid [EENFYESN (857) (271 (1,128)
Net cash flows REmFE (7,683) 271 (7,954)
Interest expenses F BT H 857 271 1,128
At 31 March 2021 R-ZE-_—-H=H=+—H 13,567 = 13,567
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Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

33. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION 33. EttBeRER (&)
(Continued)
33(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing 33b) METE2ABEEEH (&)
activities (continued)
2022 —EgE=-=
Lease
liabilities
HESE
HK$'000
FER
At 1 April 2021 RZZE-_—FMWA—H 13,567
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEAE (5,869)
Interest paid B2 F &8 (527)
Net cash flows RemFeE (6,396)
Interest expenses MEZ 622
Additions Hrig 7,567
8,189
At 31 March 2022 R-B-=—#=A=+-A 15,360
34. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS 34. ERERIFTE
Defined contribution plans EEMREE
The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the REBRAMEBTHAGEAREERE —1HA
"MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. FlEABEEEE ([RERFTE]) - %8
The assets of the schemes are held separately from those BERNAEBEESART RERZFTA
of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The only THMEEF AEERABE SN
obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is —ERARERBESFEELMEH/R
to make the required contribution under the MPF Scheme. AEBIRBAFHEKRARN Z5%MRIEE T E
The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs, capped #®3% - &=SA1,5008T BB KBRS E
at HK$1,500 per month, to the MPF Scheme, in which the E AR FE 5K o
contribution is matched by employees.
Subsidiaries operating in the PRC are required to participate EFEEBEZHBARELEAE@EMH

in contribution retirement schemes organised by the relevant BT &R 2 REHRFEREE -
local government authorities.
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Year ended 31 March 2022

R E = A= —HIFFE

34. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (continued)

35.

Defined contribution plans (Continuead)

The total cost charged to profit or loss of approximately
HK$331,000 (2021: HK$283,000) represents contributions
payable to these schemes by the Group in respect of the
current reporting period.

The Group does not forfeit any contributions on behalf of
its employees who leave the scheme prior to full vesting.
Accordingly, for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021,
there was no forfeited contribution available for the Group to
reduce the existing level of contributions and at the end of the
reporting period, there were no forfeited contributions available
to reduce future obligations.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group
entered into the following transactions with related parties
during the year:

(@) Transactions with related parties

Related party

34. BKBRIFE (2)

35.

ERMNREE (&)

T B A 4331,0008 T (ZF = — 4
283,000/ T ) #) 48 A 7S 52 7N S5 [ 7 AT 3R
CERLE R E LN E /S

IR BN A R W A] A 70 JE 2 T 55 8B AT AD
R ZETEIME S FTEL M H R - AL -
BHE - K" T —F=A=+—
ALIEFE  WEERE LRERAIHAEE
R R IS A BOK T o MARE B - Wi
FRERMERATHER L A ENE -

BELRS
BRRGAMBRR L MBEREL X ST
BRSNS B Y BRI HEAT T
TR

(@) REBH2ZRZ

relationship Nature of transaction 2022 2021
BEH S 2 BER REME —EB-—F T -F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHT
Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Rental expenses in relation 650 -
Limited (“ChaoShang”), a to the office premises (note)
substantial shareholder BEAMAEYMEZHETH (H5E)
of the Company
BERARNEEBR AT
(M#ml) - RAEAREZ
FERRE
Related companies controlled Fitting out service income - (869)
by ChaoShang A RIS
B P 12 1 2 B B A A
Commission income (17) (42)
e A
Agent fee in relation - 239

to the Rights Issue
AR ZREER
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continuead)
(@) Transactions with related parties (Continueq)

35. BERRZ (&)

BHEBL XS (&)

Note:  On 22 November 2021, the Company entered into a sub- Ma: R=ZT=—F+—A=+=8 %2
deed of lease with ChaoShang in respect of the sub-leasing AIEEER B AN EES R
arrangement of the office premises for a term commencing SHERE HBAR-_T—_—F+=A
from 1 December 2021 to 31 March 2025. The monthly rental —BE=ZZE-AF=R=+—8"
fee is approximately HK$162,000, details of which are set out AMEH H162,0008 T S BEHR K
in the Company's announcement dated 22 November 2021. ARBMAZE_—F+—-A=+=

Bz R
As at 31 March 2022, rental deposit of approximately RZTFZ—F=RA=+—H %M
HK$487,000 (included in trade and other receivables) was ZHEM R A & R @ £487,000%8
paid to ChaoShang in respect of the sub-leasing arrangement TL(BERE 5 & E b EUGRIEA) R
and related lease liabilities amounted to approximately TR TH & B &4 A5,938,00078 7T &
HK$5,938,000. During the year ended 31 March 2022, the EZT-__F=A=+—HIEFE"
Group has made lease payment of approximately HK$162,000 ANEE AE R 49162,00078 LA
to ChaoShang. BREE

(b) Compensation of key management FEEHEAENMS

personnel
The remuneration of key management personnel of the

BEFEANFEEEETBASNME

Group during the year was as follows: N
2022 2021
sz —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBT FET
Salaries, allowances and other benefits ¥4 - 85 & H g F 5,946 5,926

Contributions to defined contribution — F2EE FET 214 %

plans 132 144
6,078 6,070

The remuneration of directors of the Company and key
executives is determined by the remuneration committee

ARREERTEITHAEME T H
HMEZ B E2EEARALTSEE

having regard to the performance of individuals and BT BXMeHNRE B mEN
market trends. The remuneration of directors is set out in E14 -
note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #% —F— —4# = H=+—HIFF/&

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

36. DEIMBMRIREK

THE COMPANY

2022 2021
—EC-C—E —E -4
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
=g FET FH T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M R R 4 8
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 5,426 2,463
Investments in subsidiaries KRB AR ZHE = -
5,430 2,471
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables Hith fE W 3R IB 607 1,074
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE UG B BB A R 3 TE 36(a) 78,130 97,266
Cash and bank balances R RIRTTHER 436 905
79,173 99,245
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables H b FE A FRIE 4,077 2,833
Lease liabilities HEaE 2,221 2,598
Amount due to a subsidiary FEAST BT BB A R FIE 36(a) 2,380 3,152
8,678 8,583
Net current assets BERBEE 70,495 90,662
Total assets less current HEERARBAERE
liabilities 75,925 93,133
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HE&E 3,717 -
NET ASSETS BEEFRE 72,208 93,133
Capital and reserves Ex
Share capital A& A 31 205,523 205,523
Reserves f#EfE 36(b) (133,315) (112,390)
TOTAL EQUITY AR 72,208 93,133

The statement of financial position was approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 24 June 2022
and signed on its behalf by

Chan Chi Yuen
Director
EE
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 36. REIMBARR &K (4)
THE COMPANY (continued)

36(a) Amounts due from/to subsidiaries 36(a) FEUR,FE{T BB A B RKIE
The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and ZREAERE RERIKRERE
repayable on demand. & e
36(b)Reserves of the Company 36(b) A B
Accumulated Other
losses reserve Total
2t EE Hitf#%E ey
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
At 1 April 2020 RZE-TFMA—H (106,540) 21,063 (85,477)
Loss and total comprehensive loss A FE B2 EEE
for the year (26,913) - (26,913)

At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RZZ=——F=ZA=+—H

N—E-—FMA—H (133,453) 21,063 (112,390)
Loss and total comprehensive loss  AFEEEMZEEE
for the year (20,925) - (20,925)
At 31 March 2022 R-ZB-_Zf#=A=+—H (154,378) 21,063 (133,315)
Note: Other reserve represents the difference between the nominal fisE: HibREEiE TRER  BWENE
value of the shares issued for acquisition of a subsidiary and AR EAT AR 89 3R T B B R P
the consolidated net asset value of that subsidiary and its ARIREMBARNEHEEFER
subsidiaries at the date of acquisition. H)ZERE o
37. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 37. EAREE
The Group had the following capital commitments as at the end AEBRBEIHRE AT EARESE:
of the reporting period:
2022 2021
—E-= —ETE-—4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Contracted but not provided for. EATRERERBAE
— Acquisition of construction equipment ~ — BB E R E = 499
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Year ended 31 March 2022 #% —F— —4# = H=+—HIFF/&

38. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 38. XEME A A
Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries as at 31 March ARRZEEWNBRRAN-ZE-__FR=
2022 and 2021 are as follows: T —F=—A=T—HFBUOT:
Place/
Country of Paid up
incorporation  Class of issued/ Proportion of ownership and
o registration/  shares registered voting power interest held
Name of subsidiary operations held capital by the Company Principal activities
RLHFER/ BUUHR
i PEES Ben%/ /AR FERGEN  RE/EMER ERAARENAEERREELA 1ZE8
Directly Indirectly
E# 3

2022 201 2022 Al
—§--E -“T--F -ZE-CE -E--%
% % % %

BAlt BAL Btk BAK

China Sourcing & Creative The BVI Ordinary US$ 1 100 100 - - Investment holding

Construction Limited

REMEIERRNERAT  KERAHE  £8 E3 RARR

Kate China Property Consultants ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100 100 Property investment

Limited

HEERNFBRARLA &k 3 % S

Huarong Financial Holdings Limited  The BVI Ordinary Uss100 100 100 - - Investment holding

ZHeEERERAT AERAEE LR = RARR

Markway Finance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 - - 100 100 Mongy lencing

EREBERRA &k A 100% T e

Wealthy Pool International Holdings - The BVI Ordinary US$50,000 100 100 - - Investment holding

Limited

REBBBRARLA RERGEE iR 50,0005 7T REZR

Huge Wealth International Trading ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 - - 100 100 Business not yet commenced

Limited

FEAREAERAT Bk g 10,000% 7 ARAEH

Oenoluxe Wines Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - = 100 100 Sourcing and merchandising of

fine and rare wines

REEERAT &k TR %7 BiExE

World Huge International The BVI Ordinary Us§100 100 100 - - Investment holding

Investment Limited

tEERRAERAE RERGEE B 100X RERR

0C Consultants Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$15,800,000 - - 100 100 Provision of securities dealing,
(2021: securities advisory and asset

HK$14,500,000) management services
0C Consultants Limited B g 15,800,007 REFFFARRHER R
D021 145000005 7D) BEEERE

Royal Century Investment Group ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100 100 - - Investment holding

Limited

CEREEEERAR &k oy T RARR
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Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

38. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 38. FEWBATR (#)
Place/
Country of Paid up
incorporation  Class of issued/ Proportion of ownership and
o registration/  shares registered voting power interest held
Name of subsidiary operations held capital by the Company Principal activities
RIHER/ BTUAR
WEARZR TEnd /A% FEROEN  RE/ERER ARREENFARRREELA 1Y
Directly Indirectly
B B

2022 20 2022 2021
“B-CE -F--FE ZBICE -E--F
% % % %

Aol BAl Al Bntt

Royal Century Development Limited - Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100 100 Provision of interior design,
fitting out and procurement
0f furnishings and related

produicts services

CRARERAT &k g % i uimw £l
RRBZERABERRS

Royal Century Engineering Limited - Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100 100 Provision of interior design,
fitting out and procurement
of furnishings and related
products services

CEIRERAR &k £ % REERH 6
RRBZRERABERRY

Royal Century Construction Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100 100 Leasing of construction

Equipment Limited equipment and provision of
related installation services

CERERRERLR &k £ % BERGHERRAAT
Tzi% R

Vai Tak Building Works Company ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$8,000,000 = = 100 100 Provision of waterproofing works

Limited and maintenance services
EEMERAA &k 3] 8,000,007 7T RERKIEREERS
Vai Tak Engingering Works Company - Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - = 100 100 Provision of fitting o,
Limited engineering, repair and
maintenance services
EEMIRERAA Bk R [ %G T BERRERS
Royal Century (Shen Znen) The PRC Paid-up Registered - - 100 100 Provision of interior design and
Design Firm Company capital capital: fitting out services
Limited* (Note) RMB 300,000,000/
Paid up issued
capital
RMB3,064,756
(2021: RMB2,900,930)
R R SHAERAA  hE HRERAR AR REZNRE REERE
(Hf3t) ARE
300,000,0007c/
BARER:
ARH3,064, 75670
(2021: AR
29009307z
*  For identification purpose only. * B %
Note: The subsidiary is registered in the PRC as a wholly foreign-owned BT : 2z MO8 R B LASINES B & 1 30 P B s il X
enterprise. 3 e
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Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z —ZF - —#F=HA=+—HIFFZ

38. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 38. FEME LT (&)
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in BERA ERFVNARFNBRAREE
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for WEAFEXEINBENAEBEEFEZ
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the FEBH EFRAINEEMMBAR 25
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion B2 ERBMABRITK

of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

All of the above subsidiaries are limited liability companies. FrB LB E ABRAT - WEMB A
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities during RIRNFREITEMAERESES -
the year.
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DETAILS OF PROPERTIES HELD
AR

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

REWE

Property Lot no./location Category of lease Use

L/ES HER i B HAER Az
Workshop A, 5/F, 1/37th equal and undivided parts or Medium Term Industrial/Commercial
Tontex Industrial Building, shares of and in New Kowloon Inland

2-4 Shenug Hei Street, Lot nos. 4449, 4450 and 4726

San Po Kong,

Kowloon, Hong Kong

BAENEFEmE L BE A ER 4449 - 4450 K.  HA I /A%
SEEH2-AFREIEANE 472655 2 3710 2 VD HEE R

SHEABE L )
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ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

S 5 B2

For the year ended 31 March
BZE=A=t-HLEE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—E_Cf T ZZ2-FTF —T-nF ZT-)\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHER FAT FAT FHET FAT
Revenue Wi 57,660 66,807 42,755 28,150 33,097
Loss before tax BREIATEE (20,936) (20,852) (28,949) (19,939) (27,989)
Loss for the year FEEE (21,068) (19,427) (28,114) (20,074) (28,093)
Total comprehensive loss FEBEZAEER
for the year (21,074) (19,437) (28,128) (20,165) (27,804)
As at 31 March
R=B=+—-8H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—E_-f T ZZ2-FTF —ET-nF ZT-)\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAT FAT FET FAT
Assets and Liabilities BEERER
Total assets BEE 102,214 119,893 114,270 116,088 124,165
Total liabilities BAaE (29,804) (26,409) (31,277) (11,675) (13,381)
Total equity A 72,410 93,484 82,993 104,413 110,784
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